UC Berkeley

Recent Work

Title

Technology and the COVID-19 Era: How Artificial Intelligence Shapes Futures of Othering & amp; Belonging in an Era of Pandemic and Protest

Permalink https://escholarship.org/uc/item/75b6z29c

Authors

Montojo, Nicole Cotton, Nicole-Marie Almedom, Emnet

Publication Date

2021-08-31

TECH



Technology and the COVID-19 Era

How Artificial Intelligence Shapes Futures of Othering & Belonging in an Era of Pandemic and Protest

Nicole Montojo, Nicole-Marie Cotton, and Emnet Almedom

The Othering & Belonging Institute at UC Berkeley, formerly the Haas Institute for a Fair and Inclusive Society, is a vibrant hub of researchers, community leaders, policymakers, artists, and communicators that advances research, policy, and work related to marginalized communities. It engages in innovative narrative, communications, and cultural strategies that attempt to re-frame the public discourse around marginality and inclusion and respond to issues that require immediate and long-term action.

Authors Nicole Montojo Nicole-Marie Cotton Emnet Almedom

Project Managers Olivia E. Araiza Program Director

Gerald Lenoir Identity and Politics Strategy Analyst

Project Team Emnet Almedom Research Analyst

Nicole-Marie Cotton Graduate Student Researcher

Tanya P. Díaz Special Projects Coordinator

Nicole Montojo *R*esearch Analyst

Layout, Design, Graphics Christopher Abueg

Image Credits

Recommended Citation

Montojo, Nicole, Nicole-Marie Cotton, Emnet Almedom. "Technology and the Covid-19 Era: How Artificial Intelligence Shapes Futures of Othering & Belonging in an Era of Pandemic and Protest." Othering & Belonging Institute, University of California, Berkeley: Berkeley, CA. July 2021.

Contact

Othering & Belonging Institute at UC Berkeley 460 Stephens Hall Berkeley, CA 94720-2330 Tel. 510-642-3326 Belonging.berkeley.edu

Acknowledgments

Thank you to the researchers, organizers, and advocates who participated in informational interviews to help us understand technology's role in shaping society in the time of Covid-19 and the landscape of players who are responding with urgent critiques, questions, and solutions. Thank you to our funder who made this report, the accompanying commissioned work, and online convenings possible: The Blue Shield of California Foundation. We also thank them for helping us shepherd this work forward in a time where new developments unfold constantly.

CONTENTS

	Executive Summary	1
	Our Key Takeaways	1
	Roadmap for this Report	4
01	Introduction	5
	Research Questions and Scope	6
	Defining Tech Equity and Artificial Intelligence	6
	Facets of a Diverse and Disconnected Field People, Institutions, and Movements Shaping the Landscape of Tech Equity	8 8
	Leading Critical Voices Challenging the Distribution of Power in Tech Examples of Cross-sector Organizing	9 10
	Guiding Analytical Frameworks	11
	Technology as a Product of Society	11
	The Political Economy of Tech	12
	lechnology as a Social Determinant of Health and Belonging	12
02	Embedding Institutional Barriers to Equity through Automated Decision Systems	14
	Case Study: Disparate Health Impacts of "Optimizing" Distributional Decisions during the COVID-19 Pandemic	15
	New Decision-Making Systems Reifying Old Patterns in Clinical Settings	16
	Examining Our Definitions of Race and Deservingness in Health Care and Beyond	17
	Key Factors Driving Racialized Health Inequities	20
	Biased Data	20
	Flawed Models	21
	Implications 22	
03	The Spectrum of Surveillance Technologies: From Public Health Solutions to Pandemic Policing	24
	Case Study: From Contact Tracing to Contact Policing	25
	The Proliferation of Digital Contact Tracing Tools	25

	Disparate Impacts of Expanded Pandemic Surveillance on	29	
	Workplace Surveillance	20	
	Social Media Surveillance	32	
	Implications of Mass Digital Surveillance	33	
	Key Factors Driving Unjust Outcomes and Structural Marginalizatior		
	Fundamentally Flawed Technologies	33	
	Increased Corporate and State Power to Surveil	34	
	Marginalized Populations		
	Implications	36	
04	COVID-19, Social Media Manipulation, and Our Changing Information Ecosystem	38	
	Case Study: Misinformation and Disinformation during the COVID-19 Pandemic	39	
	Online Conspiracy Theories Creating Physical Risks	40	
	Medical Misinformation as a Danger to Public Health and Safety	41	
	Disparate Impacts of Media Manipulation on Communities of Color	41	
	False Health Information Targeted at Communities of Color	41	
	False Narratives Driving Xenophobia and Racial Violence	42	
	Mental Health Impacts of Viral Black Death	43	
	Key Factors Driving Media Manipulation	45	
	Social Media's Psychological Engineering	46	
	Advertising and Click Monetization in the Attention Economy	46	
	Complex and Networked Nature of Today's Information Infrastructure	47	
	Implications	49	
05	Opportunities and Paths Forward	50	
00	Guiding Questions and Frameworks	50	
	The Role of Technology in Social Change	50	
	Technology and Abolition	51	
	A Range of Interventions: Ethical to Emancipatory	51	
	Interventions Being Proposed and Tested	52	
	Reforming Industry Practices	52	
	Government Regulation and Legal Reforms	57	
06	Conclusion	67	
00	Endnotes	69	

Executive Summary

Many of us may remember Spring 2020 as a continuous loop of sifting through the firehose of new information about the pandemic on our Twitter feeds, Facebook feeds, or Whatsapp group chats. By Summer 2020, many were in the streets rising up against an epidemic of a different sort, of anti-Black police violence, and again processing collectively online. Other moments over the past year and a half are similarly marked by technology. To facilitate children's distance learning experience, families downloaded new, unfamiliar softwares; some to connect kids with classmates, some to aid similarly home-bound educators to monitor the work of dozens of students. In a time of confusion and uncertainty, algorithms were one of many tools to determine allocation of critical resources like pandemic relief funding, healthcare supplies, and vaccines. Many of these applications of technology existed before the pandemic, but their proliferation expanded since March 2020 and the impacts are yet to be understood.

What is less visible is the system of power and decision-making that operates in the background: the online quota systems surveilling the Uber and Amazon drivers shuffling us and our products around; the insular tech company decisions on how to categorize and moderate false health and political information on social media; the surveillance society being constructed by police and national security departments that invades personal privacy and criminalizes whole communities; the world of government procurement of automated systems to ostensibly improve delivery of health or education services. At the Othering & Belonging Institute, much of our work is rooted in unpacking this system of economic and political power and how othering and belonging are embedded within – now we are making a foray into doing so through the lens of technology.

This report provides an overview of the current public conversation as it relates to the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic and algorithm-based artificial intelligence used in three interrelated domains that impact public health and social equity: the use of automated decision systems, surveillance, and social media.

Our Key Takeaways

Any introduction of advanced technologies must be put in its historic, economic, and political context. This report is concerned with issues of equity in two realms: technology and health. Health is increasingly understood to be socially determined – as historic choices on how to structure work, neighborhoods, and social services all come into play when investigating individual and community-level health outcomes. Similarly, technology's development is socially determined. Inequities perpetuated by technology cannot be divorced from an analysis of the tech industry's increasing economic, cultural, and political influence, not just in the United States, but across the globe. In investigating the role of automated decision systems, surveillance, and social media during the pandemic, we see many spaces where health equity and technology equity intertwine. Access to the internet is known as a social determinant of health and vaccine access has heavily relied on access to high-speed internet and digital literacy. The disproportionate surveillance of Black people on and offline has health impacts on Black activists and on Black people who witness viral imagery of Black death. During the pandemic, people of color in precarious work have been especially subject to surveillance tactics meant to boost efficiency, but at the cost of great physical and mental health impacts to workers. There is a vast and growing landscape of technologists, workerorganizers, students, and sociologists working - sometimes in tandem, sometimes against one another - to imagine a different future for the development of technology rooted in justice for all.

Using algorithms to allocate resources and determine access to care embeds patterns of the past rather than building for a future where care is a universal goal. Automated decision systems (ADS) are being used to determine who is deserving of access to critical systems that mark one's ability to participate in society, such as healthcare, credit, mortgages, health insurance, and public benefits, often with limited public oversight. ADS are also being used to justify intervention in communities that have been historically over-policed and over-surveilled. This mix of algorithms for gatekeeping and for targeting are tools that maintain historic social and spatial marginalization. In the context of COVID-19, the use of ADS to distribute critical pandemic relief funds revealed flaws in our ability to accurately and equitably predict need. The importance of designing race-conscious policy and clinical practice is complicated when designers of algorithms treat race as biology - a relic of race science. The allure of automating and "unbiasing" decisions through algorithms also sets the trap of attempting to silo race as a deterministic variable, rather than as just one indicator of whole systems of socially determined health, from labor exploitation to access to health insurance to the locating of testing and vaccination sites. Determining how a person is treated in a personal and collective health crisis is a grave decision; if algorithms are to play any role, we must carefully understand the causal relationships among the variables included. The failures of ADS in the early stages of the pandemic call us to rethink the type of power delegated to algorithms; the power to help us see patterns over time does not necessarily translate to the power to help us decide who deserves care. Finally, the scarcity mindset embedded in the question itself - who deserves care? - requires us to zoom out to the macro context of a medical system with deep roots in ableism, racism, and sexism. Algorithmic power to even achieve technical fairness in a siloed case like equitably distributing pandemic relief funding is contestable, but its limitations to drive us to broader goals of health equity are clear.

Concerns over surveillance range across several issues, including flaws within existing surveillance technologies, a potential end to individual privacy, and the growing reliance on carceral technologies as solutions to complex social problems. We must examine the narratives and systems that make turning to surveillance technology in our workplaces, public places, and digital spaces desirable and profitable. Profit-seeking technology companies and data brokers are interweaving data from employers, police-generated crime data, social media, and more; all to fuel systems of criminalization, deportation, and dehumanization. Public intervention is needed to ban flawed and dangerous technologies, such as facial recognition, and to clarify that government procurement of technology is a serious policy decision, not just a process of "modernization." Artificial intelligence (AI) increases the scale and invasiveness of surveillance through automation and new predictive capacity, but the tools simply evolve a timeless mandate to use state and corporate power to build structures that marginalize. Lastly, Al-powered surveillance is disrupting the very notion of individual privacy and emboldening state and corporate power to unacceptable levels to create a new non-public, non-private space. This hard-to-regulate space distracts from the imperative to engage the complexity of social issues like inequality and crime.

While much of this report's social media analysis is grounded in the spread of false information regarding the coronavirus pandemic, the roots are much deeper. The macro context concerns growing uncertainty in the midst of rapid social change and the fruits of a slow, strategic erosion of trust in government, in health and scientific institutions, and in each other. Social media manipulation's disparate impact on communities of color is tied to the way social media is structured itself: frictionless, optimized for engagement, and financially fueled by tech giants and content creators who learn the path to amplification. There is an opportunity to build on innovative uses of social media in its current form and confront the concentration of power in the creation and funding of social media. The future of social media, which drives much of our information ecosystem, will be defined by our ability to regulate the current structures, but also to create new structures that embody the values of a broader community.

In summary, across all possible paths forward, we must contest with

power. Our existing levers of power via industry reform and government regulation can do more to address tech industry power run amok. The path ahead requires new modes of collectively creating technology, governing technology and data in the public interest, and organizing a bigger "we" of tech workers and tech users who can build these modes together. Our resourcing and ways of governing technology must honor the collective public investment that has created a society and culture shaped by technology. This collective investment ranges from the US federal government's early investment of capital into today's biggest tech companies to the labor investment of the lowest-paid tech workers across the globe.

Roadmap for this Report

Building toward a vision of technology rooted in justice first requires an analysis of how technology functions as a tool for othering and structural marginalization. Starting with our introduction, we examine the diverse field of people, institutions, and movements driving the work of shaping technology's role in society. In chapter two, we then ground our analysis in the understanding that technology is a product of society, with a specific political economy, and vast impacts on societal health and well-being. From there, three chapters examine how this dynamic plays out through one of three forms of technology: automated decision systems, surveillance, and social media. In each chapter, we introduce a case study of emerging uses of the technology specifically in response to the Covid-19 pandemic, which provides a lens for examining the broader scope of disparate health impacts and racialized inequalities that the technology produces. This is followed by an analysis of how this inequality is produced, identifying the key factors driving inequality related to the technology's design and/or sociopolitical context. Each chapter concludes by translating key takeaways from the analysis into recommended guideposts for conceptualizing paths forward in moving from technology for othering to technology for belonging.

Chapter five turns to the question of how different stakeholders and sectors are defining the path forward for advancing tech equity. We examine some of the possibilities for intervention in the realms of policy and government regulation, industry practices and product design, and culture. Within each realm, we explore proposed solutions with equity-related goals, which span a spectrum with ethical technology on one end, to emancipatory technology on the other.

In addition to this report, we commissioned a series of papers to do a deep dive into:

Contact Tracing and COVID-19

Protecting Activists, Protecting Privacy, Protecting Health

Christine Mitchell | Human Impact Partners

Leaving Surveillance Tech Behind in Higher Education

Towards Trust and Abolition

Shea Swauger | Librarian & PhD Student in Education at University of CO Denver

Policing Students Online

The Increasing Threat of School-Sanctioned Digital Surveillance

Jennifer Jones | ACLU Northern California Ana Nájera Mendoza | ACLU of Southern California

Introduction

Algorithm-driven artificial intelligence (AI) and advanced digital technologies are restructuring society, catalyzing fundamental shifts across the multitude of systems that define how people relate to one another. Technology's influence on all spheres of life presents both immense opportunities and immediate threats to equity and public health. As the coronavirus disease (COVID-19) pandemic has rapidly increased our reliance on digital interactions, technology is providing a lifeline for connection; dissemination of key health information; and access to knowledge, essential goods, and services. Yet the pandemic, the 2020 protests and uprisings in response to systemic racial injustice, and global political turmoil have also exposed the urgency of technology-related threats. **From mass surveillance tools to social media platforms, these technologies are not only reinforcing existing systems of exclusion, but also producing new harms and injustices.**

To advance futures of belonging, we must understand the ways that advanced technologies are restructuring the processes of othering and belonging in the public, private, corporate, and marginalized (nonpublic/ nonprivate) spheres of our society. How is technology reshaping the boundaries between each of these spheres within the circle of human concern, and consequently, who or what is relegated to the spaces outside of this circle? What does their marginalization mean for the future of humanity and society? And how can communities, government and nongovernment institutions, and corporations actively shape, rather than resign to, this future? Can technology be instead used to end marginalization and expand the circle of human concern?



Watch Circle of Human Concern explainer video

Research Questions and Scope

This report provides an overview of the current public conversation on questions about algorithm-based AI used during the COVID-19 pandemic in three interrelated domains that impact public health and social equity: the use of automated decision systems, surveillance, and social media. Through a review of recent academic literature, policy reports, popular media, and public convenings on these topics, as well as interviews with experts, practitioners, and advocates, we explore the following research questions:

How are experts, practitioners, and advocates across sectors defining challenges presented by AI and advanced technology? Specifically, how can technology be used to create or perpetuate racial inequity or other forms of marginalization? How are tech equity issues playing out during the pandemic, and what are the implications for public health?

How are different sectors defining the path forward for advancing ethical, equitable, and emancipatory uses of technology? What are the possibilities for engagement or intervention?

> This landscape analysis is an initial part of a larger Othering & Belonging Institute research project on technology and equity. The broad overview of key issues presented here serves as a foundation for a series of commissioned writings and resources that take a more in-depth, focused look at specific applications and impacts of technology in particular spheres of society. Written by researchers, advocates, and practitioners with deep expertise, these pieces explore a range of emerging issues, including digital contact tracing, COVID-19 misinformation, carceral pedagogies in higher education, education surveillance technologies in K-12 settings, surveillance technologies in policing and immigration enforcement, and workplace surveillance in essential and gig work.

Defining Tech Equity and Artificial Intelligence

Public debates on tech ethics and equity have become more mainstream as technology's impacts on society become more visible, far-reaching, and urgent. Once considered a niche realm of technologists and scientific disciplines asking questions about a distant future, more of the conversation is now driven by social scientists, grassroots organizations, journalists, and dozens of research institutes and advocate networks oriented toward concerns of not just fairness but equity and justice. "Tech equity" has arisen as one of many buzzwords for this discourse, but it is a subjective term, with no consensus over its definition. For some, tech equity may mean "doing no harm" through the use of technology. For others, it may involve a vision for technology that advances social justice and a critique of the power structures within the tech sector. Just as debates exist about the meaning, value, and use of concepts like equity, justice, and belonging, "tech equity" is a contested concept. Here, we use the term to refer broadly to the equitable design, use, and impact of technology on society. We also acknowledge that inequitable access to the internet and digital services and products—often referred to as the digital divide—is a long-standing social justice issue in Black and Brown communities; however, this landscape scan will focus on the impact of AI and information-based technologies. Similar to the evolution of the fight against the digital divide, the emerging criticism of AI's equity impacts has roots in the research and activism of those most impacted.

The discourse on tech equity is also inherently broad because the term "technology" encompasses so many different forms of scientific advancement. While the most visible conversations on tech equity are currently focused on AI and internet-based information technologies, the same questions and debates on equity extend to other areas such as biotechnology, synthetic biology, and medical and energy technologies that are beyond the scope of this paper. Here we choose to focus specifically on AI and information-based technologies as a critical entry point into issues of tech equity for two reasons:

Impact: Al systems have a unique role in othering and marginalization in that they are, at their core, "systems of discrimination" as researchers at the Al Now Institute at New York University explain: they are "classification technologies that differentiate, rank, and categorize," with impacts that are not evenly distributed across groups.¹ As Al has become increasingly embedded in social systems and public infrastructure, the differential impacts of discrimination shape a wide range of social determinants of health, thus driving wider disparities by race, ability, class, and gender. Moreover, Al is at the core of many forms of carceral technology—or tools that "are bound up in the control, coercion, capture, and exile of entire categories of people"—with newer Al-driven digital technologies continuing a long history of racialized surveillance and oppression.²

Urgency: Al and algorithmic bias are the central focus of many key stakeholders and institutions in the tech equity field, and where the debates on ethics, equity, and justice are actively expanding in spaces beyond the tech sector, and among marginalized communities—especially around issues of surveillance. Al and algorithms are at the core of issues of resource allocation, collective sense-making, and class hierarchy that have arisen during the pandemic, as the case studies show.

Julia Bossmann, director of the Foresight Institute and a member of the World Economic Forum's Global Council on Artificial Intelligence, offers a simple definition of AI, which is "making machines do things that we didn't explicitly program them to do."³ While traditional programming relies upon a set of rules and algorithms created by humans, AI allows computers to learn on their own without requiring humans to program every step of the process. As the next evolution of algorithm-driven technologies, this form of machine learning is known as "deep learning," because it uses multiple layers of deep "neural networks" similar to the human brain. "In our heads, we have all these neurons that are connected to each other and exchange information, and in a way, we are simulating this in machines," Bossmann explains. This report examines forms of technology that are considered AI (involving deep learning or machine learning) as well as the less advanced tools that depend on more basic algorithms and programming. New uses for both these types of technology are continuously emerging. The possibilities they open up are shaped by who is developing the technology, who the technology is for, and the values shaping the technology's objectives and regulation.

Facets of a Diverse and Disconnected Field

Reflecting on the range of possible futures shaped by technology, Erik Brynjolfsson, director of the MIT Initiative on the Digital Economy, states, "Neither outcome is inevitable, so the right question is not 'What will happen?' but 'What will we choose to do?' We need to work aggressively to make sure technology matches our values."⁴ The answer depends on who is included in the "we" creating technology and what are considered "our values" that should direct technology's use in society. Part of this research is thus to understand who is currently shaping the public discourse on technology and equity. Whose voices are marginalized or excluded, and in terms of challenges and opportunities, who and what are these possibilities imagined for?

People, Institutions, and Movements Shaping the Landscape of Tech Equity

While there is no official, unified "field" of tech equity, we refer to the full range of stakeholders, organizations, and institutions engaged in these debates as the tech equity field. These stakeholders and groups exist across many disciplines and sectors, with varied relationships to the actual development of technology. Science, technology, and society⁵ and public interest technology⁶ are emerging as distinct academic and professional fields concerned with tech equity. Parallel but siloed conversations are occurring within different academic disciplines, from engineering and computer science to law and public health. Silos also exist by sector, with often separate discussions within government, nonprofit, and corporate institutions, as well as by the many narrow issue areas within technology.

Recognizing the need to bridge these conversations, numerous initiatives have begun efforts to build shared standards, language, analysis, visions, and spaces for this work. Prominent initiatives led by government and the private sector include the Obama Administration's Big Data and Privacy Working Group;⁷ the United Nations Secretary-General's High-level Panel for Digital Cooperation;⁸ Partnership on Al;⁹ and the Association for Computing Machinery's Conference on Fairness, Accountability, and Transparency (ACM FAccT).¹⁰

William Isaac, researcher at a Google AI start-up called DeepMind and cochair of ACM FAccT, describes the current state of the AI research field as just "beginning to grapple with broader systemic questions" in response to a greater understanding of the material harms and risks associated with machine learning.¹¹ This reckoning comes after an initial phase of "deep optimism" in AI as a solution to intractable social problems—or what communications and media scholar Fred Turner calls "digital utopianism."¹² Isaac and other leading voices within the tech sector have acknowledged the need to "build a collective muscle for responsible innovation and oversight," which requires processes to ensure that historically marginalized groups are "engaged in the process of technological design."¹³

Leading Critical Voices Challenging the Distribution of Power in Tech

While the tech industry is just beginning to address systemic racism, sexism, and other forms of inequity in its products and organizations, an established body of academic research, initiated primarily by Black women, has paved the way for an industry-wide reckoning. This includes the work of scholars like Safiya Umoja Noble, Sara Roberts, Ruha Benjamin, I'Nasah Crockett, and Sydette Harry, who theorized, foresaw, and directly experienced these issues long before they were acknowledged by policymakers or industry leaders.¹⁴ For example, in 2014, Black feminists like I'Nasah Crockett and Shafiqah Hudson exposed complex harassment and misinformation campaigns that employed digital blackface to impersonate Black women on Twitter and the online discussion board 4chan.¹⁵ Crockett, Hudson, and other women collectively created anti-misinformation campaigns and implored Twitter and media companies to take "trolling" seriously. Now, it is better understood that "the very same forces that had been antagonizing them for years rebranded themselves as the altright."¹⁶ Meredith Whittaker, director of the AI Now Institute at New York University, notes that technological harms were previously dismissed as "the byproduct of 'positive disruption," and many of the concerns raised by these scholars weren't taken seriously "until wealthy white men, frankly, in Silicon Valley began to feel some of these effects themselves."17

This dynamic reflects the extreme homogeneity and concentration of power within the tech sector among "spaces that in the West tend to be extremely white, affluent, technically oriented, and male. These are also spaces that have a history of problems of discrimination, exclusion, and sexual harassment."¹⁸ These power structures define who has the power to create, scale, and profit off of AI technologies in contemporary society. At Google, women comprise just 10 percent of AI research staff at Facebook and Google, and Black workers comprise only 2.5 percent of the company's overall workforce.¹⁹ The highly uneven distribution of power within the tech industry has come to light in recent years as whistle-blowers have come forward with numerous cases of systemic racism and gender discrimination, including sexual misconduct, censorship, and retaliation against employees who have pushed the boundaries of tech equity conversations and organizing from inside the industry.²⁰

Beyond just reforming the status quo, Ruha Benjamin calls for "investing in counterimaginaries"—seeding visions and infrastructures for liberatory forms of technology—noting that this capacity must be built "so we're not trapped in someone else's imagination."²¹ This involves dismantling the structures that currently define "what social groups are classified, corralled, coerced, and capitalized upon so others are free to tinker, experiment, design, and engineer the future," and furthermore, "work[ing] with others to imagine and create alternatives to the *techno quo*—business as usual when it comes to technoscience—as part of a larger struggle to materialize collective freedoms and flourishing."²²

Examples of Cross-sector Organizing

The push toward inclusion within the tech sector comes as pressure has mounted from the outside. Equity-oriented coalitions have grown in their reach and engagement in a range of issues regarding technology's impact on marginalized communities. While the surge in interest has recently brought many new stakeholders to the table, several key organizationsincluding the American Civil Liberties Union, Electronic Frontier Foundation, MediaJustice, and the Greenlining Institute-have seeded this work for over a decade. Today, many more nonprofit organizations whose missions are not specifically centered on technology's impacts now recognize its direct relationship to the issues they work on. Community-based movements for tech equity have been particularly effective in bridging organizations that are separately working on very distinct issue areas, such as immigration, policing, labor, housing, civic engagement, and public health, to name a few. In this moment that has laid bare technology's role in the hypersurveilling of communities of color, technology is increasingly seen as a key racial justice and civil rights issue.

As tech equity has become more of a mainstream concept, employees of technology companies have also been organizing, whistle-blowing, and joining with community-led movements. With a growing awareness of the ways technology is used to surveil and punish society's vulnerable populations—as well as their own responsibility and privilege—tech workers from inside Google and engineering students from top universities have used their power as engineers to take a stand against surveillance technology that may cause harm.

The ongoing #NoTechForICE campaign exemplifies this nascent form of expansive, cross-sector organizing. Coordinated behind the scenes by Mijente, a Latinx and Chicanx political organization for racial, economic, and gender justice, this campaign and related efforts brought together grassroots activists, immigrant rights advocates, tech workers, students, and university officials. #NoTechForICE launched in protest against the Silicon Valley company Palantir's partnership with the federal Immigration and Customs Enforcement (ICE) agency. As a contractor, Palantir provided ICE with surveillance technology to aid in identifying, apprehending, and detaining undocumented immigrants.²³ Palantir employees circulated internal letters in protest of connections with ICE,²⁴ and by the end of the month, nearly 1,200 engineering students from seventeen of the top universities signed a pledge to not take positions at Palantir due to their partnership with ICE.25 Student petitions became part of the #NoTechForICE hashtag to encourage tech workers to boycott large companies that provide technological services for ICE. Additionally, students at the University of California, Berkeley, advocated for institutional action, demanding that the university's Department of Electrical Engineering and Computer Sciences sever its ties with Palantir through the departmental Corporate Access Program, which brings companies into the university to recruit student talent.²⁶ This strategic organizing by students is rooted in the realization that "we are tech companies' recruitment pool, and we are valued by them, so our actions and our voices actually matter. They can be used to put pressure on these tech companies to change their actions."27

Guiding Analytical Frameworks

Technology as a Product of Society

Recent work by academics and public intellectuals has advanced the field's understanding of the dialectical relationships between technology, racism, misogyny, capitalism, and power.²⁸ Central to this analysis is countering the myth of technology and AI as neutral. Media studies scholars have highlighted how the cultural imagination of Silicon Valley celebrates technological spaces as progressive, postracial digital utopias,²⁹ despite race and racism being embedded in the tech sector's infrastructure.³⁰ While this discourse has led to greater acknowledgement of discrimination and inequality within the sector, technology itself is still often seen as a tool or "antidote" for correcting human bias,³¹ often with good intentions to eliminate it. But because technological tools are imbued with the same biases that shape social inequality, they are not neutral or objective.

E. Tendayi Achiume, UN Special Rapporteur on contemporary forms of racism, racial discrimination, xenophobia, and related intolerance and professor of law at University of California Los Angeles, asserts that "technology is never neutral—it reflects the values and interests of those who influence its design and use, and is fundamentally shaped by the same structures of inequality that operate in society...Technology is a product of society, its values, its priorities and even its inequities, including those related to racism and intolerance."³² The failure to acknowledge this is rooted in the ideology of "technological determinism," or the idea that while technology influences society, it is separate from and unaffected by social, political, and economic forces.³³ The danger of technological determinism's "veneer of neutrality"³⁴ is that it "only serves to shield the forces that shape emerging digital technologies and their effects from detection and reform," Achiume explains. Any discussion of tech equity therefore must not be limited to technological tools themselves; it must include an examination of the dialectical relationship between technology and the social, political, and economic structures that it exists within and is shaped by.

The Political Economy of Tech

Inequities perpetuated by technology cannot be divorced from an analysis of the technology industry's increasing economic, cultural, and political influence, not just in the United States, but across the globe. The World Economic Forum describes AI and other emerging technologies as drivers of the "fourth industrial revolution."³⁵ This power is concentrated among a few private corporations and "super platforms" such as Microsoft, Apple, Amazon, Google, Facebook, Tencent, and Alibaba.³⁶ The largest tech companies, Google and Facebook, were sued by the US Department of Justice for violation of US antitrust laws in October 2020.³⁷ Google maintains a 92 percent global market share of internet searches, which as the US Department of Justice lawsuit asserts, makes it "a monopoly gatekeeper of the internet."³⁸ Facebook comprises two-thirds of the global social media market, and Amazon accounts for nearly 40 percent of all online retail activity globally.³⁹

It is easy to forget that behind social media platforms and the mundane websites we use every day to purchase necessities like toilet paper and toothpaste on Amazon, users are engaging in publicly traded companies with the express purpose of maximizing profit for their shareholders. The primary resource from which they extract profit is data, which as a commodity has surpassed oil in value.⁴⁰ This data is created by users through a growing multitude of technologies that make up the ubiquitous "Internet of Things," or the full range of internet-connected devices embedded in everyday life that can collect and track data on consumer behaviors and preferences-including mobile phones, "smart" home devices like Ring doorbells, and wearable technologies with sensors that track a person's movements and health data. This data can be commodified and sold, as well as leveraged, to predict, encourage, or even manipulate consumer behavior through the design of technological platforms. The tech industry's accumulation of political, economic, and social power is therefore made possible through a massive computational networked infrastructure, which includes advertising technology, platform services, and a massive data-collection pipeline.⁴¹

Technology as a Social Determinant of Health and Belonging

This report is concerned with issues of equity in two realms: technology and health. How do these realms intersect, and why does technology matter for health equity? The public health concept of *social determinants of health* helps to illuminate their relationship. Social determinants of health are the societal circumstances in which individuals are born and live that impact individual health and contribute to systemic health inequities across various axes of difference (race and ethnicity, gender and sexuality, social and economic class, immigration status, etc.). These include place-based conditions that determine access to basic needs (healthy food, housing, individual and community safety), opportunity (education, employment), and well-being (one's sense of security, autonomy, and belonging). As the cases examined in this report demonstrate, technology today directly influences all of these realms, with disparate impacts on groups that tend to exacerbate existing structural inequities.

Technology itself can therefore be understood as both socially determined and a social determinant of health, producing impacts on our material realities that manifest in myriad forms. Disparate access to technology and the internet, or the digital divide—which contributes to less access to information, educational opportunities, and employment pathways among low-income (both urban and rural) communities and people of color—is just one way that technology influences health. While attending to the digital divide may improve equity with regard to some social and health outcomes, it does not necessarily equate to the use of technology for holistic health and belonging, let alone eliminating technological harms.⁴²

Health is just one—albeit fundamental—dimension of belonging, which we define as having the right to contribute to, participate in the design of, and make demands on social structures and institutions. Belonging, like health, is socially determined. Advancing technology for health and belonging requires more than closing disparities in access; it requires a fundamental shift in power as well as a vision for uses of technology rooted in justice. Beyond the reducing disparities associated with the digital divide, we consider how technology can function as a tool for either othering or belonging, and how its use for either purpose is shaped by systems of power. Therefore, central to this report is an analysis of how technology mirrors other social determinants of health, which, as stated by the World Health Organization, are "shaped by the distribution of money, power, and resources at global, national, and local levels."⁴³

Embedding Institutional Barriers to Equity through Automated Decision Systems

With the development of information technologies that gather, track, aggregate, and analyze millions of individual-level data points on human behavior and outcomes, major institutions are increasingly employing algorithms in decision-making processes that determine an individual's ability to access essential public resources and services. While data-driven decision-making is not new, Al greatly expands the possibilities for new applications of algorithmic decision-making. Automated decision systems (ADS) employed by both public and private institutions are used to make immensely consequential determinations—for example, eligibility and access to welfare and social safety net programs;⁴⁴ pretrial bail,⁴⁵ probation, and parole;⁴⁶ health insurance and health care;⁴⁷ credit, financing, and related housing opportunities;⁴⁸ employment opportunities;⁴⁹ and much more—all which directly impact one's health, well-being, and upward mobility. Political scientist Virginia Eubanks explains that while society as a whole inhabits this "new regime of digital data," we don't all experience it in the same way:

Most people are targeted for digital scrutiny as members of social groups, not as individuals. People of color, migrants, unpopular religious groups, sexual minorities, the poor, and other oppressed and exploited populations bear a much higher burden of monitoring and tracking than advantaged groups. Marginalized groups face higher levels of data collection when they access public benefits, walk through highly policed neighborhoods, enter the health-care system, or cross national borders. That data acts to reinforce their marginality when it is used to target them for suspicion and extra scrutiny. Those groups seen as undeserving are singled out for punitive public policy and more intense surveillance, and the cycle begins again. It is a kind of collective red-flagging, a feedback loop of injustice.⁵⁰

Through algorithms' core function of efficiently and systematically evaluating whole populations, the consequences become much more than individual impacts, translating into deep systemic disparities and oftentimes reinforcing inequities against historically marginalized groups. Moreover "many don't know that they are being targeted, or don't have the energy, [material resources, community supports,] or expertise to push back when they are."⁵¹ While their data-driven, formulaic nature⁵² may lead to the assumption that ADS are accurate and unbiased, these systems can only make determinations based on information inputs that teach or train them. The information the computers "learn" can be as problematic as the education humans receive formally or informally through interactions in society. If the information entered into an ADS is biased or inaccurate, the output will be laden with biased information—a dynamic commonly described in computer programming as "garbage in, garbage out."

But even when the data may be accurate or neutral, ADS technologies themselves are laden with values "learned" from the society they are created within, whether intentionally or unconsciously imbued by their human creators. Despite the common rationale for using ADS in social welfare programs as a means of "improving efficiency, doing more with less, and getting help to those who really need it," Eubanks explains, "[t] echnologies of poverty management are not neutral. They are shaped by our nation's fear of economic insecurity and hatred of the poor; they in turn shape the politics and experience of poverty."53 As such, ADS that target the poor provide new ways of continuing long-standing institutional practices of "managing" poverty while "refram[ing] shared social decisions about who we are and who we want to be as systems engineering problems."54 Machine learning researcher Harini Suresh points us to recognize that bias can be introduced across the lifespan of a model's creation-from the historical biases embedded in data to the selection of the indicators for a certain outcome of interest.55

The pervasive use of algorithms in arbitrating access to opportunity, resources, and basic needs means that these tools—and most importantly, those who develop and choose to apply them, as well as the assumptions and values their developers build in—hold immense power to shape public health outcomes as well as institutional responses to fundamental questions regarding distributive justice, civil and human rights, and whose lives are valued by society.

CASE STUDY

Disparate Health Impacts of "Optimizing" Distributional Decisions during the COVID-19 Pandemic

Across the globe, governments, technologists, medical researchers and practitioners, and public health experts are exploring the uses of algorithms and AI in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. Amy Abernethy, Principal Deputy Commissioner of the Food and Drug Administration, describes a number of ways algorithms are currently being utilized: to predict which COVID-19 patients are going to require intensive care unit treatment or a ventilator, to support the development and evaluation of medical products and real-world datasets, and to predict areas where increased demand for drugs and other medical products may lead to shortages or other supply chain problems.⁵⁶ Researchers have also developed more advanced machine learning tools, such as a new AI diagnostic tool to detect asymptomatic COVID-19 infections through audio of coughs, which can be recorded and submitted through mobile devices.⁵⁷

New Decision-Making Systems Reifying Old Patterns in Clinical Settings

While these sorts of tools are certainly promising, tech equity experts also warn of the potential acceleration of disparities during the COVID-19 pandemic through the use of "under-developed and potentially biased models" for clinical decision-making and resource allocation.58 Such bias extends to models that have shaped policy decisions regarding the allocation of pandemic relief funding.⁵⁹ An article in the Journal of the American Medical Association suggests that the formulas used by the US Department of Health and Human Services (HHS) to determine distribution of \$175 billion of federal funding to hospitals under the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security (CARES) Act resulted in a disparate impact on Black communities where relief funding is needed the most.⁶⁰ Kakani et al.'s analysis shows that because past hospital revenue was the most important factor within the HHS model, CARES Act funding to counties with higher shares of Black residents was not commensurate with their greater health and financial needs (measured by higher COVID-19 burdens, comorbidities, and worse hospital finances). In this case, revenue served as a flawed proxy for need, without accounting for the underlying reasons why these communities may spend less on health care-such as inadequate health insurance coverage and additional layers of biased decision-making systems that result in the undertreatment of Black patients-despite even higher need for care.⁶¹ The authors argue that instead of relying on financial measures like hospital revenues, policy-makers and health-care providers must consider other measures of actual medical need, such as hospital strain, case counts, and prevalence of other health conditions that increase risks or severity of COVID-19.62

Health-care providers also commonly use algorithms in clinical settings impacting 70–150 million patients in the United States.⁶³ While intended to objectively optimize the allocation of lifesaving treatment, these algorithms in effect often favor white patients over Black patients. Similar to the CARES Act algorithm, bias in many such clinical ADS often results from the use of financial metrics as a proxy for need, as demonstrated in a study by Obermeyer et al. of a commercial risk-prediction tool that reflects typical methods used by insurance companies on roughly 200 million people in the United States each year.⁶⁴ In this case, the algorithm was used to target patients for "high-risk care management" programs, which provide additional resources and coordinated treatment by providers with the goal of improving care for individuals with complex health needs. To determine which patients would benefit the most, the algorithm relied on the problematic assumption that a patient's past medical expenditures

could predict future health-care needs, and that those with the highest expenditures should thus be targeted for the limited resources available through the high-risk care management program. The data on medical expenditures as well as the predictive model itself failed to account for the structural racial inequalities that shape health-care spending in the first place and, specifically, the reasons why Black patients on average generate lower costs than white patients. These include lack of access to adequate treatment (and relatedly, disproportionate access by white patients to higher quality or specialized care) and higher costs of care in areas with higher overall costs of living.⁶⁵ Obermeyer et al. identify multiple overlooked explanations for these disparities in health-care costs:

First, poor patients face substantial barriers to accessing health care, even when enrolled in insurance plans...poverty can lead to disparities in use of health care: geography and differential access to transportation, competing demands from jobs or child care, or knowledge of reasons to seek care. To the extent that race and socioeconomic status are correlated, these factors will differentially affect Black patients. Second, race could affect costs directly via several channels: direct ("taste-based") discrimination, changes to the doctor-patient relationship, or others...For example, it has long been documented that Black patients have reduced trust in the health care system, a fact that some studies trace to the revelations of the Tuskegee study and other adverse experiences. A substantial literature in psychology has documented physicians' differential perceptions of Black patients, in terms of intelligence, affiliation, or pain tolerance. Thus, whether it is communication, trust, or bias, something about the interactions of Black patients with the health care system itself leads to reduced use of health care.66

These factors mask the reality of higher need for care among Black patients, resulting in the systematic disadvantaging of Black patients and widening health inequality through the allocation of resources to healthier white patients. While the model was "race-blind" in that race was not an input, it systematically assigned lower risk scores to Black patients compared to white patients who were equally sick.⁶⁷ The researchers emphasize that this algorithm is not unique; rather, it is "emblematic of a generalized approach to risk prediction in the health sector, widely adopted by a range of for- and nonprofit medical centers and governmental agencies."⁶⁸

Examining Our Definitions of Race and Deservingness in Health Care and Beyond

ADS designers often describe their algorithms as objective or race-neutral if race is not factored in as a variable. However, other algorithms commonly include race in their models. A recent study published in the *New England Journal of Medicine* examines the use of race as an input in diagnostic algorithms to "adjust" or "correct" their outputs based on a patient's race or ethnicity, in effect propagating race-based medicine.⁶⁹ The study finds

that many of these race-adjusted algorithms disproportionately place Black Americans on the receiving end of inferior health care—cutting across multiple medical specialties and procedures, including childbirth, breast cancer treatment, thoracic surgery, kidney donation, and kidney failure which subsequently exacerbates structural disparities by race within the health-care system.⁷⁰ For example, one algorithm used by cardiac surgeons showed higher risk of complications for Black patients who receive coronary artery bypass surgery, which could cause physicians to steer Black patients away from needed surgery. The study notes that several of these algorithms do not provide an explanation for racially disparate outcomes, while others offer rationales based on "outdated, suspect racial science or… biased data."⁷¹

Yet the likelihood of all of these outcomes-higher costs of care, greater risk of postoperative complications, or higher mortality rates-directly relates to the disproportionate lack of access to health insurance and care experienced by African Americans, not to mention historic patterns of bias and mistreatment by medical professionals when care is received.⁷² All of these factors contribute to negative health conditions that may indeed involve higher costs or risks, but they are structural, rather than inherent to the patient. By accounting for these differences in terms of race, such algorithms treat race as a biological factor, thereby failing to recognize there is more genetic difference between individuals within a racial category than across racial categories while ignoring the root causes of these disparities and sociological factors correlated with treatment success. The authors argue that without accounting for these factors that shape the inputs or baseline conditions of individual patients, the algorithms' outputs reify the gap in overall health between Black and white communities, in addition to amplifying racial stereotypes:

To be clear, we do not believe that physicians should ignore race. Doing so would blind us to the ways in which race and racism structure our society. However, when clinicians insert race into their tools, they risk interpreting racial disparities as immutable facts rather than as injustices that require intervention. Researchers and clinicians must distinguish between the use of race in descriptive statistics, where it plays a vital role in epidemiologic analyses, and in prescriptive clinical guidelines, where it can exacerbate inequities.⁷³

When this data serves as an input in an algorithm, it reflects the bias of outdated models that suggest race is the *cause* of the inequality rather than intertwined with the true causes of difference, including socioeconomic factors and unequal care due to racism or, as the authors note, "the experience of being Black in America rather than being Black itself—such as toxic stress and its physiological consequences."⁷⁴ These nontransparent decisions are often made without the patient's consent or even awareness, meaning that doctors may steer patients away from lifesaving treatment based on their race without providing adequate information about all of the treatment options.⁷⁵ This mode of decision-making becomes even more problematic when it is up to the physician to

determine how a patient should be racially classified. The authors of the article ask, how would a Black Dominican patient be categorized by a race-adjusted algorithm? Would they be labeled as Black or Hispanic, and what impact would that have on the patient treatment recommendation? In the same vein, how would a white-presenting person of Hispanic heritage be classified? The assumption that race can be objectively assigned, as if it were an essential characteristic, fails to acknowledge that racial categories are socially constructed and constantly evolving, with different definitions in different places and times. Instead of supporting physicians in providing better patient care, the nonscientific use of race in medical algorithms and assignment of patients to racial categories lends itself to long-disproven race science.

A growing number of medical experts are calling for the removal of race from medical algorithms. One recent effort is specifically aimed at the removal of race in algorithmic assessments that are widely used to inform eligibility for kidney treatment and transplants, known as eGFR equations.⁷⁶ A 2020 study of over 56,000 patients found that removing race from the equation would have resulted in one-third of Black patients being diagnosed with a more severe form of chronic kidney disease than they were.⁷⁷ This has significant implications for the care of Black patients with chronic kidney disease, who are disproportionately affected by the condition and, based on the algorithm, would appear healthier than they actually are and thus delayed in being deemed eligible for specialty care or a kidney transplant.⁷⁸ Dr. Paul Palevsky, president of the National Kidney Foundation, has called for the medical field to address the racism and racial disparities embedded in nephrology care:

of GFR, normalizes and reinforces the misconception of race as a biological determinant of health and disease. This is not to say that clinicians should ignore race and ethnicity. Doing so would blind us to the disparities and inequities present in health and healthcare. But we must not conflate the societal effects of race and racism on health, healthcare and kidney diseases with physiologic and pathophysiologic determinants of health.⁷⁹

It is critical that medical ADS are audited for the use of faulty racial logics as well as indirect encoding of what sociologist Ruha Benjamin describes as "ableist, racist, and classist" logics, even when race is not explicitly considered. Benjamin points to a hypothetical scenario that is particularly relevant during the COVID-19 pandemic, in which an algorithm is used to determine whether or not a patient receives access to a ventilator by predicting their likelihood of survival:

ventilator is someone who is more likely to survive by giving them the ventilator, you're using the person who is healthier and more likely to survive [as the benchmark], and you're building in the understanding that understanding into the algorithm, you're essentially automating eugenics...Wealthier, whiter, abled patients are more likely to get that scarce resource."⁸⁰

A danger arises in the potential automation of such difficult decisions, which absolves humans of the burden of responsibility by transferring it to an algorithm. It automates what Benjamin describes as an "unthinking value of some kinds of people over others," or in other words, "a eugenic understanding of who deserves care and not."⁸¹ The "unthinking" allowed by automation is particularly harmful in that it can create a "false sense of objectivity and fairness" without a rigorous examination of the AI models being used, thus allowing for "bias at warp speed," researchers from the Stanford University Department of Medicine warn.⁸² In fact, a January 2021 study that systematically reviewed over 200 prediction models developed for diagnosing, evaluating prognosis, or assessing infection risk related to COVID-19 found that all of the models were rated at "high or unclear risk of bias."⁸³

It is worth emphasizing that the "unthinking" that Benjamin speaks to extends beyond the passive acceptance of algorithms and technology; it also enables decision-makers to avoid confronting inherently inequitable notions of ableism in health care that have long preceded the use of clinical AI models. This is illustrated by the story of Michael Hickson, a forty-six-year-old African American man living with guadriplegia resulting from traumatic brain injury. As a COVID-19 patient at a Texas hospital, physicians denied him aggressive treatment for the virus, noting his low quality of life.⁸⁴ This decision-made by a medical team, not an algorithm-was not based on the need to ration care but the physicians' assessment that Hickson could not survive further treatment. Disability advocates and authorities on medical ethics across the United States have called for doctors to protect against the bias of underestimating disabled patients' quality of life, stating that because a disabled person's quality of life does not meet a normative standard, "that doesn't mean they should be triaged out of medical treatment."85 If embedded within ADS along with biased data reflecting biased systems. inequitable biases in judgement-including unconscious bias that is entangled with ableism and racism-can be systematically reinforced in new ways and at unprecedented scale.

Key Factors Driving Racialized Health Inequities

The disparities produced by ADS used in institutions' pandemic response reflect the underlying problems built into ADS as a whole, which can be traced back to biased data and flawed models.

Biased Data

In addition to the flaws described above, the CARES Act funding allocation model relied on data that failed to accurately capture community health needs in the first place. Ziad Obermeyer, professor of health policy and management at the UC Berkeley School of Public Health, explains: ...the obstacle is the data. The problem with Al in this setting is the problem with the rest of our [society's] response. People who want to get tested can't get tested; testing is unevenly distributed in society...This means that we don't see the epidemic where we need to see it. We look at poor communities, and we see there are higher COVID cases, and that's net of the [extreme] disparities in testing, but the [number of] COVID cases should be much higher. If we apply artificial intelligence to mine insights from this data, we are going to be automating biases and errors in our data collection processes, in other words, in our society.⁸⁶

The lack of accurate data on COVID-19 in Black communities stems from local governments placing COVID-19 testing facilities in disproportionately white and affluent areas early in the pandemic.⁸⁷ The resulting testing data thus appears to show that these areas actually have higher infection rates and therefore higher need. This is contrary to the evidence that consistently shows people of color and lower-income communities are most deeply affected by COVID-19 cases and deaths. Obermeyer explains that this use of AI presents a "worst case scenario" that creates a "vicious cycle" of racial disparities by underfunding communities of color.⁸⁸

The same systemic racial disparity has been well-documented in AI tools for law enforcement, such as algorithms to predict crime "hot spots" or to determine bail for inmates awaiting trial based on "flight risk." By using factors such as prior arrests and convictions, criminal records of relatives, and zip code or address, researchers find that the algorithms' decisions "reflect over-policing, the behaviours of law enforcement in Black and brown communities, larger patterns of socioeconomic disadvantage resulting from the racial caste system, rather than anything about the behaviours of people who are targeted."⁸⁹ Data out of context assumes a level playing field—for example, equal access to COVID-19 testing or quality health care, and equal treatment by law enforcement agencies or the justice system—while invisibilizing the systemic injustices that shape people's lived experiences.

Flawed Models

The health-care treatment and funding algorithms exemplify the problems with using AI in predictive models based on flawed inference, rather than true causality. Ziad Obermeyer acknowledges that while the lack of available data is a major challenge, it is possible to retrain algorithms to predict better measures of need. This "can make the difference between an algorithm that reinforces inequalities and an algorithm that fights against them. And that is important because as bad as algorithms can be, as much as they can reinforce these problems, it is a lot easier to fix a biased algorithm than a biased society, a biased doctor, or a biased health-care system."⁹⁰ There are cases that prove Obermeyer's point; for example, in response to findings that the several commercially available facial analysis systems perform significantly worse on women and individuals with

darker skin tones, "Microsoft and IBM reported that they had improved the accuracy of their facial analysis technologies along gender and racial lines."⁹¹ However, this technical improvement may not be aligned with other social goals or may be used to advance social goals that are obscured when the focus is on technical possibilities. Al can play an important role in detecting, exposing, and addressing both human and algorithmic bias,⁹² but greater clarity is needed on the limits of Al–what social problems it should not be applied to, what functions still require human oversight– and how these limits should be managed through both automated and human evaluation.

Implications

Examine the level of decisionmaking power delegated to machines.

As the name automated decision-making suggests, many of the examples highlighted here involve a

delegation of decision-making—from allocating health-care resources in the COVID-19 crisis to determining bail in a pretrial setting. Many in the field of AI are inviting us to examine the inequitable impacts of these models, but also the level and type of power delegated to machines. Abebe et al. outline for us four roles for computing research (diagnostic, formalizing, rebuttal, synecdoche), which focus primarily on using computing to illuminate rather than dictate.⁹³ Similarly, Vyas, Eisenstein, and Jones advise us to "distinguish between the use of race in descriptive statistics, where it plays a vital role in epidemiologic analyses, and in prescriptive clinical guidelines, where it can exacerbate inequities."⁹⁴

Acknowledge the history and bias of the inputs to automated decision-making tools.

ADS are popping up across our public functions.⁹⁵ Even before the proliferation of predictive analytics and automated risk assessments in our hospitals

and child welfare systems, community-based groups have long spoken out against the harm of the systems themselves. In turn, the history and biases that predate these tools must be considered as powerful inputs to the future of the systems. Algorithms are being used to determine who is deserving of **access** to critical systems that mark one's ability to participate in society, such as credit, mortgages, health insurance, and public benefits, often with limited government oversight. Algorithms are also being used to justify **intervention** in communities that have been historically overpoliced and oversurveilled. This mix of algorithms for gatekeeping and for targeting are tools to maintain historic social and spatial marginalization.

Recognize the difference between achieving technical fairness rather than other social goals.

As Abebe et al. put it, we "run the risk of transforming a policy discussion into one about what is technically possible, rather than what social aims are

ultimately desirable."⁹⁶ The push to delegate decision-making authority to algorithms can be driven by cost saving and efficiency goals as well as goals to equitably distribute resources. Disparate definitions of equity and technical "fairness" may complicate these goals and instead reify historic barriers to equity. There is a need to critically examine how technical tools and concerns of fairness enable society to avoid addressing the root causes of inequity. As Virginia Eubanks argues, "Like earlier technological innovations in poverty management, digital tracking and automated decision-making hide poverty from the professional middle-class public and give the nation the ethical distance it needs to make inhuman choices... [and] escape our shared responsibility for eradicating poverty."⁹⁷

The Spectrum of Surveillance Technologies: From Public Health Solutions to Pandemic Policing

While targeted surveillance of the poor and people of color has been a constant part of structural racism throughout history, AI increases the scale and invasiveness of surveillance through automation and new predictive capacity.98 The growing use of facial recognition and other forms of biometric surveillance, especially by law enforcement and other government agencies, raises serious privacy, civil rights, and racial justice concerns. Along with other automated tracking tools such as drones and license plate readers, these methods amplify the capacity for surveillance in public spaces. The ubiquity of smartphones has given rise to new "mobile device forensic tools" that allow law enforcement agencies to comprehensively search data from mobile phones, demonstrating the possible use of technology to invasively surveil the private realm by accessing highly sensitive information from emails, texts, photos, applications (including location data), and more.99 Police agency requests to tech companies to access user location histories, known as "geofence" warrants, have increased exponentially; Google reports an increase in requests by 1,500 percent from 2017 to 2018, and another 500 percent from 2018 to 2019.100

Kade Crockford, director of the Technology for Liberty Program at ACLU of Massachusetts, asserts that "artificial intelligence technologies like face recognition systems fundamentally change the balance of power between the people and the government."¹⁰¹This shift must be examined alongside the changing role and power of the technology industry. While vast sums of public resources are being invested in these technologies, private technology companies like Clearview AI, Palantir, Amazon, and others are leading their development—thereby profiting immensely through public-private partnerships and gaining access to multitudes of sensitive information in the process—as well as employing them for nongovernmental uses. Government and industry have deployed many of these tools without proper vetting, oversight, consent, or data security protections. The lack of standards combined with a lack of government regulation has resulted in significant mistakes,¹⁰² data breaches,¹⁰³ and potentially illegal uses104 with real human costs. Surveillance technologies have found new uses during the COVID-19 pandemic as public and private institutions across the globe seek solutions for controlling the spread of the novel coronavirus. Technologists and tech corporations now play a direct role in the public pandemic response through the shaping of public health interventions such as contact tracing. But beyond contact tracing, the current era of pandemic and protests has created an opening for testing numerous other tracking and surveillance technologies that rely on AI and ever-growing collections of data. While authorities have used public health and safety rationales to justify their use, many individuals and organizations have raised questions and concerns about how this moment may transform the future of public health, policing, and privacy.¹⁰⁵

CASE STUDY From Contact Tracing to Contact Policing

Contact tracing is a method of infectious disease control that aims to mitigate against a disease's spread by studying the way it is transmitted. Individuals who have been positively diagnosed receive help from public health workers on recalling the places they have gone and the people they may have come into contact with during the transmission period. Those individuals are then contacted and can take appropriate actions—including monitoring symptoms, seeking testing for infection or medical treatment, and self-isolating—to prevent further transmission.

The Proliferation of Digital Contact Tracing Tools

While this process has traditionally involved direct human interaction, governments are now working with companies to develop digital applications that may replace or complement manual contact tracing methods. The MIT Technology Review's Covid Tracing Tracker has detailed the use of twenty-five different automated contact tracing tools currently backed by national governments while also finding over one hundred and fifty separate efforts in preliminary stages of development.¹⁰⁶ These applications typically employ GPS and Bluetooth technology to determine the geographical location of individuals who have or may be exposed to COVID-19. While GPS technology utilizes satellites orbiting the earth to track cellular tracking data, it does not narrow down a person's location to a unit small enough that could identify the likelihood of contact or transmission between two specific individuals. Bluetooth technology, on the other hand, depends on Bluetooth devices (such as smartphones) being close enough in proximity to transmit data. This allows for contact tracing at a much closer range and, thus, more accurate prediction of actual contact between specific individuals.

The US Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) believes that the automation of contact tracing through digital tools can improve traditional methods by allowing individuals to electronically self-report infections and

relying on location data to identify and promptly notify unknown contacts at risk of exposure. Automation improves overall comprehensiveness, accuracy and, thus, effectiveness of data collection and management without relying heavily on the exposed individual to remember who and where they went during a certain time period, which is subject to error.¹⁰⁷ In addition to these benefits, digital contact tracing allows for the use of AI and machine learning to analyze data on suspected or confirmed cases gathered from applications or other key sources, such as news outlets, ambulance activity, and hospitals. With this information, AI can detect hot spots and forecast how the disease will move. This can surface critical findings to inform public officials' decisions regarding response, recovery, and even long-term scenario planning for prevention and preparedness in the event of a future outbreak.¹⁰⁸

Technological Limits Rooted in Lack of Public Trust and Abuses

While the CDC reports that there are privacy-preserving, proximity-sensitive technologies currently in development by many companies across the United States, public opinion surveys indicate these technologies raise significant privacy concerns. The Pew Research Center reports that Americans are largely divided over the acceptability of the government using cell phone data for contact tracing, with only 52 percent saying that it would be at least somewhat acceptable for the government to track locations of people who have tested positive for COVID-19 to understand the spread of the virus. Even fewer (37 percent) would support the use of tracking to ensure compliance with social distancing regulations. Past Pew surveys also indicate that the vast majority of Americans (81 percent) believe that potential risks of large-scale data collection by companies and the government outweigh any benefits, though very few (4 to 6 percent) report understanding what companies or the government do with the data collected about them.¹⁰⁹

These sentiments likely present a significant barrier for voluntary adoption of contact tracing applications, which may limit the efficacy of such tools. A University of Oxford study found that a population would need approximately 60 percent of the population or 80 percent of smartphone users to use a contact tracing app to suppress the COVID-19 pandemic without any other form of intervention.¹¹⁰ Amid growing skepticism around data privacy and overreach of government in personal lives, no country has successfully achieved the necessary usage rate. Even in Singapore, where there is strong trust in government policy acting for the common good, only 25 percent of the population had downloaded and used the government-sanctioned contact tracing application.¹¹¹ However, the researchers note that even at lower rates of uptake, digital contact tracing can still reduce the number of COVID-19 infections and deaths.¹¹²

The Oxford study's findings highlight the importance of government leadership in establishing a regulatory framework and coordinated response that engenders public trust. Researchers at Harvard University affirm that digital contact tracing and other technological solutions cannot "solve" the pandemic on their own, and without a foundation of effective government coordination of their use, such technologies will not be voluntarily adopted by the public and, thus, ineffective.¹¹³ They point to the need for government assurance of privacy controls that include fully voluntary use, robust data security, deidentification, and verifiable retention, in addition to a consistent effort toward building trust in government:

Tracing and containment must work hand in hand with building trust in institutions and governance bodies to increase adherence, and to make enforcement more of a social enforcement possibility than a top-down security effort. This can come only through a concerted effort at consistency, transparency, and scientific accuracy in messaging from institutional players, with practical guidelines and clear recommendations...In order to drive voluntary adoption, it needs to be clear to people that a technical solution will actually help solve the problems they're experiencing and witnessing around them. Without a centralized decision maker providing a coordinated response that includes both containment of the illness and support—both for those diagnosed as positive and for those struggling in other ways due to the cascading effects of the pandemic—these tools will not be adopted, and will not be able to collect sufficient data for smart testing.¹¹⁴

The US pandemic response and regulatory framework for mitigation technologies, however, is far from clear. As with most emerging technologies, no government agency has clear jurisdiction over contact tracing applications, leaving their use highly unregulated. The vacuum created by the lack of a national standard or regulatory framework has been filled by an unworkable network where the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (HIPAA) applies only in some cases.¹¹⁵ Because HIPAA is specifically designed to regulate medical institutions, its applicability to tools developed and implemented by tech companies-which are governed by a different set of consumer regulations, but whose tools may indeed draw from patient data and reports from HIPAA-regulated institutions-is a legal grey area. In Spring 2020, there were various proposals from Democrat and Republican senators to address gaps in privacy law for the flurry of digital products introduced, such as the COVID-19 Consumer Data Protection Act (S.6633), which would clarify privacy and consent requirements for digital contact tracing applications and delegate enforcement to the Federal Trade Commission and state attorneys general.¹¹⁶ But some of the bills had serious flaws and gaps, and none of them made any headway in Congress. While the the COVID-19 Consumer Data Protection Act would have required applications to (1) allow users to opt-out of data collection and employ the right to be forgotten,¹¹⁷ (2) deidentify personally identifiable information when no longer being used for a health emergency, and (3) obtain informed consent to collect data from the user and be clear on how the data may be shared with other parties, it would not have protected users from the company selling either the geolocation or personal health

information collected by the app for marketing purposes.¹¹⁸ In reflecting on the fizzling out of privacy bills and contact tracing apps, the Brookings Institute calls for "clear and enforceable privacy rules across the entire marketplace, one that protects our personal information in good times and in times of crisis."¹¹⁹

Without government protections to prevent misuse or monetization of personal data gathered by contact tracing applications, breaches of privacy have already occurred. For example, a privacy audit of North Dakota's contact tracing application, Care19, found that the application's developer shared private user data-including unique identifiers and location data-with third-party apps Foursquare and Google.¹²⁰ This was in direct violation of the application's privacy policy, which communicated to users their data would be securely stored and not shared with other parties unless consent is given and compelled under regulations. Moreover, without a centralized, federal effort to develop a contact tracing application in the United States, similar to guarantine policies, states are left to individually decide if they will implement the technology and separately manage data security and logistical problems.¹²¹ A fragmented state-by-state effort also limits the technologies' effectiveness by hindering contact tracing across state borders and consistent methods of data collection that are essential for a coordinated, evidence-based response.¹²²

The challenges and risks associated with digital contact tracing once again demonstrate the importance of approaching the integration of technology through a sociotechnical lens. The work involved in scaling the effective, ethical use of emerging technologies is not solely technical, but a political project. Furthermore, as researchers studying the use of digital contact tracing tools warn, these technologies cannot be treated as a panacea

that can entirely replace the human element of public health intervention or investment in a broader range of less-tech-intensive solutions.¹²³ Rather, to be effective, they must be integrated within a broader strategic response that ensures a functioning health-care system, which includes shelter-in-place policies; adequate hospital capacity; and production of protective equipment, tests, and treatments.¹²⁴

Check out this **blog** from our partners at Human Impact Partners, examining the history of contact tracing and their recommendations for equitably integrating digital contact tracing into our public health response.

Disparate Impacts of Expanded Pandemic Surveillance on Communities of Color

Numerous privacy experts have spoken out about the long-term privacy threat that pandemic surveillance tools may unleash. Joseph Cannataci, United Nations special rapporteur on the right to privacy, states that the danger is that measures brought in to protect citizens in exceptional circumstances, when most people accept they are needed, could outlast the current crisis. "Any form of data can be misapplied in incredibly bad ways...If you have a leader who wants to abuse the system, the system is there," and it can target members of ethnic or religious minorities, exposing them to the risk of violence and discrimination, Cannataci asserts.¹²⁵

The application of digital contact tracing technology already tends to target marginalized populations. For example, because congregational living spaces are high-risk places for infectious disease transmission, the CDC reports that facilities that house many people are a priority for contact tracing. These include correctional facilities, group homes, homeless shelters, long-term care facilities, and crowded multigenerational housing.¹²⁶ Many of these facilities have a disproportionate number of racially and socially marginalized individuals (Black and Latinx people) and medically sensitive individuals (elderly people and individuals with preexisting conditions). Another example is found in society's expanded dependency on low-wage essential workers-from delivery drivers to warehouse workers-whose jobs increase their likelihood of not just exposure to the virus, but also surveillance in the workplace. Lastly, amid the convergence of COVID-19 quarantine tracking and contact tracing with nationwide protests during the summer of 2020, there has been a concern for how this technology is combined with facial recognition to enable surveillance of communities by law enforcement agencies.

While the stated goal of contact tracing and other pandemic mitigation technologies may be to ensure public health and safety, their disproportionate use in surveilling marginalized populations equates to disproportionate policing and punishment. The following cases demonstrate how surveillance has expanded as a tool for social control since the beginning of the pandemic in essential workplaces, in public spaces, and in digital spaces.

Workplace Surveillance

Some companies have required employees to wear Bluetooth-operated contact tracking devices that monitor coworkers' proximity to one another and alert users when they do not maintain the recommended six feet of distance to prevent the spread of COVID-19.¹²⁷ Along with other devices like temperature-monitoring bracelets or remote sensing thermometers that transmit body temperatures,¹²⁸ these technologies pose disparate privacy risks and social impacts of health status disclosure (victim-blaming, harassment, and discrimination) to certain workers¹²⁹—particularly essential workers and those who are unable to

work from home, who are disproportionately women, people of color, and low-income. $^{\!\!130}$

Amazon has employed contact tracing technology to enforce social distancing of their warehouse workers, penalizing them for violating the six feet of separation.¹³¹ Penalties could result in negative consequences such as marks on their record, lower morale, greater worker anxiety, and loss of employment.¹³² An Amazon employee pointed out that this surveillance unfairly targets lower-wage workers, such as warehouse workers who perform manual labor, while managers at the same facility are not similarly penalized, let alone surveilled, for violating social distancing.¹³³ These workers often do not have a choice in being subject to surveillance, especially if they must continue working to earn a living despite the ongoing pandemic, as Ben Winters of the Electronic Privacy Information Center explains.¹³⁴ Furthermore, relying on surveillance to manage the pandemic fails to address the underlying health and safety concernsinstead placing the burden on workers to stay safe, despite lacking the appropriate resources, rather than employers taking the responsibility to protect their workers through systematic changes to operations.¹³⁵

These digital contact or social distancing tracking tools are simply the latest form of targeted surveillance and policing by Amazon. An Open Markets Institute report calls the e-commerce giant "first and foremost a surveillance company. Data collection is the core of its business model... Amazon surveils consumers, competitors, citizens, and immigrants, and it invasively and ubiquitously surveils its employees."¹³⁶ The company's use of social distancing tracking reflects its general practice of intense tracking of worker behavior and punishment for failing to meet harmful expectations of productivity.¹³⁷ Amazon has also come under criticism for using predictive analytics to identify and monitor locations where employees are most likely to unionize.¹³⁸ As the parent company of the Whole Foods Market chain, Amazon has created an "interactive heat map" to visualize the risk of union organizing at Whole Foods Market locations based on factors such as percentage of families near the poverty line, workers' compensation claims, racial diversity, and employee turnover.¹³⁹

This monitoring of employee behavior to observe likelihood to unionize has been happening long before AI has been available. The use of technology, which copies human thought patterns and applies them to large employee databases with multitudes of data on employees across hundreds of

store locations, makes surveillance and decision-making easier for the company. Technology like Bluetooth contact tracing increases the possibility of invasive monitoring of employee-to-employee interactions to further suppress and punish unionizing efforts. Technology thus exacerbates the imbalance of power between workers and corporate

Check out this piece from our partners at Human Impact Partners on the health and societal impacts of workplace surveillance of warehouse workers and rideshare drivers. employers while enabling companies to obfuscate responsibility for unfair labor practices and workplace conditions that pose serious public health threats.

Facial Recognition and Mass Surveillance of Public Spaces

In Detroit, advocates from the Detroit Community Technology Project have documented the Detroit Police Department's use of its mass surveillance system to monitor compliance with social distancing orders, which has resulted in the issuing of over 1,700 tickets with fines of up to \$1,000 each in a city whose population is over 80 percent African American and where the median income is under \$30,000.¹⁴⁰ The city's surveillance program, Project Green Light, is a \$20 million public-private partnership that utilizes facial recognition technology in combination with nearly 700 cameras installed throughout the city as well as mobile cameras. While the program began in 2016 with cameras located at gas stations to "deter, identify, and solve crime," the cameras now exist in a range of public spaces, including medical centers, pharmacies, grocery stores, community centers, public and privately owned low-income housing, and even churches and schools.¹⁴¹

Mass surveillance of large cities has sparked lawsuits to protect citizens' biometric data. In October 2020, the ACLU of Northern California and Electronic Frontier Foundation filed a lawsuit against the San Francisco Police Department (SFPD), claiming that the agency violated San Francisco's own surveillance ban, Ordinance 107-19, which prohibits government agencies' use of surveillance tools without prior approval from the Board of Supervisors except for emergency situations. The plaintiffs presented records showing that SFPD requested and received access to the Union Square Business Improvement District's network of over 400 cameras in Union Square, which the department used to obtain real-time footage of the summer 2020 protests following the police killing of George Floyd in Minneapolis.¹⁴² Hope Williams, the lead plaintiff in this lawsuit and a protest organizer, condemned SFPD's covert actions, stating: "It is an affront to our movement for equity and justice that the SFPD responded by secretly spying on us. We have the right to organize, speak out, and march without fear of police surveillance."143

These examples demonstrate how technology is used to further a long history of targeted policing, criminalization, and mass incarceration of Black and Brown people in the United States. Vulnerable communities bear the burden of criminal fines and penalties, as well as potential admission into criminal databases without access to legal recourse against unjust charges. These consequences become additional barriers to opportunity, employment, and economic stability, thus widening racial and economic disparities. Meanwhile, public institutions have become increasingly organized around carceral systems, for example, by relying on criminal fines and fees as a source of revenue.¹⁴⁴ Technology has further enabled this, proving profitable for both law enforcement agencies and technology companies. For example, the Brennan Center for Justice reports that under New York Mayor Michael Bloomberg, the New York Police Department
(NYPD) partnered with Microsoft to develop license-plate-reading cameras to track residents and their cars. As part of the business agreement, the City of New York would receive a portion of the profits whenever

Microsoft licensed the technology to another city.¹⁴⁵ The NYPD has also directly enabled the development of new surveillance technologies by providing companies like IBM with vast amounts of surveillance data to train new tools, including facial recognition devices.¹⁴⁶

Check out our panel event on The Surveillance State, Social Safety, and Building Power with campaigners, organizers, and advocates

Social Media Surveillance

With online networks being social in nature, societal power relations transfer over to these digital spaces. Similar to the Federal Bureau of Investigation's (FBI's) history of targeting and surveilling Black activists during the civil rights movement, the same federal agency has used social media platforms to target, surveil, and censor Black activists, whom the agency labels "Black identity extremists." Some Black social media users report being temporarily kicked off of the platform—colloquially called "Facebook Jail"—or allowed fewer posts after posting about issues affecting Black experiences like online or offline anti-Black harassment or affirming pride in Black identity.

Media Justice, a New York-based organization, has led the charge in advocating for better transparency on the surveillance the FBI is collecting on Black activists on Twitter. In March 2019, the organization joined the ACLU in filing a Freedom of Information Act suit against the FBI after a 2017 leak exposed that the agency had identified Black-led social movements protesting police brutality as "Black identity extremists." Media Justice stresses that this focus by the intelligence agency criminalizes organizations advocating and organizing for civil rights on online spaces and obscures the real threat that white supremacists pose to the safety of the nation. To contextualize the amount of data that is collected on Black online users, Media Justice estimates around 18,000 pages—nearly as many FBI files are known to exist on Dr. Martin Luther King Jr.'s political and organizing work.¹⁴⁷

The impact of being labeled a "Black identity extremist" has serious consequences as it carries a "terrorist" designation. Media Justice points out that there has been no confirmed connection between Black groups or individuals on social media and terroristic threats, yet there are clear connections between white supremacist groups who organize and disseminate information online and numerous US domestic terrorist attacks as seen in Charlottesville, North Carolina; synagogue shootings in Poway, California, and Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania; and the church massacre in Charleston, North Carolina. Moreover, white supremacist groups are not given the designation of "racially motivated violent extremism" and as a result are not tracked as Black activists are, wrongfully labeled, and surveilled. The leaked FBI files also determined that groups were targeted more than known terrorist group AI Qaeda. Besides the lawsuit against the FBI for transparency in Black activist surveillance, Media Justice asks the public in their #ProtectBlackDissent campaign to respond to their call to action by using the very same social media platforms used for surveillance, to tweet and interact with members of Congress.

Implications of Mass Digital Surveillance

In a study done after Edward Snowden's revelations of government surveillance, researchers found that when research participants received subtle reminders of government surveillance, they were more likely to self-censor their nonconformist options.¹⁴⁸ Counterintuitively, self-censure was highest among subjects who felt government surveillance was for the good of all.¹⁴⁹ The increase in self-censure when primed for government surveillance has implications for a healthy democracy, where individuals should be free to express a diversity of perspectives. Moreover, if Blackidentifying individuals encounter a disproportionate amount of online surveillance, the ability to express discontent with the status quo, find solidarity with people who face similar daily challenges, organize groups, and advocate for civil rights becomes stifled if, like the study shows, they are more likely to self-censor themselves due to awareness of being the target of heightened surveillance.

Key Factors Driving Unjust Outcomes and Structural Marginalization

Concerns over surveillance range across several issues, including flaws within existing surveillance technologies, a potential end to individual privacy, and the growing reliance on carceral technologies as solutions to complex social problems. Here we examine the elements of surveillance technology that contribute to disparate racial impacts.

Fundamentally Flawed Technologies

Numerous studies have found that AI models frequently do not work as intended when attempting to recognize or identify women and darker-skinned individuals. A study by leading researchers of algorithmic bias, Joy Buolamwini and Timnit Gebru, found that commercial facial recognition technologies had error rates as high as 34 percent for darker-skinned women, while light-skinned men were not misidentified more than a rate of 0.8 percent.¹⁵⁰ Another systematic study of over 180 facial recognition algorithms by the National Institute of Standards and Technology found many algorithms are far more likely to inaccurately identify photographs of Black or East Asian faces (especially images of Black women), compared to white faces—some up to 100 times more likely to accurately identify a white face.¹⁵¹ This is in part due to the fact that data used to "train" the AI often fails to represent the full diversity of the human population.

Despite these known flaws and lack of rigorous testing, law enforcement agencies have utilized facial recognition for over 20 years.¹⁵² This can have serious consequences for nonwhite individuals, such as the case of Robert Williams, a Black man from Michigan who was wrongly detained by the Detroit Police Department after being misidentified by the agency's facial recognition software, despite verified evidence he was not the suspect in the surveillance video.¹⁵³ When Williams was arrested, he was not asked any questions or if he had an alibi by police,¹⁵⁴ nor was he given a reason for the arrest.¹⁵⁵ This direct violation of Robert Williams's rights is also a manifestation of what the AI Now Institute at New York University calls representational harms: "harms caused by systems that reproduce and amplify harmful stereotypes, often doing so in ways that mirror assumptions used to justify discrimination and inequality."¹⁵⁶ Rashida Richardson of Rutgers University and former director of policy research at AI Now points to the example of how racially biased and flawed technologies reinforce the stereotype of Black and Brown communities being more prone to criminality.¹⁵⁷ In the long term, this further enables the use of carceral technologies¹⁵⁸ and can force or completely [remove from] the table other types of reforms that community members are asking for... without looking at the structural concerns [and asking] whether or not technology is the right approach to fixing those problems."159

Increased Corporate and State Power to Surveil Marginalized Populations

Flawed and inaccurate surveillance technologies are an element of the problem, but inequity perpetuated by surveillance is not simply a technological issue. "We often say that [facial recognition] is dangerous when it's wrong, but it's also dangerous when it's right," states Esha Bhandari, a senior staff attorney with the ACLU Speech, Privacy, and Technology Project. It is also an issue of power and individual rightswho has a choice when it comes to being surveilled, and who has no option to reject it. "If we got to a world where facial recognition accuracy is improved-and I have no doubt that the private sector is working to respond to the critiques-a world of more accurate facial recognition has as pernicious an effect on communities of color because it enables widespread surveillance, enables identifying people at protests, people's associations and where they go, [especially] in neighborhoods that might already be overpoliced."¹⁶⁰ Bhandari's concerns are grounded in reality. In response to the findings in Buolamwini and Gebru's study, IBM spent nine months "substantially increasing the accuracy of its new Watson Visual Recognition service for facial analysis."161 In order to beef up its face unlock feature's ability to accurately identify "a diverse set of faces," Google allegedly contracted out to a company that explicitly targeted homeless people with darker skin tones.¹⁶² But there are less headline-grabbing and opaque tactics that corporations use to strengthen the tools that surveil us.

Both private companies and government agencies have turned over information on consumers or service users in their databases for research to better train computers. Facebook has come under scrutiny for selling data from users' photos to companies like Clearview. Law enforcement has also used photos from their records to teach computer programs how to recognize an image as a human face and match that face to a particular identity. Facebook users and those in government databases are not informed when their images are used to build algorithms and to generate profits. As Jack Poulson, a former research scientist at Google, notes, "With a corporate partnership, there comes to be a lot of secrecy. The tech companies are not transparent about who has access to the data they collect or how they access training data for their products."163 Consumers' private information is being used to "teach" machine learning technology how to recognize human faces, how to microtarget advertisements, and more. In human subjects research, researchers must seek out informed consent from participants in order to use participants' private information for their research purposes. This is seldom the case in the traditional methods that tech companies use to acquire training data for their machine learning technologies. The debate on how the medical community's doctrine of informed consent should transfer into computer scientists' understanding of their ethical responsibility to end users is nascent and has focused on cases where machine learning is used directly in a health-care setting.¹⁶⁴

While the ethical debate on consent and privacy in product development plods along, the technical capacity to source data in new ways continues to explode with little regulation. In addition to the ever-expanding sources of data for tools of surveillance, the linkages between surveillance tools themselves are becoming more and more sophisticated. As Poulson notes, "There's data and who moves the data and owns it. Data you thought was in your doctor's office is now in a police database and can be linked to other information. Al and machine learning have created

interoperability, making it possible to move data seamlessly. Once captured electronically, there's very little control over understanding where it goes or where it's been."¹⁶⁵ This phenomenon plays out in different scenarios where marginalized communities are already the most vulnerable—from immigration enforcement and local policing to housing—and where there is profit to be made off of

Check out our podcast where Jacinta González, an organizer with Mijente, explains how ICE and other law enforcement agencies are using surveillance technologies to target immigrant communities and other communities of color.

mass amounts of data of interest to the state. For example, Mijente's #NoTechForIce campaign has exposed a network of web server hosts, consulting firms, software analytics firms, and data brokers that track immigrants subject to the control of ICE.¹⁶⁶ These profit-seeking tech and data companies are interweaving data from employers, police, and social media to fuel the US immigration system's deportation machine. These webs of interconnected data use ever-more advanced technologies, but they are simply evolving a timeless mandate for using state and corporate power to build structures that marginalize. As the Stop LAPD Spying



Coalition demonstrates in its **Stalker State map**, the entities with interest in surveillance preexist the technologies themselves and range from universities to state intelligence agencies to the military.

Implications

Procurement of technologies, entering into data-sharing agreements, and other seemingly innocuous efforts to "modernize" public services are policy decisions. With the current capacities of the public sector, digitizing often means privatizing. We see this in the examples of digital contact tracing being outsourced to start-ups and in

the contracts with Palantir, Microsoft, Amazon, and data brokers in the work of criminalizing immigration. Most immediately, this points us to the importance of treating procurement and vendoring of technology systems as policy choices with equity impacts. Looking longer term, the reliance on digital technologies for contact tracing, vaccine rollout, and other public health responses points us to the possibilities of further investment in digital public infrastructure.

We must unpack the motivation of seeking profit through surveillance technologies and of maintaining a status quo where some people and communities are perceived as a threatening "other". While recognizing the power of public oversight of and public investment in technology, many of the harms outlined here preexist the introduction of technology and are at times meted out by governments

themselves. Companies and governments investing in the production, improvement, and dissemination of surveillance technologies are taking advantage of existing breakages in our society: breakages on who is fully seen as human and deserving of privacy or the ability to consent. The paths forward can include regulation and oversight on technology, like strict limits to data sharing between public health departments and police when digitally contact tracing during COVID-19 and future pandemics. Or the path forward can focus on unraveling the roots of the systems that make turning to surveillance technology in our workplaces, public places, and digital spaces desirable and profitable. Opportunities to invest in community and collective well-being are displaced when we invest in surveillance technology in service of maintaining structures that "other."

Our goal should be to construct a world where community care comes first.

Racial disparities are apparent in the use of surveillance data to pursue those accused of crimes and in the practice of

monitoring and censoring community activism on social media. These disparities exist because of existing narratives around who is a threat and whose privacy is important. In contrast, certain values-privacy, consent, accountability, contestability-are afforded to those who are not seen as threats. In the health-care setting, there is an industry debate on the ethical use of data sharing and "what to tell the patient" about the emerging prevalence of medical AI based on active surveillance.¹⁶⁷ In workplaces like Amazon, which is bifurcated between high-wage corporate work and low-wage warehouse work, surveillance technologies are being deployed against warehouse workers with little industry debate. Amazon workers experience "nearly double the national average rate of warehouse workplace injury and chronic stress from the workload and work quota system" administered by surveillance technology.¹⁶⁸ As awareness of these disparities grows, it is important not to focus our efforts on a more equitable distribution of surveillance, but rather a world with universal goals of centering care for all.

COVID-19, Social Media Manipulation, and Our Changing Information Ecosystem

Social media has become a primary influence on popular culture and politics, driving a paradigm shift within the traditional media industry and modes of public discourse globally—redefining the proverbial public square. Facebook and YouTube are the most popular social media sites, with approximately 70 percent of US adults surveyed by the Pew Research Center having a presence on social media and over 50 percent using Facebook several times a day.^{169 W}orld leaders have recognized that apps like Twitter provide an influential platform for direct, constant communication with citizens, with nearly one thousand officials at the highest levels of government across the world among Twitter's user base.¹⁷⁰

The collective nature baked into social media creates new opportunities to connect across geographical space, widely disseminate important information, democratize content creation, and amplify underrepresented voices. But digital spaces can also be usurped by individuals and institutions that engage in harassment, misinformation and disinformation campaigns, and surveillance—with powerful consequences beyond the digital realm. These threats have been realized as the COVID-19 pandemic has unfolded, prompting debate over the responsibility that social media companies have in moderating false and harmful content. This debate is not new, as the spread of false and harmful content on social media has been the conduit for violence against marginalized groups across the globe with little resolve from tech companies or their intended regulators.¹⁷¹

The COVID-19 pandemic has increased people's reliance on technology for health information on the novel virus and to maintain social connections during stay-at-home orders. This increased dependency on technology is associated with physical and mental health risks. During the first weeks of quarantine, iPhone users expressed anxiety and playful competition over the phone's screen time reports that showed spikes in the amount of screen time. Some reported an increase of as much as 180 percent of screen time in the first week of quarantine.¹⁷² This increased time on devices also meant the nation and the world were more reliant on social media for "collective sense-making"¹⁷³ of other historical moments unrelated to COVID-19, such as the police killing of George Floyd in Minneapolis and the uniquely strained 2020 US presidential election. While the public health crisis of police killings of Black people and the phenomenon of images of recorded killings going viral is not new, the nuances of social media virality during global stay-athome orders has been considered a contributor to the uprisings and ongoing #DefundThePolice and abolition movements following Floyd's murder. The convergence of COVID-19, the 2020 US presidential election, and the historic 2020 protest movement highlighted the challenges of collectively processing information online.

Social media has played a central role in circulating unprecedented amounts of false information about the pandemic, from its causes and who is to blame, to how members of the public should respond to prevent the virus's spread. False information is often described in two ways: misinformation and disinformation, which are distinguished by intent. Misinformation refers to information that is unintentionally inaccurate. In the case of COVID-19, incidences of misinformation tend to reflect the fact that little is known about the topic. This increases the possibility of unintentionally misconstruing data or sharing information that, as research progresses, is later found to be incorrect. In contrast, disinformation suggests willful deception or misrepresentation of data. Both forms of false information prominently shaped public opinions and actions throughout 2020, and their uncontrolled spread-largely via social media-has been described by the World Health Organization and other health officials as an "infodemic."¹⁷⁴ This section explores how information-false, true, and somewhere in betweenhas spread during the COVID-19 pandemic, how the original design and motivations for social media's engineering are at play, and how the impacts are felt in different communities.

CASE STUDY

Misinformation and Disinformation during the COVID-19 Pandemic

As social interactions have increased on virtual spaces like Facebook, Instagram, and Twitter during the pandemic, false information on these platforms has spread at an astounding scale and speed. An April 2020 study by the Reuters Institute for the Study of Journalism reports that one out of three individuals across six countries had been exposed to misleading information about COVID-19.¹⁷⁵ Recent research estimates that bots are responsible for half of all Twitter accounts spreading false information about COVID-19.¹⁷⁶ The Global Investigative Journalism Network defines bots as algorithms posting content rather than a human being, and notes that the three key bot indicators are "anonymity, high levels of activity, and amplification of particular users, topics or hashtags."¹⁷⁷

A systematic literature review on the spread of health-related misinformation on social media found that, even prior to the COVID-19 pandemic, misinformation regarding other infectious diseases (such as those caused by the Ebola and Zika viruses) and associated vaccine treatments is most prevalent by far, compared to other topics such as cancer or diet and nutrition.¹⁷⁸ This study suggests that there is something about infectious diseases, especially novel viruses that scientific knowledge has not yet caught up to, that makes them overwhelmingly subject to misinformation.

Research on the spread of online misinformation shows that the perceived lack of a scientific consensus about a health issue is fertile ground for the amplification of health misinformation.¹⁷⁹ Experts note that when scientific information reaches the public, but seems uncertain (as is often the case with novel viruses that scientists are researching) or is met with contradiction as knowledge and information builds, the public loses faith in the health institutions and turns to alternative explanations. This opens the door for conspiracy theorists to come up with alternative explanations of the origins of the virus and even push their miracle cures that they sell online.¹⁸⁰ The social media landscape has fostered what Renée DiResta of the Stanford Internet Observatory describes as a "conspiratorial ecosystem," where public distrust of state and public health institutions is cultivated.¹⁸¹ Researchers point to the antivaccine, or "antivaxxer," movement as a predecessor of the false information and conspiracy theories spreading about COVID-19, its treatments, and its origin. Dr. K. "Vish" Viswanath of the Harvard T. H. Chan School of Public Health goes further to suggest the antivaxxers and COVID-19 conspiracists may be working together.¹⁸² The spread of the antivaccine movement demonstrates how information regarding negative experiences with health-care treatment is more likely than positive experiences to spread online,183 and rumors become more popular than evidence-based information.¹⁸⁴

The following are examples of COVID-19 conspiracy theories and false information regarding the virus that were widely disseminated on social media platforms over the course of 2020. It is often difficult to determine the difference between a conspiracy theory or rumor that emerges organically—lending itself to the definition of misinformation—and an intentional disinformation campaign.¹⁸⁵ The power of a trusted or well-amplified voice is a consistent through line in examples of false information being widely disseminated.

Online Conspiracy Theories Creating Physical Risks

The conspiracy theory linking 5G cell phone towers to COVID-19 was one of the most dominant misinformative discourses early in the pandemic. *Wired* magazine traces the conspiracy theory origins to a January 2020 article in the Belgian newspaper *Het Laatste Nieuws.*¹⁸⁶ The article called attention to unsubstantiated assertions made by a physician, Kris Van Kerckhoven, that the COVID-19 virus may be associated with the 5G towers that were built in Wuhan, China, where the virus originated. This theory built on existing claims that have circulated for years regarding adverse health effects tied to telecommunications technology, such as mobile phones and high-voltage power lines.¹⁸⁷ By March 2020, the ten most viewed 5G conspiracy theory videos linking COVID-19 to the technology had been viewed 5.8 million times.¹⁸⁸ In April 2020, social media posts by celebrities

such as John Cusack and Woody Harrelson further amplified the theory, reaching at least 487 Facebook communities across 30 countries and 84 Instagram accounts with an audience of nearly 60,000 followers.¹⁸⁹

The unsubstantiated link between COVID-19 and 5G and other conspiracy theories has been associated with material violence and impacts on infrastructure and public safety. In the United Kingdom, it is suspected that large Facebook groups like "Stop 5G U.K.," with more than 58,000 members, encouraged actions that led to arson and destruction of dozens of cell phone towers.¹⁹⁰ Believers have harassed and threatened the safety of groups believed to be behind the conspiracy, including health professionals, vaccine advocates, and telecommunications technicians.¹⁹¹ Following the spread of conspiracy theories related to vaccines by celebrities and social media influencers, death threats were sent to high profile authorities and advocates for a COVID-19 vaccine, including Dr. Anthony Fauci and Bill Gates.¹⁹²

Medical Misinformation as a Danger to Public Health and Safety

Unsubstantiated claims about medical treatments can have deadly effects on the people who use them. When then president Donald Trump touted the antimalarial drug hydroxychloroquine as a preventative treatment or "miracle" cure for COVID-19,¹⁹³ at least one individual died from consuming a nonprescribed version of the drug. The president only cited anecdotal evidence of the off-market application of the drug, while the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) issued a conflicting statement that cautioned the public against its use outside of hospital care and clinical trials due to the potential of serious side effects.¹⁹⁴ Despite the FDA's announcement, the president's words and authority influenced many people wanting to protect themselves as well as many others seeking to profit from the situation.

Following then president Trump's statements, pharmacists reported that the increase in demand for the drug risked supplies for people who depend on it as a treatment for chronic conditions.¹⁹⁵ HealthWarehouse, an online pharmacy that fills prescriptions of hydroxychloroquine, reported that the monthly demand for the drug increased by 5,000 percent.¹⁹⁶ Ross Goetz, business manager for the company, remarked in an NPR interview that many of the physicians signing the requests had been out of practice for years and were not doctors of internal medicine, but dentists, podiatrists, and veterinarians.¹⁹⁷

Disparate Impacts of Media Manipulation on Communities of Color

False Health Information Targeted at Communities of Color

Due to targeted, race-based messaging, specific historically marginalized demographic groups may be more exposed to or impacted by false information during the pandemic. This includes African Americans, who have had one of the highest COVID-19 fatality rates among racial groups in the United States.¹⁹⁸ In mid-2020, a widely circulated Facebook post with

the headline "People of Color May Be Immune to Coronavirus Because of Melanin" spread the false belief that African Americans are immune to COVID-19.199 Jahmil Lacey, a health disparities researcher, explains that this may have contributed to the disproportionate impact of the virus on African American communities.²⁰⁰ As Lacey points out, this case demonstrates how social media can perniciously deepen the distrust that many African Americans already have of medical professionals, which is rooted in historic cases of systematic abuse of African Americans, like the Tuskegee Experiment.²⁰¹ Aside from conspiracy theories, factual reports of contemporary acts by government officials-such as then vice president Mike Pence's announcement of a plan to test an experimental drug to treat COVID-19 on 3,000 residents in the majority African American city of Detroit-further break trust in government and medical institutions.²⁰² Together, these stories drive the "othering" of communities who already face layers of discrimination within the health-care system, all while they are most deeply impacted by the pandemic.

False Narratives Driving Xenophobia and Racial Violence

Misinformation regarding COVID-19's origins in China has fueled anti-Asian sentiment on local and global scales. Early origin stories linked the disease to the consumption of raw bats purchased in the Wuhan, China, market. Videos of Asian people consuming bat soup dishes and photos of bats packaged in cling wrap on display in a marketplace circulated online. The videos of restaurant customers eating bat soup have been debunked as not originating in China,²⁰³ and the video footage of bats sold in what appears to be the Wuhan market have also been exposed as footage from an entirely different country.²⁰⁴ These viral images linked Asian Americans with historic racist tropes that associate Asian people with dangerous, unsanitary, and unsafe eating practices. The rise of these xenophobic notions came with a wave of anti-Asian harassment and violence, including vandalism of Asian American businesses and physical attacks in which people report being spat on, told to "go back to China," or blamed for bringing the virus to the United States.²⁰⁵

The Anti-Defamation League documented over 90 cases of anti-Asian harassment from January to June 2020.²⁰⁶ More recently in 2021, the national coalition group Stop AAPI Hate released a report describing the nearly 3,800 hate incidents reported against Asian Americans and Pacific Islanders, with online harassment making up nearly 7 percent of the reports.²⁰⁷ This behavior has been fueled by politicians' use of terms like the "Chinese virus" or "Wuhan virus" for COVID-19, which strips it of its scientific name and attaches it to a geographical, national identity. Empirical research shows that this "othering" behavior by elite conservative politicians "activated" preexisting anti-Asian sentiment and xenophobia.²⁰⁸ Besides then president Trump repeatedly referring to COVID-19 as "the Wuhan virus," other high-level US government leaders, such as Arkansas Senator Tom Cotton, tweeted messages suggesting that the Chinese government developed the virus in a lab and was hiding the severity of COVID-19.209 While promoting xenophobia, these narratives also functioned to shift blame for the United States' lack of preparedness onto China.

These politically motivated attacks are further strengthened by the power of technological tools such as bots. Bots are predominantly found on Twitter and other social networks that allow users to create multiple accounts. Twitter reportedly removed nearly 24,000 accounts of suspected bots from its platform for spreading false information about the Chinese government's response to the virus.²¹⁰ The suspected bot accounts were perceived to counter claims of the United States' mishandling of the pandemic, while some tweets claimed the virus originated in the United States.

In this way, bots can be seen as the strong winds propelling the digital wildfires started by bad actors, who find opportunities to play on existing prejudices and social conditions to shape narratives to their preference.

Networks like Twitter are designed for us to seamlessly share content within our own networks and reach people far outside of our networks-this ease of use is an intentional product design feature often described as a lack of "friction" in modern-day social media.²¹¹ The frictionless nature of social media provides fertile ground for bots to spread information-especially sensationalized, false information-at a scale impossible for humans to achieve. Social media does not require information to be true, let alone verified, to be shared. Most networks allow for users to be anonymous and hold multiple accounts without verification that the account is managed by a human rather than an algorithm. Many tech companies managing social media networks inconsistently hold public figures-who the public may regard as credible sources-accountable for the misinformation they post. The long-awaited banning of President Trump from Twitter for election misinformation in early 2021 is an example of this. These conditions of social media predating the COVID-19 pandemic converge with the hateful motivations of political actors and the advancements in automated technologies in the form of bots. In this way, bots can be seen as the strong winds propelling the digital wildfires started by bad actors, who find opportunities to play on existing prejudices and social conditions to shape narratives to their preference.

Mental Health Impacts of Viral Black Death

The ubiquity of portable camera phones and ease of livestreaming or uploading footage on social media have contributed to instances of anti-Black violence in the United States going viral on social media platforms across the world. This has increased public awareness of the systematically unequal treatment of Black individuals by law enforcement while also creating disproportionate negative health consequences for Black viewers.

Police violence continues to be one of the leading causes of death for Black Americans. Roughly one out of one thousand Black men are at risk of dying at the hands of the police-nearly three times more likely over the course of their lives compared to white men.²¹² Given the disproportionate risk of death at the hands of government authorities that Black Americans face, there have been studies asserting police violence as a public health threat. However, not much attention has been given to the mental health impacts of being exposed to viral images of Black death where the victim's final moments are captured on video and posted on social media platforms for the public to view and share. The 2018 Lancet study on self-reported mental health of subjects who had heard of a police killing of a Black person revealed that, while both Black and white Americans report poor mental health days after hearing such news, Black research participants reported 0.14 additional poor mental health days for each police killing of Black men they had heard of. This research implies that Black Americans are not only disproportionately at risk of police violence, but also bear the psychological burden of the poor mental health that comes along with knowing about the loss of life due to excessive force by police.

Social media magnifies the extent to which individuals are exposed to viral images of Black individuals dying at the hands of law enforcement. In the wake of the deaths of Philando Castile and Terence Crutcher, a 2016 PBS interview with Monnica Williams, director of the Center for Mental Health Disparities at the University of Louisville, stated that vicarious trauma induced by graphic videos combined with the lived experience of racism can result in symptoms of post-traumatic stress disorder.²¹³ According to Williams, the social media timelines of Black users expressing mental anguish, grief, and pleas for peers not to share the viral videos in the weeks of Alton Sterling's and Philando Castile's killings were not unusual as exposure could result in serious psychological issues: "It's upsetting and stressful for people of color to see these events unfolding...It can lead to depression, substance abuse and, in some cases, psychosis. Very often, it can contribute to health problems that are already common among African-Americans such as high blood pressure."²¹⁴

The ability to view footage of anti-Black violence at the hands of police on social media platforms raises an important ethical question. Some may argue that social media has been a critical tool in generating mainstream attention and elevating long-standing calls for justice. Those who argue that the images are not appropriate to share on social media, like activist and media strategist April Reign, assert that the playing and replaying of footage of the deaths of victims of police brutality is a form of digital voyeurism, which has historical roots in the public lynchings of Black individuals:

"It is a dehumanization of black people, and we don't see that with any other race. It's ingrained in us from our history...White people used to have picnics at hangings and at lynchings, bringing their children to watch black bodies suffer and die. We are not far removed from that, it's just being played out through technology now. And it hurts."²¹⁵ Reign has used social media to point out that media outlets considered it inappropriate to air televised footage of white news reporters who were shot and killed in Virginia out of respect for the victims and their families.²¹⁶ The double standard in how violent deaths are broadcast does suggest that the lives of Black victims of police violence are not held in the same sacred regard or connected to mourning family members as white victims. The message of selective censorship is one of dehumanization of Black individuals.

Some social media platforms like Facebook and Instagram have recognized the triggering nature of viral deaths and have placed filters over the content that give a warning of graphic material. These filters blur out the content and require an additional click to view so unsuspecting social media users will not be triggered by witnessing a person's violent death. Dr. Danielle Kilgo, assistant professor of journalism, suggests another course of action to avoid reposting of violent anti-Black deaths while not sacrificing raising awareness and encouraging important discussions of police brutality: "By posting things other than just his death, [you can share] histories of how this happened, or advocacy agendas, or other kinds of grievances that relate to this...we can drown out these videos a little bit if we can give people other things to look at."²¹⁷ This action grounds the root causes of police brutality, protects the humanity of the victims, and sets forth actions social media users can take to support advancing policy agendas to combat this violence.

Key Factors Driving Media Manipulation

A through line in these stories of how information flows through our social media channels is the virality of the content. Viral content means more engagement of users on the platform, which is profitable for social media companies. Ruha Benjamin explains how the profitability of anti-Blackness is enabled by design of social platforms: "Twitter's relatively hands-off approach when it comes to the often and hate-filled content of White supremacists actually benefits the company's bottom line. This is a business model in which more traffic equals more profit, even if that traffic involves violently crashing into other users..."218 The violence of users crashing into one another is experienced more than metaphorically, as discussed in the case of the mental health impacts of viral images of Black death. Other forms of violence also morph to the tools of digital space. During the pandemic, online gender-based violence has been on the rise, and the "permanence and virality of abusive content" has been cited as a source of revictimization and traumatization of those targeted-most frequently, young women, queer-identifying individuals, and people of color.²¹⁹

The disparate impacts we discuss on communities at the margins can be tied back, as Benjamin states, to the driving factors of social media itself. Here we explore the psychological engineering of social media, the profit motivations of social media companies and content creators, and the complexities of an information ecosystem increasingly reliant on digital spaces.

Social Media's Psychological Engineering

Social media platforms are free for users; however, it is often forgotten that these free platforms are extensions of large money-making companies. The users are the product, and income is generated from their clicks on paid advertisements and personal data generated from online engagement. It is in the best interest of companies to have social media users spend more time on the sites consuming content and clicking on advertisements. A strategy employed is to provide frictionless sharing and reposting of content where anyone can create and share information without credentials, then users can see which of their friends "liked" or commented on the post to draw that user to look at what their friend is engaging with and reshare it to a larger friend network. Psychological behavior is a large part of user experience and user design research. CareerFoundry describes the background necessary to become a user experience researcher (UX) as "[it] typically requires knowledge or experience in a relevant field that studies human behavior, such as cognitive science, behavioral economics, anthropology, sociology, or psychology. Ultimately, it's important to be adept at reading people and empathizing with the user."220 Such requirements are seen in a recent Instagram job posting for a UX qualitative researcher that requires a bachelor's degree in a "human behavior" related field but prefers applicants holding an MS or PhD in human-computer interactions, psychology, social science, or information science.²²¹ Psychology experts suggest that people tend to view what their friends say and share as more credible than that of a stranger or an institution.²²² This results in information silos and confirmation bias where the algorithm shows you content of people who think most like you, making it less likely that you will see and engage with contradictory information or dissenting opinions. This is strategic engineering to encourage more engagement. However, this is problematic to dissemination of critical information because when people weigh if something read is true, they ask themselves if it is compatible with what they already believe, if others believe it, and if the source is from someone they know.²²³

Advertising and Click Monetization in the Attention Economy

Safiya Umoja Noble's 2018 *Algorithms of Oppression* argues that websites pose as libraries of information but are actually structured marketing platforms of advertisements that bias information a consumer may receive.²²⁴ In other words, they are platforms for "click monetization," or the generation of capital through users clicking on and consuming online content. The money generated from increased traffic is not only beneficial to the platforms, but content creators as well. Despite the financial benefits gained by social media companies and influential users, platforms designed for click monetization open users to a host of negative mental health impacts, including social media and internet addiction, and a decrease in self-reported mental well-being due to negative self-comparisons with peers based on social media posts.²²⁵ Along with decreased mental health, physical health is also endangered when users use attention-getting conspiracy theory content to gain followers and drive traffic to sell merchandise or other products. Within the business model of

click monetization, race, racism, and hate speech become profitable and entangled with users' consumption of news, while the corporations behind the platforms have no incentive to intervene in racist interactions or the dissemination of misinformation.²²⁶

YouTube influencers wanting to draw a larger audience know they can capitalize on conspiracy theories to garner views, resulting in income even when said conspiracy is unrelated to the theme of their channel. Patrick Bet-David's YouTube channel, Valuetainment, which is dedicated to financial education and has a following of over two million subscribers, has hosted interviews with antivaccine proponents such as Alex Jones, who was banned from both YouTube and Facebook for spreading medical misinformation, and Robert Kennedy Jr., who also claims he was flagged and censored on his social media accounts for his antivaccine content.²²⁷ The interview titled "Robert Kennedy Jr. Destroys Big Pharma, Fauci & Pro-vaccine Movement" garnered 500,0000 views in a matter of two days. The advertisements that ran prior to and during the video featured Bet-David's merchandise. Researchers have found that this sort of tactic-using conspiratorial content to drive traffic to a content creator's site where they sell merchandise-commonly drives the spread of conspiracy theories online.²²⁸ The merchandise involved often includes products marketed as miracle cures that are accompanied by unsubstantiated claims of their effectiveness in treating infectious disease.

King's College London researchers analyzed the profiles and home pages of 102 YouTube conspiracy influencers and found trends in their use of specific monetization strategies: 56 percent offer goods or services for sale, while 41 percent offer memberships and subscriptions using direct payments through PayPal, crowdfunding sites like Patreon, or cryptocurrencies like Bitcoin.²²⁹ In tandem, platforms like YouTube generate income from advertisers seeking to reach the fans of conspiracy influencers and from the money that conspiracy influencers spend on ads to reach a wider audience. Researchers tracing the business model of David Icke, one UK-based conspiracy influencer with over two million followers, estimate that Icke's content could be worth up to \$23.8 million in annual revenue for tech giants.²³⁰ This mutually beneficial system helps to explain why misinformation and disinformation spreads with limited intervention from tech giants like YouTube.

Complex and Networked Nature of Today's Information Infrastructure

Getting to the roots of what drives misinformation and disinformation is complicated given the complexities in how information flows through the web. The Technology and Social Change Project (TaSC) at Harvard University is one group illuminating what conditions in our information infrastructure allow for false information to spread on the internet and, when deliberate, the strategies and tactics used to manipulate these conditions. Joan Donovan, director of TaSC, notes that "information is extremely cheap to produce. That's why misinformation is a problem, because you don't need any evidence, you don't need any investigation, you don't need any methods to produce it. Knowledge is incredibly expensive to produce. Experts are sought after, and they aren't going to work for free."²³¹

This frame of our information ecosystem ties back to the roots of how social media platforms were engineered. Content moderation to filter this barrage of free information adds steps to the process of posting or accessing content. More steps translate to more "friction" in the user experience. This original design of the internet—frictionless and content agnostic—has been accompanied by other shifts in the United States' media landscape that create the conditions for misinformation and disinformation, or more broadly speaking, media manipulation: the decline of professional journalism, the expansion of financial resources devoted to political influence, and the growing sophistication of targeted advertising with little oversight.²³² Our tools to spread false information are growing stronger (money in politics and targeted advertising), while our tools to create and share quality information are growing weaker (local, professional journalism).

Interestingly, there is evidence to suggest that the public will adopt corrective health information online when presented to them. In their study of health misinformation on social media, Emily K. Vraga and Leticia Bode found that even individuals with high conspiratorial ideation were able to accept the correct health information when presented to them, especially when correction comes from a close tie.²³³ But the mechanisms for getting the correct information to general audiences are complicated and, as Donovan notes, do not come cheap. Vraga and Bode suggest that some quick interventions are possible, such as the brand Tito's publicly debunking the myth around their vodka as a substitution for hand sanitizer. However, they recommend that platforms engage experts to test interventions for correcting misinformation and to investigate the "frequency, scope, and type of misinformation and correction occurring on social media." There has been traction made on some fronts, such as Facebook, Instagram, and Twitter investing in content moderation more than ever before by tagging misinformation in real-time and booting off repeat offenders.²³⁴

While these interventions have been much awaited, Infodemic researchers Liliana Bounegru, Jonathan Gray, and Tommaso Venturini note that "there is also a case for slowing down and dwelling with the infrastructural trouble."235 In a similar vein, Vraga and Bode note that there is much work remaining to "investigate how to develop appropriate social norms or interventions to encourage corrections [of health misinformation] on social media [and ensure] corrections come from across the population, representing different demographics, backgrounds, and attributes."236 New policies for content moderation can reasonably be met with questions as to who will do the moderating and what values will be centered. Virality on social media is a challenging beast to conquer, from superspreading health misinformation to viral images of graphic violence against Black people. Returning to the "infrastructural trouble," the design of social media itselfthe business model and the priority given to a "frictionless" experience and optimizing for engagement-is emerging as a path to more broadly address the promises and threats that social media has exposed in the COVID-19 era.

Implications

Online health misinformation has real-world consequences.

While this analysis is grounded in the spread of false information regarding health,

the roots are much deeper. The macrocontext concerns a slow erosion of trust in government, in health and scientific institutions, and in each other.²³⁷ Research shows that a belief in one health conspiracy leads to a larger rejection in science.²³⁸ Data & Society researcher Erin McAweeney reminds us that this creation of fundamentally different realities—done both deliberately and inadvertently—paves the way "for an oppressive power to take advantage of a fragmented society much more vulnerable to misinformation in the future."²³⁹ Overlapping conspiracy theories—QAnon, COVID-19 denial, election denial—in digital spaces²⁴⁰ have dangerous climaxes in the real world, like the 2021 insurrection at the US Capitol. This terrifying trend is easier to confront when we acknowledge the shared roots in systems that stratify by race and identity. Community organizers from California to Michigan to Georgia are confronting how white supremacy infects the COVID-19 response and corrupts democracy.²⁴¹

Deliberate disinformation is fast evolving and takes concerted effort to trace.

Content moderation and government policy has not kept up with the evolving tools of disinformation, such as bots,

digital blackface,²⁴² and deepfakes.²⁴³ The media manipulation field guide created by Harvard's TaSC is a move toward improving our understanding of the forces at play when content intentionally spreads false narratives.²⁴⁴ With a new presidential administration, there are new possibilities to change the conditions that help a false sense of reality take hold and spread like wildfire.²⁴⁵

Our social media infrastructure started one way, but it doesn't have to stay.

As discussed, media manipulation's disparate impact on communities of color is tied to the way social media is

structured itself: frictionless, optimized for engagement, financially fueled by tech giants and content creators who learn the path to amplification. Content and content moderation that is in-language and culturally sensitive is a step forward, but not all communications can be screened and regulated. Communities outside of the dominant structures—diasporic communities, queer communities, low-income communities—have always found ways to communicate outside of traditional channels and adapt to the tools available, from community defense on public social media forums to private WhatsApp and Viber groups. There is an opportunity to build on this community-led creation and confront the concentration of power in the creation and funding of social media. The future of social media, which drives much of our information ecosystem, will be defined by our ability to regulate the current structures, but also create new structures that embody the values of a broader community.

05

Opportunities and Paths Forward

How can society ensure that emerging technologies contribute to creating a world where all belong? As the tech sector reckons with the relationship between technology and inequity, much of the corporate efforts to answer this question have focused on rectifying existing problems with technological design-an initial step to "do no harm" or create ethical technology. But beyond ethics, the broader field of stakeholders concerned with tech equity is calling for a more expansive approach, one that addresses inequities embedded within the social and political systems that have produced the outsized influence that private tech corporations and their products now hold. Within this paradigm, movements have coalesced around necessary reforms as well as abolitionist approaches to technology, both which call for governance, policy, cultural, technical, and operational changes. Furthermore, advocates of change envision a range of roles for and uses of technology to advance not just equity, but also justice, liberation, and belonging. While not exhaustive, this section provides an overview of some of the key solutions, interventions, systems changes, and opportunities for action that various stakeholders have envisioned in response to technology-driven inequality.

Guiding Questions and Frameworks

The Role of Technology in Social Change

As the tech field confronts the disparate negative impacts produced by technology, the key question is: what role should technology have in social change? In response to this question, Abebe et al. offer an analytical framework for understanding the valuable roles for computational work in social change that not only include but also go beyond correcting harms that technology itself perpetuates. For example, computing is essential to "auditing" technical processes to detect and name bias within data and "black box" algorithms, which can increase transparency and accountability. In a different vein, it can also expose the limits of technological interventions-what Abebe et al. call computing as "rebuttal"--in order to refocus on the need for broader, non technological systems change. This is particularly important when public investment in technological solutions may result in the diversion of resources from other less-tech-intensive initiatives aimed at advancing equity.²⁴⁶ Key to this framework is the rejection of the pervasive "solutionist" notion that technology can solve intractable social problems on its own, instead defining discrete roles for technology situated within a longer horizon of

social change processes and in relationship to a broader ecosystem of social intervention.²⁴⁷ Similarly, Data & Society researchers Madeleine Clare Elish and Elizabeth Anne Watkins argue for the need for approaching the use of AI through a "sociotechnical lens: one that acknowledges the human labor required to harmonize a technical system with existing organizational and social structures"—as an ongoing process of *integration* rather than a single point of deployment—that includes repairing the "breakages" in social structures that result from AI, especially when technological systems do not work as intended.²⁴⁸

Technology and Abolition

As we have reviewed throughout this report, technology is socially determined, and its creation and uses cannot be separated from the conditions of society. For many operating at the intersection of justice and technology, abolition is a grounding idea for countering technosolutionism, which limits our imagination to only technical solutions. Scholar activist Ruth Wilson Gilmore states that "[a]bolition is abolishing the conditions under which prisons became the solution to problems, not abolishing the buildings we call prisons."249 Sociologist Ruha Benjamin emphasizes the radical potential of democratized, abolitionist technologytechnological tools imagined and created by individuals who are historically marginalized by technology, which explicitly serve to advance racial and social justice. She describes these as "abolitionist tools," or "technology with an emancipatory ethos, a tool of solidarity that directs resources to getting people literally free."250 This must start with cultivating "counter-imaginaries," an act that is essential to resisting and breaking free from the digital world that has been imagined and crafted for the public by corporate giants.²⁵¹ In contrast to carceral technologies,²⁵² abolitionist technologies implore us to imagine uses for technology that move us away from our status quo. The framework of abolitionist technology guides our understanding of the possibilities ahead-not as a call to end the use of all technology, but rather a call to rethink our processes of funding, creating, and deploying technology in general, particularly for public interest.

A Range of Interventions: Ethical to Emancipatory

This section will explore a range of interventions, moving from those that tinker with the status quo to those that push us to reimagine the conditions that brought us to our current relationship with technology.

Exploring the range of interventions

- 1. Industry Practices
 - a. Industry codes of ethics
 - b. Accountability controls for machine learning training data
 - c. Challenging the pathways to the tech industry

- d. Addressing the power and access dynamics in the venture capital industry
- e. Whistleblower and other workplace protections for tech industry workers

2. Government and Policy

- a. State and local privacy regulation
- b. Federal regulation of tech companies
- c. Digital infrastructure as a public good

3. Public and Cultural Interventions

- a. Grassroots tech development and governance
- b. Speculative technology to educate and organize against the status quo
- c. User-led corrections of misinformation and media literacy
- d. Healing and solidarity through digital spaces
- e. Decentering of computational expertise and building a broader coalition

Interventions Being Proposed and Tested

Reforming Industry Practices

As public support and advocacy for greater regulation of technology companies has increased, more tech sector leaders have accepted the notion that the government has a legitimate role in this area. Many of the industry's largest companies have thus sought to work with government institutions in shaping regulations while also working to define solutions that can be advanced through internal changes to industry practices instead of regulation. Regarding the latter, the discourse within the tech industry has focused more on ethics and fairness, rather than equity or justice.²⁵³

Industry codes of ethics. Many within the industry have expressed support for sector-wide ethics standards, particularly for emerging AI technologies. Various formations have proposed codes of ethics or other statements of principles to this end, such as the Asilomar AI Principles developed by the Future of Life Institute, which has been signed by over 1,600 AI and robotics researchers across the world.²⁵⁴ Industry leaders have also formed crosssector collaborations to develop best practices and advance solutions for AI ethics. The Partnership on AI (PAI) is among the most prominent. PAI was formed in September 2016 by a group of Big Tech companies like Apple, Amazon, Facebook, Google, IBM, and Microsoft but has since grown to include more than one hundred member organizations, over half of which are now nonprofit, civic, or human-rights-focused groups. This range of perspectives and positionality has inevitably created some friction between industry and civil society. Most recently, the nonprofit group Access Now resigned from the PAI stating that "[they] did not find that PAI influenced or changed the attitude of member companies or encouraged them to respond to or consult with civil society on a systematic basis."²⁵⁵

Leading research institutes in the field of tech equity, including Data & Society and the AI Now Institute, have critiqued internally focused initiatives to reform the industry's products and practices, asserting that they alone are simply not enough. Data & Society researchers describe these efforts as an "institutionalization of ethics" that falls short of transforming the systemic roots of technology-driven inequity.²⁵⁶ They argue that attempts to operationalize ethics are implemented according to the same industry logics that perpetuate inequity in the first place. This often leads to piecemeal technical interventions, such as ethics checklists, ethical project management frameworks, or coding packages that evaluate algorithmic bias. Such a limited perspective of "doing ethics" implies that the work is complete once these steps are taken. However, the illusion of completion is more of a performance, not an enactment of structural changes that shift everyday practices on which "ethical fault lines" exist.²⁵⁷ Structural changes could include shifting organizational practices, such as the tech industry culture of rewarding metric-oriented and fast-paced work with greater resources, or building new practices, such as publicly announcing cases where a tech company chooses not to release a product or feature that might cause social harm. A more complex, yet transformational, path forward would be a tech industry completely designed around ethics and social responsibility, rather than piecemeal checklists and technical solutions that "locate the source of the problem in individuals or technical systems."258

Accountability controls for machine learning training data. One recent development in attempting to create more equitable AI is a "dataset nutrition label." The Data Nutrition Project is dedicated to assessing the fitness and fairness of datasets that are used to train Al. Ruha Benjamin describes the dataset nutrition label as similar to the labeling on organic products; the label would break down the dataset's performance on certain measures of bias and signal the algorithm has gone through a standard of equity.²⁵⁹ This is critical because as this landscape scan has shown, biased datasets are used to train important decision-making technology used in fields ranging from medical care to criminal justice decisions. The team at the Data Nutrition Project states: "There's a missing step in the AI development pipeline: assessing datasets based on standard guality measures that are both gualitative and guantitative...Similar to a nutrition label on food, our Dataset Nutrition Label aims to highlight the key ingredients in a dataset such as metadata and populations, as well as unique or anomalous features regarding distributions, missing data, and comparisons to other 'ground truth' datasets."260 A dataset nutrition label may meet the need to integrate transparency and standardization in the field, but as discussed, addressing bias in algorithmic tools is not relegated to the data inputs²⁶¹ but rather requires evaluating the entire system in which the tool operates.

Challenging the pathways to the tech industry. The tech industry workforce is known to be a majority white male workforce, particularly the technical workforce of coders, engineers, UX designers, and data scientists who drive product development.²⁶² One idea is to expand access to the computational expertise needed to work in the tech industry. Massive open online courses (MOOCs), tech bootcamps like General Assembly, the Google Career Certificate program, and a plethora of university extension programs offer any consumer with an internet connection the opportunity to earn a certificate in software engineering, machine learning, data science, or UX. In theory, this ease of access via online study benefits those facing barriers to traditional university education, like family caretaking obligations and the financial infeasibility of taking four years out of the job market. These barriers are disproportionately encountered by women and underrepresented minorities. As an example, Flatiron School offers coding bootcamps where 33 percent of the program's graduates are women, compared to university Computer and Information Sciences programs where 21 percent of the graduates are women.263

But the evidence is mixed on whether expanded access and lower cost barriers to education actually unlocks access to high-paying jobs in the tech industry and, if so, to whom those benefits are distributed. Self-reported data from coding bootcamps boast that 73 percent of those surveyed had found full-time employment using their new skills and an average salary increase of \$26,000.²⁶⁴ But notably, 60 percent of those surveyed already had bachelor's degrees, indicating that such certification is not a replacement for university programs as bootcamps advertise. In fact, there is some empirical evidence that bootcamp certificates may have less value in the tech job market because of employers' perception of this untraditional route to gaining computational expertise.²⁶⁵ Some argue that this is because expanding access to computational expertise is not getting to the root of the problem. Harvard Business Review notes that the barriers to a more diverse tech workforce range from much more than access to education: the demographics of the cities and states where venture capital and tech industry headquarters are located and tech industry's disinterest in actively pursuing diverse talent.²⁶⁶

Following the closure of several high-profile coding bootcamps, sociologist Tressie McMillan Cottom, who studies the rise of "lower ed" programs such as MOOCs and coding bootcamps, explains that coding bootcamps are a "tax paid by suitably credentialed workers who do not have enough capital (economic, social, or cultural) to enter a high status field of work in which some job is undergoing an actual or projected short-term demand bubble."²⁶⁷ Cottom warns that bootcamps are an unproven market solution to what is a social problem of statistical discrimination in an emerging job market. More unclear still is whether a more diverse tech workforce necessarily creates a more equitable process of technology production to address the harms discussed in this report.

Addressing the power and access dynamics in the venture capital

industry. Recent attention has been given to the lack of diversity in the venture capital field, which launches many of the businesses that now influence our daily lives by providing private funding for early-stage start-up companies. Richard Kerby of Equal Ventures, a firm dedicated to "bridging the digital divide," finds that 58 percent of the people who work in venture capital are white men.²⁶⁸ More importantly, 93 percent of venture capital dollars are managed by white men in leadership positions that allow them to determine which start-ups are invested in and to receive most of the earnings from those investments.²⁶⁹ Charlton McIlwain, digital scholar and author of a book about the history of the Black internet called Black Software, emphasizes that inequitable access to capital has disrupted the work of Black technologists who, even after access to elite education, were shut out of the funding circles necessary to be successful in the tech world.²⁷⁰

There are venture capital firms dedicated to combating the racial inequalities in venture capital, such as Oakland, California, based Kapor Capital. Kapor Capital believes that start-up companies with founding teams of underrepresented individuals have a competitive advantage because their backgrounds inform the questions they ask that lead to profitable, tech-driven solutions. Across the landscape of capital investment and philanthropy, there is a growing imperative to invest in underrepresented entrepreneurs and in underrepresented managers of funds like Kapor Capital.²⁷¹ As with the popular mandate to diversify the tech industry workforce, the impact of diversifying venture capital on equitable development of technology will be unclear without an express focus on investing in creators and movements that center equity and justice in their work.²⁷²

Whistle-blower and other workplace protections for tech industry

workers. In addition to the possibility of removing barriers to entering the tech industry, there is space to reshape the power dynamics once employees join it. As with most companies, tech companies are capable of harming their own employees, especially people of color and those in precarious work, like contract workers and gig workers. Since late 2020, Google has faced controversy over the dismissal of two members of its AI Ethics Committee, including Timnit Gebru, one of the few Black women in the committee. Gebru had recently coauthored a paper highlighting the disproportionate environmental and social impacts of Google AI technology on all but the wealthiest countries and communities. As these events unfolded, a number of other people of color in tech shared their own stories on social media of how they have been pushed out of influential spaces or dismissed when raising issues concerning how their respective companies handle racial diversity, racial harassment, and ethical issues surrounding civil violations.²⁷³ For example, in 2017, three women filed a class-action lawsuit against Google for segregating female employees into lower-paying positions and paying women less than their male counterparts for doing essentially the same work (a claim Google denied).

The problem does not just lie with Google but is so deep in the technology

industry that nearly half of the women in tech fields leave the industry, double the attrition rate for men.²⁷⁴ The turnover rate for women and minorities in tech costs businesses \$16 billion every year.²⁷⁵ While unfair treatment, such as being passed over for promotions and having others take and receive credit for their work, is one of the largest drivers of employees voluntarily leaving the industry,²⁷⁶ the stories of those who are deliberately pushed out or fired are harder to track due to nondisclosure agreements (NDAs) and fear of retaliation.

One of the emerging paths for addressing this inequity, with space for industry and government action, is whistle-blower protection. Whistleblower protection can help protect employees who speak up on ethical issues in their workplace, as well as ethical issues that may have societal impacts beyond their workplace, while actively employed or after ending their employment. UC Berkeley Center for Law and Technology Codirector Sonia Katyal argues that improved whistle-blower protections, alongside other industry accountability measures, are critical as our society is currently dependent on the self-regulation of private industry.²⁷⁷

Employees with computational expertise and insider knowledge are uniquely qualified to understand and expose violations of civil and human rights embedded in opaque AI tools. Oftentimes, the employees who expose these violations are then subject to retaliation from their employer or from fellow employees. For example, former Pinterest public policy and social impact manager Ifeoma Ozoma led efforts to address health misinformation²⁷⁸ and the spread of extremist content on the platform and faced internal retaliation in the form of doxing and harassment. In the process of seeking accountability for these events, Ozoma discovered the limitations of current whistle-blower protection legislation in California and worked with California State Senator Connie Leyva to introduce the "Silenced No More Act," which would close the loophole prohibiting employees from speaking out against discrimination in the workplace and ethical violations in the public interest if they have signed a company NDA.²⁷⁹ Ozoma believes action is needed at the federal level to address the growing role of NDAs in the tech industry but is also working to push industry, particularly corporate boards, to fill the gap in accountability themselves. VentureBeat's senior AI staff writer Khari Johnson sums up the path ahead to reform whistle-blower regulation as a "clash between the rights of a business to not disclose information about an algorithm and the civil rights of an individual to live in a world free of discrimination."280

As seen in these examples, advances in industry practice often still require a public challenge before a company will openly address the bias or harm created by one of its products, or harms experienced by their own employees. In addition, some attempts to reform industry have exposed the limitations of voluntary self-regulation from powerful industry actors with little to lose but their profits. For example, the Algorithmic Justice League (AJL), a leading public interest technology advocacy organization, has ended its Safe Face Pledge, an attempt to guide industry on regulating themselves on the harms of facial recognition.²⁸¹ The Safe Face Pledge found that "the requirement that lethal use be curtailed proved to be a stumbling block, given many firms' desire to support law enforcement and military applications." Tellingly, the AJL has instead launched a program focused on community-driven oversight of the creation of Al.²⁸² Understanding the linkages between the power of the tech industry and the power of the capital structures that fund the industry, French economist Cédric Durand encapsulates the multiple paths forward: "We need a centralized response so that we can meet capital and technology at the scale that it exists, alongside a reimagination of the resources we have at a local level to organize life differently."²⁸³ This introduces the importance of leveraging the role of government to respond to tech industry power and to facilitate this reimagining of our resources at the local, community level.

Government Regulation and Legal Reforms

Public support for government regulation of technology with the purpose of protecting digital privacy has grown. In a 2020 survey conducted by the Pew Research Center, three-quarters of Americans said they believe there should be more government regulation of what companies can do with their customers' personal information.²⁸⁴ Many within the field are also calling for greater public oversight of the deployment and testing of new technologies. Campaigns to regulate local public agencies' use of technology have gained traction, with the recognition that regulating public agencies is a strategic starting point for reform, given that a major source of private sector companies' revenues are often government contracts. For instance, Palantir, the data mining software company whose collaboration with local and federal law enforcement has been the strategic focus of organizers for migrant justice, pulled in roughly half of their 2019 revenue from work with the US federal government.²⁸⁵ Tech giants like Amazon, Google, Microsoft and others have thousands of contracts with US military and law enforcement agencies.²⁸⁶ Many of these contracts are too opaque to even understand what service the company is providing but make the important role of transparent regulation and reform abundantly clear.

State and local privacy regulation. In several cities, advocates have successfully advanced laws banning government use of certain surveillance technologies, which are often accompanied by the establishment of citizen commissions that have the authority to approve or deny local government agencies' use of any new technologies that may impact citizens' privacy and civil rights. For example, the City of Oakland's Privacy Advisory Commission was formed in 2015 and "provides advice to the City of Oakland on best practices to protect Oaklanders' privacy rights in connection with the City's purchase and use of surveillance equipment and other technology that collects or stores our data."²⁸⁷ The City of San Francisco has taken a similar approach by establishing a facial recognition ban and an Office of Emerging Technology within the Department of Public Works.²⁸⁸ While new technologies may be implemented if approved, such policies and governance structures change the balance of power by giving residents a say in the process, whereas in cities without

tech surveillance bans, government agencies have the authority to adopt any new technology by default, often without any transparency, public discourse, or oversight. Rashida Richardson, a visiting scholar at Rutgers University, explains that this amounts to experimentation of new technologies on live populations, which is otherwise highly regulated for other sectors, such as the pharmaceutical industry.²⁸⁹ Other advocates have drawn similar comparisons, calling for a governmental body charged with regulation of new technology that functions like the FDA or Federal Aviation Administration.²⁹⁰

In addition to the aforementioned local advocacy efforts, statewide campaigns have formed around proposals introduced in the California State Legislature. These include the Automated Decision Systems Accountability Act of 2020 (AB 2269), as well as attempts to strengthen existing laws such as the California Consumer Privacy Act and the Confidentiality of Medical Information Act (AB 2261 and AB 2280, respectively).²⁹¹While state and local policy change is currently understood to be more politically feasible, advocates' efforts are largely grounded in a broader goal of federal regulation of both the government and private sector's use of technology.

Federal regulation of tech companies. Proposals for federal policy change have also gained some traction. Multiple members of Congress have introduced legislation to regulate emerging technologies used for surveillance, law enforcement, and algorithmic decision-making systems. While none have yet been adopted into law, bills introduced in the 116th Congress include the Algorithmic Accountability Act,²⁹² Safeguarding Americans' Private Records Act, 293 and the Facial Recognition and Biometric Technology Act.²⁹⁴ Nicol Turner Lee, director of the Center for Technology Innovation at the Brookings Institution, has proposed another approach: modernizing the Civil Rights Act of 1964 to clarify that it applies to decisions made by AI.²⁹⁵ While these proposals center around civil rights and privacy laws, the creation of an effective regulatory framework also implicates other areas of law, including trade secrecy and intellectual property, labor, antitrust, and even global trade. As of yet, it appears that attempts to address each of these legal areas are occurring on separate fronts, rather than through a comprehensive, unified approach.

The US House of Representatives' Antitrust Subcommittee released a report in October 2020 criticizing tech companies—Amazon, Apple, Facebook, and Google specifically—for "buying competitors, preferencing their own services, and holding outsized power over smaller businesses that use their platforms."²⁹⁶ The 450-page report indicates that, in addition to putting forward legislative reforms, Congress must restructure American antitrust laws to "[reassert] the original intent and broad goals of the antitrust laws by clarifying that they are designed to protect not just consumers, but also workers, entrepreneurs, independent businesses, open markets, a fair economy, and democratic ideals."²⁹⁷ The Biden administration's appointment of Lina Khan, an antitrust and competition legal scholar who served as counsel to the Antitrust Subcommittee as a commissioner at the Federal Trade Commission, is an indicator of the possible direction the administration will take on regulating tech companies and advancing a more comprehensive framework for that regulation.

While the United States lacks a comprehensive federal framework for data privacy regulation, over 140 countries have national data protection laws that govern private and public sector use of data.²⁹⁸ The European Union's General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) is often upheld as a model framework for regulating the collection, retention, and disclosure of citizens' personal data, including instances where such data may be used for machine learning. The GDPR is described as the "toughest privacy and security law in the world," where penalties for violations include a maximum of 20 million euros and the right for consumers to sue for damages. The law applies to organizations and companies that may use data from a EU citizen regardless if the company is located in the EU.²⁹⁹ Organizations such as Auditing Algorithms are advocating for consumer and civil rights protections similar to the GDPR.³⁰⁰ Alongside the possibilities of individual tech worker whistle-blowing to regulate private industry, Katyal proposes the legal requirement of a "human impact statement in algorithmic decision-making" that can mirror many of the protections granted through the EU's GDPR.³⁰¹ Katyal does note that "impact assessments can become a mere procedural tool that may not be able to create the change they seek," and thus these impact assessments cannot stand alone or be considered a complete fix for complex problems with layers of self-interest from private companies.

In a similar vein, Benjamin points out that although consumer data protections are important, they fall short of protecting individuals from the disproportionate impacts of police and state surveillance since data used to prevent, detect, and investigate crime are exempted from the GDPR.³⁰² For this reason, many advocacy efforts go beyond consumer protections, focusing instead on human rights. For example, the Coded Bias Impact Campaign calls for a universal declaration of data rights as human rights.³⁰³ Human rights experts also argue that technology-driven racial inequity is a matter of human rights and that states have an obligation to prevent and combat racial discrimination in the design and use of emerging digital technologies.³⁰⁴

Digital infrastructure as a public good. Our societal reliance on digital technologies for contact tracing, vaccine administration, distance learning, and other public needs calls attention to the role of government in the digital space. For example, access to COVID-19 vaccines in the United States has heavily relied on quality internet access and digital literacy in order to identify and secure appointments. Unpacking this dynamic, the Brookings Institution makes the claim that "digital infrastructure is a determinant of health."³⁰⁵ In addition to many nontechnical fixes, such as advising that health departments partner with community organizations to canvass communities in person and via text message, Brookings recommends that engineers work with health equity experts to shape online systems that

"anticipate and design around equity challenges." Another example is the state-level infrastructure needed for delivery of unemployment insurance benefits. Researchers at the Southern Economic Advancement Project state:

There is a direct connection between the hollowing out of state labor departments—and the move to automate agency programs... The dependence on automated software developed by contractors, which are far removed from the actual business of unemployment claims processes and decimation of state agency administrative capacity, led to, and continues to be responsible for the considerable lag in the processing and correct payment of unemployment insurance claims.³⁰⁶

These challenges with equitable digital delivery of public goods points us to the importance of treating procurement and vendoring of technology systems as policy choices with equity impacts.

Governments have a responsibility to evaluate the distributive impacts of the technologies they procure. Bianca Wylie, a Canadian public interest technology expert, emphasizes this imperative saying that "significant amounts of power and money are moving faster than ever in this moment. Some of that power and money is moving around in the public procurement of technology products that shape society in ways that do not support democratic governance."³⁰⁷ From vaccine access to unemployment insurance access, the move to digitize essential public services necessitates a public body that can democratically govern what services are digitized, how they are digitized, and who benefits from this lucrative market. One vision for this governance is through federal policy that nationalizes and standardizes some of the state and local advancements in mandating impact assessments of procured technology, as suggested respectively in the Katyal and Farid pieces on human impact assessments and a federal-level regulatory body.

But there are more advanced proposals that take the government role beyond regulating and evaluating and instead view some technologies as a form of public infrastructure, such as transportation and energy. Ethan Zuckerman, director of the Institute for Digital Public Infrastructure at the University of Massachusetts at Amherst, describes digital public infrastructure as "the infrastructures that let us engage in public and civic life in digital spaces."³⁰⁸ Zuckerman focuses on the brokenness of our media infrastructure to determine where we might start: reimagining social media networks in order to disrupt mis- and disinformation spread during the pandemic and political moments; building new online search systems that are transparent, contestable, and decentralized; and creating pathways to online revenue generation that are less dependent on click monetization and "surveillant capitalism." The governance of our current digital public infrastructure skews to large corporations mainly led by homogenous groups. In contrast, digital public infrastructures would push us to imagine public governance options, such as government-funded media platforms, cooperative ownership models, or the open collaboration model popularized

by *Wikipedia*. There is space to imagine new models of public governance and multiple models at once. Politico suggests that this process of creating public digital infrastructures could "be the right place to start exploring how to reinvent governance and civil society more broadly."³⁰⁹

Our intention in pointing out the importance of public sector intervention and investment in digital infrastructure is not to centralize the power of creating digital technologies with the state, but rather to see the government as a lever to broadening the creation, control, and use of digital technologies—which is why we need cultural interventions to strengthen communities' power to take this on.

Cultural and Community-Centered Interventions

Policy interventions and industry reform are required to address a world where the most powerful tech companies are richer than many countries combined.³¹⁰ There is a massive power imbalance between the creators of technology and technology's users, subjects, and even intended regulators. This power is imbued by the structures that gatekeep access to computational expertise, to governing power, and to some forms of knowledge. As the movement to resist the harms of Al and expand its promise advances, so must the pathways to building power of communities most impacted and to bridging among those in solidarity. The rapid growth and evolution of the tech industry has made digital technologies a critical component of our culture. Thus, we need cultural changes that broaden our collective understanding and ability to cogovern the technologies that shape our daily lives.

Grassroots tech development and governance. While the playing field for gaining computational expertise and capital is uneven, there has been traction on individuals and community groups designing their own technology solutions in the pursuit of public interest. An example of this is Appolition, a platform that crowdsources bail funds for incarcerated individuals. Developed by Dr. Kortney Ziegler, a Black transgender tech developer, the platform automatically converts users' loose change into bail.³¹¹ After just two years, Appolition raised around \$200,000 to bail more than 50 people out of jail across the United States.³¹² Another example is Remitly, an app that set out to empower the economically disadvantaged and underbanked immigrant population by providing a tool to send remittances back to home countries without predatory fees that cost communities upwards of \$50 billion annually.³¹³

For the creation of grassroots technology to flourish, we need more financial pathways for funding community-led tech development. But, again, technological solutions alone cannot ameliorate the reasons why funds must be redistributed for mutual aid among those who cannot make bail or who have families to support in their home countries. The Astraea Lesbian Foundation for Justice compiled an in-depth set of recommendations for funders to identify their responsibility on both fronts of the cultural and political change needed.³¹⁴ Movement organizations need funding for political education of their members and constituencies on the harms of algorithmic technology created under dominant frameworks, as well as funding to build movement technology under community-centered frameworks. And, importantly, this technology will look different from top-down technology created by Big Tech and venture-backed enterprises. Guiding principles for community technology, created by collaborators at the Allied Media Conference in 2015, emphasize this imperative and include "access, empowerment, privacy, ownership, resource sharing, and collective expression."³¹⁵

Al technologies may have myriad known and unknown applications, as described in this report, but what they all have in common is a reliance on data and computational energy. Data is a resource to enrich technology companies and for users to access ostensibly "free" services. In addition to regulating how those at the top of our social and economic structure use this data, we can also reimagine how data is governed and created. Many pathways to this goal have emerged: democratically elected, rotating data councils and peoples' assemblies³¹⁶ or data coalitions³¹⁷ that can negotiate terms and conditions under which tech companies can utilize user data. Recently, Demos and Data for Black Lives, two organizations at the intersection of algorithmic justice and democratic rule, compiled recommendations to resist "data capitalism,"³¹⁸ including proposals to make data cease to be a commodity at all and create mechanisms for marginalized communities to exercise collective consent and democratic control over data and algorithmic decision-making that affects their lives.³¹⁹ These new visions of governance fundamentally disrupt the traditional relationship we have between data creators (users) and data stewards (companies).

Speculative technology to educate and organize against the status quo.

To further our cultural consciousness and understanding of technology's impact on our daily lives, activists and researchers are taking on both conceptual and practical technological projects that flip the same tools of oppression back onto people with power. White Collar Crime Risk Zones is a project by journalists at The New Inquiry developed to challenge our racialized notions of dangerous areas, of criminality, and of what crimes are worthy of surveillance. The platform uses predictive technology to map out places where financial crimes are likely to occur and create profiles of the common appearance of people who commit financial crimes. The developers are currently working on facial recognition training data pulled from LinkedIn and composed of over 7,000 faces of corporate executives who are overwhelmingly white and male.³²⁰ This project intends to subvert the status quo application of surveillance and risk assessment technology, which is deployed disproportionately toward the neighborhoods, schools, and homes of communities of color in the United States. As another example, the Anti-Eviction Mapping Project has crowdsourced a Landlord Tech Watch tool "to fight landlord technologies in our homes and neighborhoods."321 Landlord Tech Watch is an organizing project where tenants across the country can input data on their landlords and property management companies' use of technology, which can be used to automate evictions, enable racial profiling, and fuel tenant harassment. There are few laws and regulations governing the collection and use of data in the context of landlord tech, so Landlord Tech Watch is a community-based approach to exposing this gap in tenant rights.

An integral element to the creation of technology is design, and the approach of White Collar Crime Risk Zones may be referred to as speculative design.³²² By applying the methods of predictive policing that criminalize poverty to new subjects, the designers guide us not only to imagine a world where excessive wealth is instead criminalized, but also to interrogate the dehumanizing and othering embedded in surveillance and facial recognition technology. The more practical Landlord Tech Watch is a tool for popular education, mass mobilization, and organizing. Both approaches push us to question the status quo and imagine new futures.

User-led corrections of misinformation and media literacy. As the COVID-19 pandemic has revealed, social media can be a double-edged sword in the project of collective sense-making and information sharing in a public health crisis. In many cases, misinformation spreads like wildfire, often enabled by the underlying profit levers of our social media infrastructure. In other cases, social media is used as a powerful educational tool by health professionals to promote responsible public health decisions without the need for formal expertise in content development, editing, and promotion. For example, health-care professionals have taken to the viral nature of social media by using TikTok, an app that allows users to create, edit, and share short videos, to combat misinformation with their medical expertise on the front lines of the pandemic. Christina Kim, a nurse practitioner, shocked by the amount of COVID-19 misinformation she saw on the app, became an instant TikTok hit, gaining 50,000 followers and 1.7 million views after uploading a video where she donned two surgical masks together with an N95 mask while hooked up to a pulse oximeter with text that read, "Wearing a mask will NOT affect your oxygenation or cause 'carbon dioxide poisoning."³²³ Kim continues to use her account to share health information and is one of a legion of health-care professionals and scientists using the platform most known for dance video challenges to gain a larger platform to dispel antiscience misinformation related to the pandemic.³²⁴ Christian Assad, a cardiologist based in Texas, also among the TikTok legion correcting COVID-19 misinformation through videos, told Wired about the power of health-care professionals on the app: "We can treat only one patient at a time, but if we can get a message out there that can hit thousands or hundreds of thousands, then we can change their thoughts, hopefully."325

But, of course, the impact of this approach depends on who is making claims about science and what thoughts they wish to change. The explainer videos that a social media user follows will differ based on the algorithm that populates their Instagram, TikTok, or Facebook feed. A recent analysis on the common narratives about COVID-19, workers, jobs, and the economy reveals how narratives varied wildly based on your network.³²⁶ Users connected to the right-wing ecosystem of GOP officials, right-wing media, and ethno-nativist social media influencers saw content geared toward rejecting "big government," reopening the economy, normalcy, and worker productivity.³²⁷ Users connected to the ecosystem of progressive media

workers and organizers saw content geared toward the care economy and challenging the role of government to provide in a crisis. ReFrame also identified an ecosystem of medical and academic influencers serving as pre- and debunkers of mis- and disinformation across social media, mostly focused on narratives of safety and highlighting that "we are only safe when all of us are safe."

The range of narratives available to social media users highlights the importance of media literacy. Users have some limited means of shaping our newsfeeds across platforms, such as choosing who to follow, but algorithms can also suggest new organizations and individuals to follow, at times steering users directly toward partisan, unverified content.³²⁸ On an individual level, ReFrame's partner organization PEN America launched the Media Literacy Project,³²⁹ with toolkits and quick tips³³⁰ to practice media literacy in our daily consumption of news and media. On a community and organizational level, ReFrame and PEN America launched a Disinfo Defense Toolkit to help community-based organizations and nonprofits get started. They recommend that organizations build mis- and disinformation mitigation strategies into all of their plans. Most of the recommended action steps focus on offline activities to identify and disrupt the spread of false information on- and offline, reemphasizing the point that technical fixes are not always the solution to issues fueled by technology.³³¹

Healing and solidarity through digital spaces. The COVID-19 pandemic and the cell-phone-recorded death of George Floyd that circulated via social media apps weighed heavily on communities of color. Individuals recognizing the need for culturally competent mental health services for their communities have created online communities that provide a sense of belonging and validation in the face of the isolation of the pandemic and, at times, cultural stigma associated with seeking mental health services.332 Carrie Zhang Zhang created the Asian Mental Health Project page on Instagram, where Zhang hosts a weekly check-in series called Stay in, Check in, featuring experts chatting with Instagram followers on physical and mental health topics from gut health to experiencing the trauma of rising anti-Asian discrimination during the pandemic.³³³ Oakland-based clinical social worker and psychotherapist Erica Woodland recognized the need for identity-affirming services for trans and queer individuals of color when seeking mental health services where nonbinary individuals are labeled "dysphoric" by the practice.³³⁴ Woodland originally founded the National Queer and Trans Therapists of Color Network in 2016 to help queer and trans professionals seek support for the same challenges their patients had, but has also provided individuals who lost access to their mental health professional during shelter-in-place with assistance in finding a therapist competent in relating to and recognizing nonbinary and nonheteronormative gender and sexual identity.335

While this landscape scan has highlighted the way technology can be problematic in targeting minority populations for negative impacts like hyper surveillance and negative health outcomes, communities of color are also using digital spaces as forums to connect to and converse with individuals like them and obtain mental health support typically not offered in mainstream practices.

Decentering of computational expertise and building a broader coalition. Technology is dependent on the labor of those outside of the inner circle of tech company prestige and bounty. Individual user's engagement via clicks, shares, and reposts creates value that is neither acknowledged nor rewarded.³³⁶ Contractors and digital homeworkers conduct unenviable tasks, such as moderation of hate speech or manually training algorithms to identify trends, for essential Big Tech services.³³⁷ These forms of labor have not been valued or recognized appropriately in the tech industry, but there is a growing call to recognize the problematic nature of these labor constructs and the value of building power among this broader coalition of, perhaps nontraditional, tech workers.

And this recognition is being demanded from workers themselves, as seen in the creation of various worker collectives, such as the Tech Workers Coalition³³⁸ and the Gig Workers Collective.³³⁹ These collectivessometimes taking the form of traditional unions, partnering with unions, or intentionally creating new organizing frameworks-are platforms for a broader coalition of workers to bargain for their own rights in the workplace, and for the rights of all of us who are impacted by powerful tech companies. As Khadijah Abdurahman puts it in conversation with Khari Johnson from VentureBeat, "there should not be some lone martyr going toe-to-toe with [Big Tech]. You need a broader coalition of people who are funding and working together to do the work." As an example, the Athena Coalition brings together warehouse workers, small business owners and advocates, and Amazon customers to build an economy where call can "enjoy the benefits of digital technologies and online commerce without having to sacrifice our rights and liberties, health and planet, or hopes and dreams."³⁴⁰ The challenge ahead is to create the conditions for these broader coalitions to take shape. Our resourcing and ways of governing technology must honor the collective investment that has created a society and culture shaped by technology. This collective investment ranges from the US federal government's early investment of derisked capital into today's biggest tech companies to the labor investment of the lowestpaid tech workers across the globe. Cultural and community-centered interventions must be properly resourced and shaped as collective projects, with priority to moving funds to community-led projects.³⁴¹

In summary, across all possible paths forward, we must contest with power. Our existing levers of power via industry reform and government regulation can do more to address tech industry power run amok. Within industry, ethics and corporate accountability measures should better guide an industry that has been trained to "move fast and break things," and the tech workers' rights to defend themselves, their workplaces, and the public good should be protected. At our various levels of government, regulation and legislation must rapidly bring our protections for privacy and civil rights up to speed to a new digital era. The digitization of public services is further empowering the already powerful tech industry to capture more of the public domain, and we must fund public options for essential services that increasingly rely on digital infrastructure. Lastly, there is much to be learned from how marginalized communities are already charting more equitable paths with the tools that exist, such as developing apps and platforms to facilitate resource distribution and using today's social media platforms to educate and hold space beyond what is available in the mainstream. The path ahead requires new modes of collectively creating technology, governing technology and data in the public interest, and organizing a bigger "we" of tech workers and tech users, who can build these modes together.

ракт 06

Conclusion

During the current era of upheaval, technology is transforming societal arrangements. As a tool, it is being used to redefine borders between public and private space, expand the boundaries of corporate space, and influence *who belongs* in each. Consequently, technology is also being used to shape a fourth "non-public/non-private" space, which is the domain of those who are marginalized and *othered*, who lack privacy, rights and a voice in our democracy. In our examination of automated decision systems, surveillance tools, and social media platforms, we uncover how these technologies have been used as tools of othering, deepening existing structural inequities that determine individual and community health.

In this same moment, we find that many activists, scholars, researchers, public officials, and technologists are charting multiple paths forward of resistance to extractive, carceral, and otherwise harmful technologies, as well as new possibilities for technologies that expand belonging. These alternative visions indicate that technological tools themselves are not inherently problematic, but that the current system that governs technological production-in which a limited number of megacorporations and profit motives dominate-is deeply inequitable. Opening up a pathway for ethical, equitable, and emancipatory technology necessitates major systems change. In this landscape scan, we have scratched the surface of what this change must entail and where it might lead, but further research and organizing is needed to illuminate a shared agenda and strategy for the future of technology centered on belonging. Rather than imagining a future driven by the pursuit of profits and automation, what if our pursuit of new technologies is driven by a global vision of a world where community health, well-being, and belonging come first? What would we build? What accountability systems would we create? Whose needs and concerns would we center?

As a starting point, AI researchers Rediet Abebe and Maximilian Kasy call for a redirection of the future of AI that "...includes a wider range of agents of change—especially those who have been left to the margins of society and bear a disproportionate brunt of the burden of algorithmic harms."³⁴² We must therefore begin by recognizing who is harmed by existing technologies built upon social, political, and economic systems of othering and extraction. Given the scale at which tech companies operate, this necessitates a global analysis of how power functions within the tech sector. While beyond the scope of this initial research, this sort of systemic analysis would illuminate key leverage points for intervention and transformation, instead of resigning our future to the vision prescribed by
the status quo. Additionally, we pose the following questions as potential directions for further research:

Taking a more global view of the economy, what are the linkages between the tech sector, speculative finance, and other extractive industries? What do these linkages mean for how the tech sector and economy at large must be regulated?

Furthermore, what do these linkages mean for how power within the tech sector can be contested? What other possibilities do they reveal for building bridges across different constituencies of workers, consumers, advocates, and members of various communities facing overlapping systemic injustices that are all shaped by the same power dynamics?

Finally, the landscape of technology continues to evolve rapidly, with new tools, cases, and impacts to be examined almost daily. Understanding how technology impacts health and its social determinants therefore requires an ongoing research endeavor. This initial phase of research highlights the importance of examining technology's effects not just in terms of individual health, but also societal health—in other words, how technology is impacting our democracy, social institutions, and ways of relating to one another as humans. Further research in this area is essential to advancing technological counterimaginaries as well as just possibilities for our entire collective future.

Endnotes

1 Sarah Myers West, Meredith Whittaker, and Kate Crawford, "Discriminating Systems: Gender Race and Power in Al" (Al Now Institute, New York University, April 2019), https://ainowinstitute.org/ discriminatingsystems.html.

2 Sarah T. Hamid, Interview, "Community Defense: Sarah T. Hamid on Abolishing Carceral Technologies," *Logic Magazine*, accessed April 15, 2021, https://logicmag.io/care/community-defensesarah-t-hamid-on-abolishing-carceral-technologies/.

Julia Bossmann, quoted in Lee Farber and David Laven, "A.I. Is the Future. Will It Keep Us Around to Enjoy It?" (TV episode), *This Giant Beast That Is the Global Economy*, 2019, http://www.imdb. com/title/tt9617860/.

4 Pew Research Center, "Artificial Intelligence and the Future of Humans," December 10, 2018, https://www.pewresearch.org/internet/2018/12/10/ artificial-intelligence-and-the-future-of-humans/.

5 See, for example, the University of California, Berkeley, Program in Science and Technology Studies at https://cstms.berkeley.edu/ research/sts/ and the Stanford University Program in Science, Technology and Society at https://sts. stanford.edu/.

6 See the Ford Foundation's work on Public Interest Technology at https://www.fordfoundation. org/campaigns/public-interest-tech/about/.

7 Executive Office of President Barack Obama, "Big Data: A Report on Algorithmic Systems, Opportunity, and Civil Rights," May 2016, https:// obamawhitehouse.archives.gov/sites/default/files/ microsites/ostp/2016_0504_data_discrimination. pdf.

8 United Nations, "Report of the Secretary General: Roadmap for Digital Cooperation" (June 2020), https://www.un.org/en/content/digitalcooperation-roadmap/.

9 See Partnership on AI at https://www. partnershiponai.org/. 10 See ACM Conference on Fairness, Accountability, and Transparency at https:// facctconference.org/.

11 Karen Hao, "The True Dangers of Al Are Closer Than We Think," *MIT Technology Review* 123, no. 6 (December 11, 2020): 38-39.

12 Fred Turner, From Counterculture to Cyberculture: Stewart Brand, the Whole Earth Network, and the Rise of Digital Utopianism (University of Chicago Press, 2010).

13 Turner, From Counterculture to Cyberculture.

14 Abby Ohlheiser, "How the Truth Was Murdered," *MIT Technology Review*, October 7, 2020, https://www.technologyreview. com/2020/10/07/1009336/how-the-truth-wasmurdered-disinformation-abuse-harassmentonline-2/.

15 Rachelle Hampton, "The Black Feminists Who Saw the Alt-Right Threat Coming," *Slate*, April 23, 2019, https://slate.com/technology/2019/04/ black-feminists-alt-right-twitter-gamergate.html.

16 Hampton, "The Black Feminists Who Saw the Alt-Right Threat Coming,"

17 Alex Kantrowitz, "Ex-Googler Meredith Whittaker on Political Power in Tech, the Flaws of 'The Social Dilemma,' and More," *OneZero* (blog), October 22, 2020, https://onezero.medium.com/ ex-googler-meredith-whittaker-on-political-powerin-tech-the-flaws-of-the-social-dilemma-and-5382c7ca8a86.

18 Myers West, Whittaker, and Crawford, "Discriminating Systems."

19 Myers West, Whittaker, and Crawford.

20 Nitasha Tiku, "Google Hired Timnit Gebru to Be an Outspoken Critic of Unethical AI. Then She Was Fired for It," *Washington Post*, accessed February 9, 2021, https://www.washingtonpost.com/ technology/2020/12/23/google-timnit-gebru-aiethics/. 21 Ruha Benjamin, "Race, Technology and Civil Society: Foundations + Intersections," (Panel Discussion, hosted by the Center for Comparative Studies in Race and Ethnicity at Stanford University, October 20, 2020), https://pacscenter.stanford. edu/event/race-technology-and-civil-societyfoundations-intersections/.

22 Ruha Benjamin, Captivating Technology: Race, Carceral Technoscience, and Liberatory Imagination in Everyday Life (Duke University Press, 2019).

23 Rosalie Chan, "Palantir workers are split over the company's work with ICE, but CEO Alex Karp won't budge despite concerned employees' petitions," *Business Insider*, August 22, 2019, accessed January 5, 2021, https://www. businessinsider.in/over-1200-students-at-17universities-including-stanford-have-pledged-tonot-take-jobs-at-palantir-unless-it-stops-workingwith-ice/articleshow/71154878.cms.

24 Chan, "Palantir workers are split over the company's work with ICE."

25 Mary Meisenzahl, "Over 1,200 students at 17 universities including Stanford have pledged to not take jobs at Palantir unless it stops working with ICE," *Business Insider India*, September 16, 2019, accessed January 5, 2021, https://www. businessinsider.in/over-1200-students-at-17universities-including-stanford-have-pledged-tonot-take-jobs-at-palantir-unless-it-stops-workingwith-ice/articleshow/71154878.cms.

26 Emily Hom, "EECS department holds discussion on UC Berkeley's affiliation with Palantir," *The Daily Cal*, October 28, 2019, accessed January 6, 2021, https://www.dailycal.org/2019/10/25/eecsdepartment-holds-discussion-about-uc-berkeleysaffiliation-with-palantir/.

27 Hom, "EECS department holds discussion."

28 See for example the work of Ruha
Benjamin, Simone Browne, Safiya Umoja Noble,
Cathy O'Neill, Virginia Eubanks, and Shoshana
Zuboff.

29 Jean Burgess and Joshua Green, YouTube: Online Video and Participatory Culture, 2nd ed. (Medford: Polity Press, 2018), 20.

30 Jessie Daniels, "Race and Racism in Internet Studies: A Review and Critique," *New Media and Society* 15, no. 5 (December 10, 2012): 695–719.

31 Ruha Benjamin, "Policing without the Police: Race, Tech, and the New Jim Code," (Webinar, Haymarket Books, July 8, 2020), https:// www.youtube.com/watch?v=tf0nEQTLw04&ab_ channel=HaymarketBooks.

32 E. Tendayi Achiume, "Racial Discrimination and Emerging Digital Technologies: A Human Rights Analysis : Report of the Special Rapporteur on Contemporary Forms of Racism, Racial Discrimination, Xenophobia and Related Intolerance" (United Nations Human Rights Council, June 18, 2020), https://digitallibrary.un.org/ record/3879751.

33 Achiume, "Racial Discrimination and Emerging Digital Technologies."

34 Benjamin, "Policing without the Police."

35 Klaus Schwab, "The Fourth Industrial Revolution: What It Means, How to Respond," World Economic Forum, January 14, 2016, https://www. weforum.org/agenda/2016/01/the-fourth-industrialrevolution-what-it-means-and-how-to-respond/.

36 Achiume, "Racial Discrimination and Emerging Digital Technologies."

37 Tony Romm, "Justice Department Sues Google, Alleging Multiple Violations of Federal Antitrust Law," *Washington Post*, accessed November 5, 2020, https://www.washingtonpost. com/technology/2020/10/20/google-antitrust-dojlawsuit/.

Cecilia Kang, David McCabe, and Daisuke
Wakabayashi, "U.S. Accuses Google of Illegally
Protecting Monopoly," *New York Times*, October
20, 2020, sec. Technology, https://www.nytimes.
com/2020/10/20/technology/google-antitrust.html.

39 Achiume, "Racial Discrimination and Emerging Digital Technologies." 40 The Economist, "The World's Most Valuable Resource Is No Longer Oil, but Data," *The Economist*, May 6, 2017, https://www.economist. com/leaders/2017/05/06/the-worlds-most-valuableresource-is-no-longer-oil-but-data.

41 Daniel Denvir, "Demystifying Big Tech with Meredith Whittaker," The Dig, accessed April 27, 2021, https://www.thedigradio.com/podcast/ demystifying-big-tech-with-meredith-whittaker/.

42 Ruha Benjamin, *Race After Technology: Abolitionist Tools for the New Jim Code* (Polity Books, 2019).

43 NEJM Catalyst, "Social Determinants of Health (SDOH)," *NEJM Catalyst*, December 1, 2017, https://catalyst.nejm.org/doi/full/10.1056/CAT.17.0312.

44 Virginia Eubanks, Automating Inequality: How High-Tech Tools Profile, Police, and Punish the Poor (St. Martin's Publishing Group, 2018).

45 "Pretrial Algorithms," *The Bail Project*," accessed May 17, 2021, https://bailproject.org/ newsroom/pretrial-algorithms/.

46 Matt Henry, "Risk Assessment: Explained," The Appeal, December 14, 2019, https://theappeal. org/the-lab/explainers/risk-assessment-explained/.

47 Ziad Obermeyer et al., "Dissecting Racial
Bias in an Algorithm Used to Manage the Health
of Populations," *Science* 366, no. 6464 (October 25,
2019): 447-53, https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aax2342.

48 Robert Bartlett et al., "Consumer-Lending Discrimination in the FinTech Era" (National Bureau of Economic Research, June 17, 2019), https://doi. org/10.3386/w25943.

49 Cathy O'Neil, Weapons of Math Destruction: How Big Data Increases Inequality and Threatens Democracy (Crown, 2016).

50 Eubanks, Automating Inequality, 5-7.

51 Eubanks, 6.

52 As described by the collective Our Data Bodies, in the most basic sense, an algorithm is like a recipe: "a sequence of steps for solving a problem," or in digital terms, "a set of computational or mathematical formulas that use data as their main ingredient, transforming these data into desired outputs," or determinations. The formula serves as a logic, which can be conceptualized as a set of correlational "if" plus "then" statements based on a data set, and humans can program computers to recognize patterns that assist us in making decisions. Our Data Bodies, "Digital Defense Playbook: Community Power Tools for Reclaiming Data," March 11, 2019, https://www.odbproject. org/2019/03/11/our-data-bodies-playbook-is-out/.

53 Eubanks, Automating Inequality, 9.

54 Eubanks, 11-12.

55 Harini Sursesh, "The Problem with 'Biased Data," *Medium*, January 30, 2019, https://medium. com/@harinisuresh/the-problem-with-biased-data-5700005e514c.

56 Amy Abernethy, "Cracking COVID-19 with AI," (Panel Discussion, Politico Al Summit: An Al-Powered World, October 15, 2020), https://www.politico.com/ live-events/2020/10/15/politico-ai-summit-an-aipowered-world-000985.

57 Jennifer Chu, "Artificial Intelligence Model Detects Asymptomatic Covid-19 Infections through Cellphone-Recorded Coughs," *MIT News*, October 29, 2020, https://news.mit.edu/2020/covid-19-coughcellphone-detection-1029.

58 Eliane Röösli, Brian Rice, and Tina Hernandez-Boussard, "Bias at Warp Speed: How Al May Contribute to the Disparities Gap in the Time of COVID-19," *Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association* 28, no. 1 (August 17, 2020), accessed October 12, 2020, https://doi.org/10.1093/ jamia/ocaa210.

59 Dina Bass and John Tozzi, "U.S. Covid Funding Flaw Shortchanges Hospitals in Black Communities," *Bloomberg.com*, September 10, 2020, https://www.bloomberg.com/news/ articles/2020-09-10/u-s-covid-funding-flawshortchanges-hospitals-in-black-communities. 60 Pragya Kakani et al., "Allocation of COVID-19 Relief Funding to Disproportionately Black Counties," *Journal of the American Medical Association* 324, no. 10 (September 8, 2020): 1000, https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2020.14978.

61 Bass and Tozzi, "U.S. Covid Funding Flaw Shortchanges Hospitals in Black Communities."

62 Bass and Tozzi.

63 Interview with Ziad Obermeyer, "USF
Muma College of Business Certificate: Session 3:
Understand Your Organization," Streamed April 7,
2021.

64 Obermeyer et al., "Dissecting Racial Bias," 447-53.

65 Ziad Obermeyer, "Cracking COVID-19 with AI," (Panel Discussion, Politico AI Summit: An AI-Powered World, October 15, 2020), https://www. politico.com/live-events/2020/10/15/politico-aisummit-an-ai-powered-world-000985.

66 Obermeyer et al., "Dissecting Racial Bias."

67 Achiume, "Racial Discrimination and Emerging Digital Technologies."

68 Achiume.

69 Darshali A. Vyas, Leo G. Eisenstein, and David S. Jones, "Hidden in Plain Sight -Reconsidering the Use of Race Correction in Clinical Algorithms," *The New England Journal of Medicine* 383, no. 9 (27 2020): 874–82, https://doi.org/10.1056/ NEJMms2004740.

70 Sharon Begley, "Racial Bias Skews Algorithms Widely Used to Guide Patient Care," *STAT* (blog), June 17, 2020, https://www.statnews. com/2020/06/17/racial-bias-skews-algorithmswidely-used-to-guide-patient-care/.

71 Vyas, Eisenstein, and Jones.

72 Benjamin, "Policing without the Police."

73 Vyas, Eisenstein, and Jones.

74 Vyas, Eisenstein, and Jones.

75 Harvard Medical School's David Shumway Jones explains, "If I have a Black patient and the risk calculator tells me he has a 20% higher risk of dying from this surgery, it might scare me off from offering that procedure." This means that when a Black patient could benefit from lifesaving surgery, with all other factors being equal with a white patient, they may be steered away from this option because of their race. Begley, "Racial Bias Skews Algorithms Widely Used to Guide Patient Care."

76 The glomerular filtration rate (GFR) test is a blood test that estimates a kidney's GFR and is intended to indicate how well a patient's kidneys are functioning. Ahmed et al.

77 Salman Ahmed et al., "Examining the Potential Impact of Race Multiplier Utilization in Estimated Glomerular Filtration Rate Calculation on African-American Care Outcomes," *Journal of General Internal Medicine* 36, no. 2 (February 1, 2021): 464–71, https://doi.org/10.1007/s11606-020-06280-5.

78 Kaveh Waddell, "Race-Based Kidney Tests Should End: Medical Groups," *Consumer Reports*, accessed April 27, 2021, https://www. consumerreports.org/medical-tests/race-basedkidney-tests-should-end/.

79 National Kidney Foundation, "Removing Race from Estimates of Kidney Function: What Happens Next?" National Kidney Foundation, April 9, 2021, https://www.kidney.org/news/removing-raceestimates-kidney-function-what-happens-next.

80 Benjamin, "Policing without the Police."

81 Benjamin.

82 Röösli, Rice, and Hernandez-Boussard, "Bias at Warp Speed."

Laure Wynants et al., "Prediction Models
for Diagnosis and Prognosis of Covid-19: Systematic
Review and Critical Appraisal," *BMJ* 369 (April 7,
2020): ml328, https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.ml328.

Joseph Shapiro, "One Man's COVID-19
Death Raises the Worst Fears of Many People
with Disabilities," NPR.org, July 31, 2020,
accessed March 23, 2021, https://www.npr.
org/2020/07/31/896882268/one-mans-covid-19death-raises-the-worst-fears-of-many-people-withdisabilities.

85 Shapiro, "One Man's COVID-19 Death."

86 Obermeyer, "Cracking COVID-19 with Al."

87 Robert Samuels, Aaron Williams, Tracy Jan, and Jose A. Del Real, "How U.S. Cities Lost Precious Time to Protect Black Residents from Coronavirus," *Washington Post*, June 3, 2020, https:// www.washingtonpost.com/graphics/2020/politics/ coronavirus-race-african-americans/.

88 Obermeyer, "Cracking COVID-19 with AI."

89 Submission by the New York University Center on Race, Inequality and the Law, see https:// www.ohchr.org/Documents/Issues/Racism/SR/Call/ nyu.pdf, quoted in Achiume, "Racial Discrimination and Emerging Digital Technologies."

90 Obermeyer, "Cracking COVID-19 with Al."

91 Rediet Abebe et al., "Roles for Computing in Social Change," In *Conference on Fairness*, *Accountability, and Transparency (FAT* '20)* (January

27-30, 2020, Barcelona, Spain, ACM, New York), 254, https://dl.acm.org/doi/pdf/10.1145/3351095.3372871.

92 Abebe et al., 253.

93 Abebe et al., 253.

94 Vyas, Eisenstein, and Jones.

95 Al Now, "Automated Decision Systems, Examples of Government Use Cases" (Prepared in advance of NYC Automation Decision Systems Task Force Public Forums, n.d.), https://ainowinstitute.org/ nycadschart.pdf.

96 Abebe et al., 257.

97 Eubanks, Automating Inequality, 13.

98 Meredith Whittaker et al., "AI Now Report
2018" (AI Now Institute, New York University,
December 2018), https://ainowinstitute.org/AI_
Now_2018_Report.pdf.

99 Logan Koepke et al., "Mass Extraction: The Widespread Power of U.S. Law Enforcement to Search Mobile Phones," (Upturn, October 2020), https://www.upturn.org/reports/2020/massextraction. 100 David Uberti, "Police Requests for Google Users' Location Histories Face New Scrutiny," *Wall Street Journal*, July 27, 2020, sec. WSJ Pro, https://www.wsj.com/articles/police-requestsfor-google-users-location-histories-face-newscrutiny-1159584220.

101 Whittaker et al., "AI Now Report 2018."

102 Kashmir Hill, "Wrongfully Accused by an Algorithm," *New York Times*, August 3, 2020, sec. Technology, https://www.nytimes.com/2020/06/24/ technology/facial-recognition-arrest.html.

Sidney Fussell, "This Is Exactly What Privacy Experts Said Would Happen," *The Atlantic*, June
11, 2019, https://www.theatlantic.com/technology/
archive/2019/06/travelers-images-stolen-attackcbp/591403/.

104 Megan Cassidy, "Activists Sue S. F., Claiming Police Tapped Surveillance Cameras during George Floyd Protests," *San Francisco Chronicle*, accessed October 26, 2020, https://www.sfchronicle.com/ crime/article/Activists-sue-S-F-claiming-policetapped-15628516.php.

105 Umberto Bacchi, "Coronavirus Surveillance Poses Long-Term Privacy Threat, U.N. Expert Warns," *Reuters*, March 31, 2020, https://www. reuters.com/article/us-health-coronavirus-privacyidUSKBN2111XG.

106 Patrick Howell O'Neill, Tate Ryan-Mosely, and Bobbie Johnson, "A Flood of Coronavirus Apps Are Tracking Us. Now It's Time to Keep Track of Them," *MIT Technology Review*, May 7, 2020, https:// www.technologyreview.com/2020/05/07/1000961/ launching-mittr-covid-tracing-tracker/.

107 Carmel Shachar, "Protecting Privacy in Digital Contact Tracing For COVID-19: Avoiding A Regulatory Patchwork," *Health Affairs*, May 19, 2020, /do/10.1377/hblog20200515.190582/full.

108 Steve Bennett, "4 Ways Government Can Use AI to Track Coronavirus," *GCN*, March 10, 2020, https://gcn.com/articles/2020/03/10/ai-coronavirustracking.aspx. 109 Brooke Auxier, "How Americans See Digital Privacy Issues amid the COVID-19 Outbreak," Pew Research Center, May 4, 2020, https://www. pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2020/05/04/howamericans-see-digital-privacy-issues-amid-thecovid-19-outbreak/.

110 Kelly Servick, "COVID-19 Contact Tracing Apps Are Coming to a Phone near You. How Will We Know Whether They Work?" *Science*, May 21, 2020, https://www.sciencemag.org/news/2020/05/ countries-around-world-are-rolling-out-contacttracing-apps-contain-coronavirus-how.

111 Servick, "COVID-19 Contact Tracing Apps."

112 Patrick Howell O'Neill, "No, Coronavirus Apps Don't Need 60% Adoption to Be Effective," *MIT Technology Review*, June 5, 2020, https://www. technologyreview.com/2020/06/05/1002775/covidapps-effective-at-less-than-60-percent-download/.

113 Vi Hart et al., "Outpacing the Virus: Digital Response to Containing the Spread of COVID-19
While Mitigating Privacy Risks," Covid-19 Rapid Response Impact Initiative (Edmond J. Safra Center for Ethics at Harvard University, April 3, 2020), https://ethics.harvard.edu/outpacing-virus.

114 Hart et al., "Outpacing the Virus."

115Shachar, "Protecting Privacy in DigitalContact Tracing For COVID-19."

116 Shachar.

117 Article 17 of the General Data Protection Regulation defines the "right to be forgotten" as the right for a data subject to have their personal data erased from the data controller without undue delay. "Art. 17 GDPR: Right to erasure ('right to be forgotten')," https://gdpr.eu/article-17-right-to-beforgotten/.

118 Shachar, "Protecting Privacy."

119 Jessica Rich. How our outdated privacy laws doomed contact-tracing apps. *The Brookings Institute*. January 28, 2021. https://www.brookings. edu/blog/techtank/2021/01/28/how-our-outdatedprivacy-laws-doomed-contact-tracing-apps/.

120 Pierre Valade, "Jumbo Privacy Review: North Dakota's Contact Tracing App," Jumbo Privacy, May 21, 2020, https://blog.jumboprivacy.com/jumboprivacy-review-north-dakota-s-contact-tracing-app. html.

121 Andy Greenberg, "State-Based Contact Tracing Apps Could Be a Mess," *Wired*, May 27, 2020, https://www.wired.com/story/covid-19-contacttracing-app-fragmentation/.

122 Valade, "Jumbo Privacy Review."

Isobel Braithwaite et al., "Automated and Partly Automated Contact Tracing: A Systematic Review to Inform the Control of COVID-19," *The Lancet Digital Health* 2, no. 11 (November 1, 2020): e607-21, https://doi.org/10.1016/S2589-7500(20)30184-9.

124 Hart et al., "Outpacing the Virus."

125 Umberto Bacchi, "Coronavirus Surveillance Poses Long-Term Privacy Threat, U.N. Expert Warns," *Reuters*, March 31, 2020, https://www. reuters.com/article/us-health-coronavirus-privacyidUSKBN2111XG.

126 US Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, "Case Investigation and Contact Tracing : Part of a Multipronged Approach to Fight the COVID-19 Pandemic," Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, October 21, 2020, https://www.cdc. gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/php/principles-contacttracing.html.

127 Ari Trechtenburg and Novak Boškov, "Workplaces are turning to devices to monitor social distancing, but does the tech respect privacy?" *The Conversation*, June 9, 2020, https://theconversation. com/workplaces-are-turning-to-devices-to-monitorsocial-distancing-but-does-the-tech-respectprivacy-139825.

128 Samantha Murphy Kelly, "Universities and High Schools Are Readying High-Tech Ways to Curb the Spread of Covid-19," *CNN*, accessed November 3, 2020, https://www.cnn.com/2020/06/16/tech/ schools-technology-fall-2020/index.html.

129 Anne L. Washington and Lauren Rhue, "Pandemic Privacy in the Workplace," *Points: Data & Society* (blog), June 17, 2020, https:// points.datasociety.net/pandemic-privacy-in-theworkplace-a3cb92baffc. 130 Hye Jin Rho, Hayley Brown, and Shawn Fremstad, "A Basic Demographic Profile of Workers in Frontline Industries," *Center for Economic and Policy Research* (blog), April 7, 2020, https://cepr. net/a-basic-demographic-profile-of-workers-infrontline-industries/.

131 Annie Palmer. "Amazon is tracking warehouse workers and says it could fire them for violating social distancing rules," *CNBC*, April 6, 2020, https://www.cnbc.com/2020/04/06/amazonsays-workers-could-be-fired-for-violating-socialdistancing-rules.html.

132 Palmer, "Amazon is tracking warehouse workers."

133 Palmer.

134 Rachel Metz, "Going Back to Work or School? An Algorithm May Warn You to Keep Your Distance from Others," *CNN Business*, July 28, 2020, https://www.cnn.com/2020/07/28/tech/ai-socialdistancing-in-offices-and-schools/index.html.

135 Metz, "Going Back to Work or School?"

136 Daniel A. Hanley and Sally Hubbard, "Eyes Everywhere: Amazon's Surveillance Infrastructure and Revitalizing Worker Power" (Open Markets Institute Report, September 2020), https://www. openmarketsinstitute.org/publications/eyeseverywhere-amazons-surveillance-infrastructureand-revitalizing-worker-power.

137 Hanley and Hubbard, "Eyes Everywhere."

138 "Union-Tracking Software Proposed by Amazon," *BBC News*, October 7, 2020, sec. Technology, https://www.bbc.com/news/ technology-54439797.

139 Nandita Bose, "Amazon's Surveillance Can Boost Output and Possibly Limit Unions—Study," *Reuters*, September 1, 2020, https://www.reuters. com/article/amazon-com-workers-surveillanceidUSKBN25S3F2.

140 Tawana Petty, "Legitimizing True Safety" (Panel Discussion, Race, Tech, and Civil Society series, Stanford University Digital Civil Society Lab, Center on Comparative Studies in Race and Technology, and Digital Impact, June 3, 2020), https://digitalimpact.io/race-tech-,civil-society-legitimizing-true-safety/.

Stacey Vanek Smith and Cardiff Garcia,
"The Business of Police Surveillance," *The Indicator from Planet Money* (podcast), National
Public Radio, June 12, 2020, https://www.npr. org/2020/06/12/876389237/the-business-of-policesurveillance.

142 Cassidy, "Activists sue S.F."

143 ACLU of Northern California, "Activists Sue San Francisco for Wide-Ranging Surveillance of Black-Led Protests Against Police Violence," ACLU of Northern California, October 7, 2020, https://www. aclunc.org/news/activists-sue-san-francisco-wideranging-surveillance-black-led-protests-againstpolice.

144 Priya Sarathy Jones, "'The Other America': How Fines and Fees Perpetuate Systemic Racism," Fines and Fees Justice Center, June 16, 2020, https:// finesandfeesjusticecenter.org/2020/06/16/the-otheramerica-how-fines-and-fees-perpetuate-injustice/.

145 Vanek Smith and Garcia, "The Business of Police Surveillance."

146 Vanek Smith and Garcia.

147 See #ProtectBlackDissent Campaign by Media Justice, at https://mediajustice.org/campaign/ stop-spying/.

148 Karen Turner, "Mass surveillance silences minority opinions, according to study," *Washington Post*, March 26, 2016.

149 Turner, "Mass surveillance."

150 Joy Buolamwini and Timnit Gebru, "Gender Shades: Intersectional Accuracy Disparities in Commercial Gender Classification," in *Conference on Fairness, Accountability and Transparency* (Conference on Fairness, Accountability and Transparency, PMLR, 2018), 77–91, http://proceedings. mlr.press/v81/buolamwini18a.html.

151 Patrick Grother, Mei Ngan, and Kayee Hanaoka, "Face Recognition Vendor Test Part 3: Demographic Effects" (Gaithersburg, MD: National Institute of Standards and Technology, December 2019), https://doi.org/10.6028/NIST.IR.8280. 152 Jennifer Valentino-DeVries, "How the Police Use Facial Recognition, and Where It Falls Short," *New York Times*, January 12, 2020, sec. Technology, https://www.nytimes.com/2020/01/12/technology/ facial-recognition-police.html.

153 Kashmir Hill, "Wrongfully Accused by an Algorithm."

154 Bobby Allen, "Man Says He Was Falsely Arrested after Facial Recognition Mistake," NPR, June 24, 2020.

155 Hill, "Wrongfully Accused by an Algorithm."

156 Whittaker et al., "Al Now Report 2018," 121.

157 Rashida Richardson, "The Era of High-Tech Policing" (Panel Discussion, Politico Al Summit: An Al-Powered World, October 15, 2020), https://www. politico.com/live-events/2020/10/15/politico-aisummit-an-ai-powered-world-000985.

158 Defined by the Carceral Tech Resistance Network as "technologies that are bound up in the control, coercion, capture, and exile of entire categories of people."

159 Richardson, "The Era of High-Tech Policing."

160 Esha Bhandari, "The Era of High-Tech Policing," (Panel Discussion, Politico Al Summit: An Al-Powered World, October 15, 2020), https://www. politico.com/live-events/2020/10/15/politico-aisummit-an-ai-powered-world-000985.

Ruchir Puri, "Mitigating Bias in Al Models,"
 IBM Research (blog), February 6, 2018, https://www.
 ibm.com/blogs/research/2018/02/mitigating-bias-ai-models/.

162 Sean Hollister, "Google contractors reportedly targeted homeless people for Pixel 4 facial recognition," *The Verge*, October 2, 2019, https://www.theverge.com/2019/10/2/20896181/ google-contractor-reportedly-targeted-homelesspeople-for-pixel-4-facial-recognition.

163 Jack Poulson and Llana James, "Health Care Data and Informed Consent in the 21st Century," REDE4BlackLives, July 26, 2020, https://www. youtube.com/watch?v=tiv39UEssu0.

164 Jeannie Baumann, "Google Has the Data,

but Health AI Researchers Need Your Consent," Bloomberg Law, January 8, 2020, https://news. bloomberglaw.com/health-law-and-business/ google-has-the-data-but-health-ai-researchersneed-your-consent.

165 Poulson, "Health Care Data."

166 Mijente, "Who's Behind ICE? The Tech and Data Companies Fueling Deportations" (Mijente, 2018), https://mijente.net/wp-content/ uploads/2018/10/WHO%E2%80%99S-BEHIND-ICE_-The-Tech-and-Data-Companies-Fueling-Deportations-_v1.pdf.

167 Glenn Cohen, "Informed Consent and Medical Artificial Intelligence: What to Tell the Patient?" *Georgetown Law Journal* 108 (2020), https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_ id=3529576.

168 Human Impact Partners, "The Public Health Crisis Hidden in Amazon Warehouses," Human Impact Partners and the Warehouse Worker Resource Center, January 2021, https:// humanimpact.org/hipprojects/amazon/.

169 Andrew Perrin and Monica Anderson, "Share of U.S. adults using social media, including Facebook, is mostly unchanged since 2018," Pew Research Center, April 10, 2019, https://www. pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2019/04/10/share-of-us-adults-using-social-media-including-facebook-ismostly-unchanged-since-2018/.

170 Burson Cohn & Wolfe, *Twiplomacy Study* 2018, Twiplomacy (blog), July 10, 2018, https:// twiplomacy.com/blog/twiplomacy-study-2018/.

171 Stephen Menendian, Elsadig Elsheikh, and Samir Gambhir, 2019 Inclusiveness Index: Measuring Global Inclusion and Marginality (Berkeley, CA: Othering & Belonging Institute, 2019), 13–14, https://belonging.berkeley.edu/ inclusivenessindex.

172 Travis Andrews, "Our iPhone weekly screen time reports are through the roof, and people are 'horrified," *Washington Post*, March 24, 2020, accessed April 28, 2020, https://www. washingtonpost.com/technology/2020/03/24/ screen-time-iphone-coronavirus-quarantine-covid/. 173 Kate Starbird, Emma S. Spiro, and Kolina Koltai, "Misinformation, Crisis, and Public Health—Reviewing the Literature," Social Science Research Council, MediaWell, June 25, 2020, https://mediawell.ssrc.org/literature-reviews/ misinformation-crisis-and-public-health/versions/v1-0/.

174 Matt Richtel, "W.H.O. Fights a Pandemic Besides Coronavirus: An 'Infodemic," *New York Times*, February 6, 2020, sec. Health, https://www. nytimes.com/2020/02/06/health/coronavirusmisinformation-social-media.html.

175 Rasmus Kleis Nielsen et al., "Navigating the 'Infodemic': How People in Six Countries Access and Rate News and Information about Coronavirus," Misinformation, Science, and Media (Reuters Institute for the Study of Journalism, April 15, 2020), https://reutersinstitute.politics.ox.ac.uk/infodemichow-people-six-countries-access-and-rate-newsand-information-about-coronavirus.

176 Bobby Allyn, "Researchers: Nearly Half of Accounts Tweeting about Coronavirus Are Likely Bots," NPR, May 20, 2020, https:// www.npr.org/sections/coronavirus-liveupdates/2020/05/20/859814085/researchers-nearlyhalf-of-accounts-tweeting-about-coronavirus-arelikely-bots.

177 Donara Barojan, "How to Identify Bots, Trolls, and Botnets," Global Investigative Journalism Network, November 5, 2018, https:// gijn.org/2018/11/05/how-to-identify-bots-trolls-andbotnets/#.

Yuxi Wang et al., "Systematic Literature
Review on the Spread of Health-Related
Misinformation on Social Media," Social Science &
Medicine 240 (2019) 112552, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.
socscimed.2019.112552.

179 Coronavirus Conversations, "Discussion: Stopping the spread of misinformation amid the coronavirus crisis," The World, May 26, 2020, https://www.pri.org/stories/2020-05-26/discussionstopping-spread-misinformation-amid-coronaviruscrisis.

180 Coronavirus Conversations, "Discussion."

181 Richtel, "W.H.O. Fights a Pandemic Besides Coronavirus."

182 Coronavirus Conversations, "Discussion."

183 Coronavirus Conversations.

184 Ranjan Pathak et al., "YouTube as a Source of Information on Ebola Virus Disease," North American Journal of Medical Sciences 7, no. 7 (July 2015): 306–9, https://doi.org/10.4103/1947-2714.161244.

185 Kate Starbird, "Why it's so hard to discern between conspiracies and intentional disinformation," *Fast Company*, July 27, 2020, https://www.fastcompany.com/90532423/whyits-so-hard-to-discern-between-conspiracies-andintentional-disinformation.

186 James Temperton, "How the 5G Coronavirus Conspiracy Theory Tore through the Internet," *Wired UK*, April 6, 2020, https://www. wired.co.uk/article/5g-coronavirus-conspiracytheory.

187 Temperton, "How the 5G."

188 Adam Satariano and Davey Alba, "Burning Cell Towers, Out of Baseless Fear They Spread the Virus," *New York Times*, April 11, 2020, https://www. nytimes.com/2020/04/10/technology/coronavirus-5g-uk.html.

189 Satariano and Alba, "Burning Cell Towers."

- 190 Satariano and Alba.
- 191 Satariano and Alba.

192 Abby Ohlheiser, "How covid-19 conspiracy theorists are exploiting YouTube culture," *MIT Technology Review*, May 7, 2020, https://www. technologyreview.com/2020/05/07/1001252/ youtube-covid-conspiracy-theories/.

193 Donald Trump, "Press Briefing by President Donald Trump, Vice President Pence, and Members of the Coronavirus Task Force," *The White House*, April 7, 2020, https://www.whitehouse.gov/ briefings-statements/remarks-president-trump-vicepresident-pence-members-coronavirus-task-forcepress-briefing-april-7-2020/. 194 US Food and Drug Administration, "FDA Drug Safety Communication: FDA Cautions against Use of Hydroxychloroquine or Chloroquine for COVID-19 Outside of the Hospital Setting or a Clinical Trial Due to Risk of Heart Rhythm Problems," April 24, 2020, https://www.fda.gov/media/137250/ download.

195 Martha Bebinger, "Why Hoarding of Hydroxychloroquine Needs to Stop," *All Things Considered*, WBUR, NPR, March 23, 2020, https://www.npr.org/sections/healthshots/2020/03/23/820228658/why-hoarding-ofhydroxychloroquine-needs-to-stop.

196 Austin Horn, "Online Pharmacy Saw a 'Panic-Driven' Boom in Drug Touted by Trump," NPR, May 14, 2020, https://www.npr.org/sections/ coronavirus-live-updates/2020/05/14/855841849/ online-pharmacy-saw-a-panic-driven-boom-indrug-touted-by-trump.

197 Horn, "Online Pharmacy."

198 APM Research Lab Staff, "The Color of Coronavirus: COVID-19 Deaths by Race and Ethnicity in the U.S.," APM Research Lab, March 5, 2021, accessed Jan 5, 2021, https://www.apmresearchlab. org/covid/deaths-by-race.

199 Spandana Singh and Koustubh "K.J." Bagchi, "How Internet Platforms Are Combating Disinformation and Misinformation in the Age of COVID-19," New America Open Technology Institute, June 1, 2020, https://www.newamerica.org/oti/ reports/how-internet-platforms-are-combatingdisinformation-and-misinformation-age-covid-19/.

200 "Misinformation, Distrust May Contribute to Black Americans' COVID-19 Deaths," NPR, *Morning Edition*, April 10, 2020, https://www.npr. org/2020/04/10/831480462/misinformation-distrustmay-contribute-to-black-americans-covid-19-deaths.

201 The Tuskegee Experiment was a medical study conducted by the US government on African Americans without informed consent between 1932 and 1972. The study denied African American males and their partners diagnoses and treatment of syphilis in order to study the progression of the disease. 203 BBC Monitoring and UGC Newsgathering, "China Coronavirus: Misinformation Spreads Online about Origin and Scale," *BBC News*, January 30, 2020, https://www.bbc.com/news/blogstrending-51271037.

The Observers, France 24, "Are There Really Dogs, Snakes, Rats and Bats for Sale at the Wuhan Market Where Coronavirus Originated?" April 2, 2020, https://observers.france24.com/en/20200204china-debunked-coronavirus-dogs-snakes-rats-batswuhan-market-indonesia.

205 "Reports of Anti-Asian Assaults, Harassment and Hate Crimes Rise as Coronavirus Spreads," Anti-Defamation League, June 10, 2020, https://www.adl. org/blog/reports-of-anti-asian-assaults-harassmentand-hate-crimes-rise-as-coronavirus-spread.

206 Anti-Defamation League, "Reports of Anti-Asian Assaults."

207 Russell Jeung et al., *Stop AAPI Hate National Report*, (Stop AAPI Hate Reporting Center, February 28, 2021), https://secureservercdn. net/104.238.69.231/alw.90d.myftpupload.com/wpcontent/uploads/2021/03/210312-Stop-AAPI-Hate-National-Report-.pdf.

208 Tyler T. Reny and Matt A. Barreto, "Xenophobia in the time of pandemic: othering, anti-Asian attitudes, and COVID-19," *Politics, Groups, and Identities* (2020), https://doi.org/10.1080/215655 03.2020.1769693.

209 Kate Conger, "Twitter Removes Chinese Disinformation Campaign."

210 Conger, "Twitter Removes Chinese Disinformation Campaign."

211 In the world of technological design, friction is a word "reserved for any barrier that acts as an extra step users have to go through to access a service."

212 Jacob Bor et al., "Police killings and their spillover effects on the mental health of black Americans: a population-based, quasi-experimental study," *The Lancet*, July 28, 2018, https://www. thelancet.com/journals/lancet/article/PIIS0140-6736(18)31130-9/fulltext.

202 NPR, "Misinformation, Distrust."

213 Kenya Downs, "When Black Death Goes Viral, It Can Trigger PTSD-like Trauma,"

PBS Newshour, July 22, 2016, https://www.pbs.org/ newshour/nation/black-pain-gone-viral-racismgraphic-videos-can-create-ptsd-like-trauma.

214 Downs, "When Black Death Goes Viral."

215 Downs.

216 Downs.

217 Kara Jillian Brown, "How Sharing Images of Violence Against Black People Damages Their Mental Health," Well and Good, June 1, 2020, accessed February 15, 2021, https://www. wellandgood.com/archive-update-letter/.

218 Benjamin, Race After Technology.

219 Ingrid Brudvig et al., "Covid-19 and increasing domestic violence against women: The pandemic of online gender-based violence," (World Wide Web Foundation, July 2020), 4, http://webfoundation.org/docs/2020/07/WWWF-Submission-COVID-19-and-the-increase-ofdomestic-violence-against-women-1.pdf.

220 Raven Veal, "What Does a UX Researcher Actually Do? The Ultimate Career Guide," *The CareerFoundry*, November 30, 2020, https:// careerfoundry.com/en/blog/ux-design/uxresearcher-career-guide/.

221 LinkedIn, "Instagram UX Qualitative Researcher Job Posting," accessed April 27, 2021, https://www.linkedin.com/jobs/view/uxqualitative-researcher-instagram-at-instagram-2495046664/?utm_campaign=google_jobs_ apply&utm_source=google_jobs_apply&utm_ medium=organic.

Technology, Mind, and Society Conference, "Panel of Experts: A Discussion of the Psychological Causes & Consequences of Disinformation in Media," American Psychological Society, November 13, 2020.

223 Technology, Mind, and Society Conference, "Panel of Experts."

224 Safiya Umoja Noble, Algorithms of Oppression: How Search Engines Reinforce Racism (New York: New York University Press, 2018). Liu yi Lin et al., "Association between Social Media Use and Depression among U.S. Young Adults," *Depression and Anxiety* 33, no. 4 (January 2016), https://doi.org/10.1002/da.22466.

226 Daniels, "Race and Racism in Internet Studies," 695–719.

227 Ohlheiser, "How Covid-19 conspiracy theorists are exploiting YouTube culture."

228 Coronavirus Conversations, "Discussion."

229 Infodemic, "Monetise This! Conspiracy Entrepreneurs, Marketplace Bots, and Surveillance Capitalism," *Infodemic: Combatting COVID-19 Conspiracy Theories*, February 17, 2021, http:// infodemic.eu/2021/02/17/monetisation.html.

230 "#DeplatformIcke: How Big Tech powers and profits from David Icke's lies and hate, and why it must stop," Center for Countering Digital Hate, 16, https://www.counterhate.com/deplatform-icke.

231 Brandy Zadrozny, "These disinformation researchers saw the coronavirus 'infodemic' coming," *NBC News*, https://www.nbcnews.com/ tech/social-media/these-disinformation-researcherssaw-coronavirus-infodemic-coming-n1206911.

232 Anthony Nadler, Matthew Crain, and Joan Donovan, "Weaponizing the Digital Influence Machine: The Political Perils of Online Ad Tech," Data & Society, October 17, 2018, https://datasociety.net/ library/weaponizing-the-digital-influence-machine/.

233 Emily K. Vraga and Leticia Bode, "Correction as a Solution for Health Misinformation on Social Media," *American Journal of Public Health*. October 1, 2020, https://ajph.aphapublications.org/ doi/10.2105/AJPH.2020.305916.

234 Twitter Safety, "Updates to our work on COVID-19 vaccine misinformation," Twitter (blog), https://blog.twitter.com/en_us/topics/ company/2021/updates-to-our-work-on-covid-19vaccine-misinformation.html.

Liliana Bounegru, Jonathan Gray, and Tommaso Venturini, "'Fake news' as infrastructural uncanny," *New Media and Society* 22, no. 2 (2020): 334, https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/ pdf/10.1177/1461444819856912. 236 Vraga and Bode, "Correction as a Solution."

237 danah boyd, "Agnotology and Epistemological Fragmentation," *Points: Data* & *Society (blog)*, April 26, 2019, https://points. datasociety.net/agnotology-and-epistemologicalfragmentation-56aa3c509c6b.

238 Stephan Lewandowsky, Klaus Oberauer, and Gilles E. Gignac, "NASA Faked the Moon Landing—Therefore, (Climate) Science Is a Hoax: An Anatomy of the Motivated Rejection of Science," *Psychological Science*, March 26, 2013, https://journals.sagepub.com/ doi/10.1177/0956797612457686.

239 Erin McAweeney, "Who Benefits from Health Misinformation?" *Points: Data & Society* (blog), March 30, 2020, https://points.datasociety. net/who-benefits-from-health-misinformation-8d094804058d.

240 Davey Alba and Sheera Frenkel, "From Voter Fraud to Vaccine Lies: Misinformation Peddlers Shift Gears," *New York Times*, January 7, 2021, https://www.nytimes.com/2020/12/16/technology/ from-voter-fraud-to-vaccine-lies-misinformationpeddlers-shift-gears.html.

241 See Rise Up for Justice, a narrative hub from the Othering & Belonging Institute, at https:// www.riseup4justice.org/livestream.

242 The Media Manipulation Case Book defines digital blackface as "the use of visual or linguistic signifiers of Black technoculture by nonblack people for the purpose of deception, manipulation, or exploitation." See https://mediamanipulation.org/ definitions/digital-blackface, accessed April 27, 2021.

243 MIT Sloan defines deepfakes as "a specific kind of synthetic media where a person in an image or video is swapped with another person's likeness." Popular examples of deepfakes are celebrities and politicians with mouths and voices swapped out to deceive the public. See https://mitsloan.mit.edu/ ideas-made-to-matter/deepfakes-explained.

244 The Media Manipulation Casebook, "Case Studies," accessed March 12, 2020, https:// mediamanipulation.org/case-studies. Administration Can Help Solve Our Reality Crisis," *New York Times*, February 2, 2021, https://www. nytimes.com/2021/02/02/technology/biden-realitycrisis-misinformation.html.

Solomon Greene et al., "Technology and
Equity in Cities," Urban Institute, November 21,
2019, https://www.urban.org/research/publication/
technology-and-equity-cities.

247 Abebe et al., "Roles for Computing in Social Change."

248 Madeleine Clare Elish and Elizabeth Anne Watkins, "Repairing Innovation: A Study of Integrating AI in Clinical Care" (Data & Society, September 2020), https://datasociety.net/library/ repairing-innovation/.

249 Ruth Wilson Gilmore, "How should abolitionists respond to the coronavirus pandemic?" Haymarket Books, April 17, 2020, https://www. haymarketbooks.org/blogs/128-ruth-wilson-gilmoreon-covid-19-decarceration-and-abolition.

250 Benjamin, Race After Technology, 163.

251 Benjamin, "Policing without the Police."

252 Defined by the Carceral Tech Resistance Network as "technologies that are bound up in the control, coercion, capture, and exile of entire categories of people."

253 Jacob Metcalf, Emanuel Moss, and danah boyd, "Owning Ethics: Corporate Logics, Silicon Valley, and the Institutionalization of Ethics," Social Research: An International Quarterly 86, no. 2 (August 28, 2019): 449–76, https://datasociety.net/ wp-content/uploads/2019/09/Owning-Ethics-PDFversion-2.pdf.

254 Future of Life Institute, "Asilomar Al Principles," Future of Life Institute (2017), https:// futureoflife.org/ai-principles/.

255 Khari Johnson, "Access Now resigns from Partnership on AI due to lack of change among tech companies," *Venture Beat*, October 14, 2020, https:// venturebeat.com/2020/10/14/access-now-resignsfrom-partnership-on-ai-due-to-lack-of-changeamong-tech-companies/. 256 Metcalf, Moss, and boyd, "Owning Ethics" 449-76.

257 Metcalf, Moss, and boyd, 11.

258 Metcalf, Moss, and boyd, 12.

259 Benjamin, Race after Technology.

260 See the Data Nutrition Project website at https://datanutrition.org/, accessed December 12, 2020. "Ground truth" is a term borrowed from remote sensing referring to an independent verification of data in the real world. An example of this is checking email spam filters for false positives (Techopedia dictionary entry for "ground truth," https://www.techopedia.com/definition/32514/ ground-truth).

261 Harini Suresh, "The Problem with 'Biased Data," *Medium*, January 30, 2019, https://medium. com/@harinisuresh/the-problem-with-biased-data-5700005e514c.

262 Sara Harrison, "Five Years of Tech Diversity Reports—and Little Progress," *Wired*, October 1, 2019, https://www.wired.com/story/five-years-techdiversity-reports-little-progress/.

263 Tiffany Webb, "Flatiron School's Latest Jobs Report Shows Promise for Breaking Down Tech's Gender Barrier," Flatiron School, January 27, 2021, https://flatironschool.com/blog/jobs-report-jobplacement-salary-gender-diversity-in-tech.

Audrey Watters. "Why Are Coding Bootcamps Going Out of Business?" *Hack Education*, July 22, 2017, http://hackeducation. com/2017/07/22/bootcamp-bust.

265 Sarah McBride, "Want a Job in Silicon Valley? Keep Away from Coding Schools," *Bloomberg*, December 2, 2016, https://www. bloomberg.com/news/features/2016-12-06/wanta-job-in-silicon-valley-keep-away-from-codingschools.

266 Bhaskar Chakravorti, "To Increase Diversity, U.S. Tech Companies Need to Follow the Talent," *Harvard Business Review*, December 4, 2020, https://hbr.org/2020/12/to-increase-diversity-u-stech-companies-need-to-follow-the-talent.

267 Tressie McMillan Cottom, "The Lower

Ed Ecosystem: Bootcamps Edition," *Some of Us Are Brave* (blog), 2017, https://tressiemc.com/uncategorized/the-lower-ed-ecosystem-bootcamps-edition/.

268 Elizabeth Edwards, "Check Your Stats: The Lack of Diversity in Venture Capital Is Worse Than It Looks," *Forbes*, February 24, 2021, https://www. forbes.com/sites/elizabethedwards/2021/02/24/ check-your-stats-the-lack-of-diversity-in-venturecapital-is-worse-than-it-looks/?sh=4003ba09185d.

269 Edwards, "Check Your Stats."

270 The Initiative for Digital Public Infrastructure, "Reimagining the Internet," YouTube, March 31, 2021, https://publicinfrastructure.org/ podcast/19-charlton-mcilwain.

271 Roy Swan and Darren Walker, "Capital for Justice: Spurring on Impact Investing for Racial Equity," *Stanford Social Innovation Review*, April 29, 2019, https://ssir.org/articles/entry/capital_for_justice_ spurring_on_impact_investing_for_racial_equityp.

272 "Technologies for Liberation: Toward Abolitionist Futures—Recommendations for Funders," Astraea Lesbian Foundation for Justice, December 2020, 25-29, https://s3.amazonaws.com/ astraea.production/app/asset/uploads/2020/12/ Technologies-for-Liberation-1.pdf.

273 Tiku, "Google hired Timnit Gebru."

274 Sheelah Kolhatkar, "The Tech Industry's Gender-Discrimination Problem," *The New Yorker*, November 13, 2017, https://www.newyorker.com/ magazine/2017/11/20/the-tech-industrys-genderdiscrimination-problem.

275 Kolhatkar, "The Tech Industry's Gender-Discrimination Problem."

276 Allison Scott, Freada Kapor Klein, and Uriridiakoghene Onovakpuri, "Tech Leavers Study," Kapor Center for Social Impact, April 17, 2017, https:// mk0kaporcenter5ld71a.kinstacdn.com/wp-content/ uploads/2017/08/TechLeavers2017.pdf.

277 Sonia Katyal, "Private Accountability in the Age of Artificial Intelligence," *UCLA Law Review*, January 15, 2019, https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/ papers.cfm?abstract_id=3309397. 278 Julia Carrie Wong, "Pinterest's new vaccine search will offer something rare on social media: facts," *The Guardian*, August 29, 2019, https://www. theguardian.com/society/2019/aug/28/pinterestanti-vaccine-combat-health-misinformation.

279 Kari Paul, "She broke her NDA to speak out against Pinterest. Now she's helping others come forward," *The Guardian*, May 10, 2021, https:// www.theguardian.com/technology/2021/may/10/ pinterest-discrimination-ifeoma-ozoma-nda.

280 Khari Johnson, "From whistleblower laws to unions: How Google's AI ethics meltdown could shape policy," *VentureBeat*, December 16, 2020, https://venturebeat.com/2020/12/16/fromwhistleblower-laws-to-unions-how-googles-aiethics-meltdown-could-shape-policy/.

Joy Buolamwini, "Announcing the Sunset of the Safe Face Pledge," *Medium*, February 8, 2021, https://medium.com/@Joy.Buolamwini/announcingthe-sunset-of-the-safe-face-pledge-36e6ea9e0dc5.

282 See Community Reporting of Algorithmic System Harms Project, accessed January 22, 2021, at https://www.ajl.org/avbp.

283 "On Fictitious Capital: How Finance Is Appropriating Our Future (with Cedric Durand)," The American Assembly, Columbia University, March 20, 2021, https://americanassembly.org/wbi-podcast/onfictitious-capital-how-finance-is-appropriating-ourfuture-with-cedric-durand.

284 Brooke Auxier, "How Americans See Digital Privacy Issues amid the COVID-19 Outbreak," *Pew Research Center* (blog), May 4, 2020, https://www. pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2020/05/04/howamericans-see-digital-privacy-issues-amid-thecovid-19-outbreak/.

285 Kim Lyons, "Palantir still relies heavily on government contracts despite push for more corporate customers," *The Verge*, August 21, 2020, https://www.theverge.com/2020/8/21/21396043/ palantir-government-contracts-trump-thiel.

286 "Silicon Valley giants have thousands of US military contracts," *Engineering and Technology*,
July 9, 2020, https://eandt.theiet.org/content/
articles/2020/07/silicon-valley-giants-have-

thousands-of-us-military-contracts/.

287 City of Oakland, "Privacy Advisory Commission," accessed November 16, 2020, https:// www.oaklandca.gov/boards-commissions/privacyadvisory-board.

288 San Francisco Public Works, "Office of Emerging Technology," accessed November 16, 2020, http://www.sfpublicworks.org/OET.

289 Rashida Richardson, "The Era of High-Tech Policing," (Panel Discussion, Politico Al Summit: An Al-Powered World, October 15, 2020), https://www. politico.com/live-events/2020/10/15/politico-aisummit-an-ai-powered-world-000985.

290 Hany Farid, "AI & Facial Recognition: Policy for a New Era of Privacy," (Panel Discussion, Science Meets Science series, Science Policy Group at Berkeley, March 4, 2020), https://sciencepolicy. berkeley.edu/2020/03/09/ai-facial-recognitionpolicy-for-a-new-era-of-privacy/.

291 OneTrust, "California: Bills on Facial Recognition, Automated Decisions, and Medical Confidentiality Introduced to Assembly," OneTrust DataGuidance, February 19, 2020, https://www. dataguidance.com/news/california-bills-facialrecognition-automated-decisions-and-medicalconfidentiality-introduced.

US Senator Cory Booker of New Jersey, "Booker, Wyden, Clarke Introduce Bill Requiring Companies to Target Bias in Corporate Algorithms," Cory Booker website, April 10, 2019, https://www. booker.senate.gov/news/press/booker-wyden-clarkeintroduce-bill-requiring-companies-to-target-bias-incorporate-algorithms.

US Representative Pramila Jayapal, "Jayapal, Colleagues Introduce Bipartisan, Bicameral Bill to Reform NSA Surveillance & Protect Americans' Civil Rights," Pramila Jayapal website, February 11, 2020, https://jayapal.house.gov/2020/02/11/jayapalcolleagues-introduce-bipartisan-bicameral-bill-toreform-nsa-surveillance-protect-americans-civilrights/. 294 Pramila Jayapal, "H.R.7356 - 116th Congress (2019–2020): Facial Recognition and Biometric Technology Moratorium Act of 2020," Congress. gov (2020), https://www.congress.gov/bill/116thcongress/house-bill/7356.

295 "Testimony of Nicol Turner Lee Fellow, Center for Technology Innovation," Brookings Institution, March 6, 2019, https://www.brookings. edu/wp-content/uploads/2019/03/Testimony_ Turner-Lee_Brookings_March6.2019_pdf.pdf.

296 Adi Robertson and Russell Brandom, "Congress releases blockbuster tech antitrust report," *The Verge*, October 6, 2020, https://www. theverge.com/2020/10/6/21504814/congressantitrust-report-house-judiciary-committee-applegoogle-amazon-facebook.

297 Investigation of Competition in Digital Markets, (House Judiciary Committee, October 2020), 392, https://judiciary.house.gov/uploadedfiles/ competition_in_digital_markets.pdf?utm_ campaign=4493-519.

298 Amba Kak, ed., "Regulating Biometrics: Global Approaches and Urgent Questions," Al Now Institute, September 1, 2020, https://ainowinstitute. org/regulatingbiometrics.html.

299 Ben Wolford, "What is GDPR, the EU's New Data Protection Law," General Data Protection Regulation website, accessed December 15, 2020, https://gdpr.eu/what-is-gdpr/.

300 Benjamin, Race After Technology.

301 Katyal, "Private Accountability in the Age of Artificial Intelligence," 115–117.

302 Benjamin, Race After Technology, 188.

303 Coded Bias Impact Campaign, "Universal Declaration of Data Rights as Human Rights," Coded Bias, accessed December 1, 2020, https://www. codedbias.com/sign.

304Achiume, "Racial Discrimination andEmerging Digital Technologies."

305 Laura Moy and Yael Cannon, "How to build more equitable vaccine distribution technology," Brookings Institution, February 23, 2021, https:// www.brookings.edu/techstream/how-to-buildmore-equitable-vaccine-distribution-technology/.

306 Alí Bustamante, "Building States' Labor Infrastructure," Southern Economic Advancement Project, March 2021, 4, https://theseap.org/ wp-content/uploads/Building-States-Labor-Infrastructure.docx.pdf.

Bianca Wylie, "Digital Rights, Government
IT, and Public Service Ethics," *Medium*, April 9,
2021, https://biancawylie.medium.com/digitalrights-government-it-and-public-service-ethics78b7e97bf127.

308 Ethan Zuckerman, "What Is Digital Public Infrastructure?" Center for Journalism and Liberty, November 17, 2020, https://www.journalismliberty. org/publications/what-is-digital-public-infrastructure.

309 Eli Pariser and Danielle Allen, "To Thrive, Our Democracy Needs Digital Public Infrastructure," *Politico*, January 5, 2021, https://www.politico.com/ news/agenda/2021/01/05/to-thrive-our-democracyneeds-digital-public-infrastructure-455061.

310 Jason Cohen, "World's Most Valuable Tech Companies Are Richer Than Most Countries," *PC Mag*, April 2, 2021, https://www.pcmag.com/news/ worlds-most-valuable-tech-companies-are-richerthan-most-countries.

311 Benjamin, Race After Technology.

312 Allana Akhtar, "A Movement Is Underway to End Cash Bail in America. This App Found an Ingenious Way to Help," *Money*, January 23, 2019, https://money.com/a-movement-is-underwayto-end-cash-bail-in-america-this-app-found-aningenious-way-to-help/.

313 See "About Remitly" at https://www.remitly. com/us/en/home/about, accessed May 15, 2021.

314Astraea Lesbian Foundation for Justice,"Technologies for Liberation," 25-29.

315Astraea Lesbian Foundation for Justice,"Technologies for Liberation," 63.

Joe Mathews, "The Internet Needs Its Own Democratic Government," *Zocalo Public Square*, May 11, 2021, https://www.zocalopublicsquare. org/2021/05/11/cratic-government-for-internet/ideas/ democracy-column/. 317 Matt Prewitt, "A View of the Future of Our Data," *Noema*, February 23, 2021, https://www. noemamag.com/a-view-of-the-future-of-our-data/.

318 Demos and Data for Black Lives define "data capitalism" as an economic model built on the extraction and commodification of data and the use of big data and algorithms as tools to concentrate and consolidate power in ways that dramatically increase inequality along lines of race, class, gender, and disability.

319 Yeshimabeit Milner and Amy Traub, "Data Capitalism and Algorithmic Racism," Data for Black Lives and Demos, May 17, 2021, https:// datacapitalism.d4bl.org/documents/Demos_Data_ Capitalism_Final.pdf.

320 Sam Lavigne, Francis Tseng, and Brian Clifton, "White Collar Crime Risk Zones," *The New Inquiry*, April 26, 2017, https://thenewinquiry.com/ white-collar-crime-risk-zones/.

321 "Landlord Tech Watch," *Anti-Eviction Mapping Project*, accessed May 11, 2021, https:// antievictionmappingproject.github.io/landlordtech/.

James Auger, "Speculative design: crafting the speculation," *Digital Creativity*, no. 1 (2013), https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/ abs/10.1080/14626268.2013.767276.

Helen Santoro, "Doctors and Nurses Take to TikTok to Fight Covid Myths," *Wired*, September 6, 2020, accessed January 10, 2021, https://www.wired. com/story/doctors-nurses-tiktok-fight-covid-myths/.

324 Santoro, "Doctors and Nurses Take to TikTok."

325 Santoro.

326 Shaira Chaer, Hermelinda Cortés, Liz Hynes, and Ivie Osaghae, "The Rona Report: One Year On," *ReFrame*, May 1, 2021, https://thisissignals.com/ronareport2.

327 "The Rona Report: One Year On," Network Insights, accessed May 15, 2021, https://thisissignals. com/rona-report2#network.

328 Kevin Roose, Mike Isaac, and Sheera Frenkel, "Facebook Struggles to Balance Civility and Growth," *The New York Times*, November 24, 2020, https://www.nytimes.com/2020/11/24/technology/ facebook-election-misinformation.html.

329 "Knowing the News: Media Literacy Project," *PEN America*, accessed May 15, 2021, https://pen. org/knowing-the-news-media-literacy-project/.

330 "Media Literacy Toolkit," *PEN America*, December 21, 2020, https://pen.org/media-literacytoolkit/.

331 Jen Soriano, Hermelinda Cortés, and Joseph Phelan, "Defanging Disinformation: 6 Action Steps Nonprofits Can Take," *Nonprofit Quarterly*, January 26, 2021, https://nonprofitquarterly. org/defanging-disinformation-6-action-stepsnonprofits-can-take/.

332 Kristen Rogers. "People of color create their own mental health services online," *CNN*, October 10, 2020, accessed November 24, 2020, https://www. cnn.com/interactive/2020/10/health/people-ofcolor-mental-health-apps-wellness/.

333 "Asian Mental Health Project," Instagram page, accessed January 18, 2021, https://www. instagram.com/asianmentalhealthproject/.

334 Rogers, "People of Color Create."

335 See National Queer and Trans Therapists of Color Network at https://nqttcn.com/en/, accessed on May 15, 2021.

336 "Five Minutes with Hamid Ekbia and Bonnie Nardi," *MIT Press* (blog), August 2017, https:// mitpress.mit.edu/blog/five-minutes-hamid-ekbiaand-bonnie-nardi.

337 Mary L. Gray and Siddharth Suri, "The Humans Working Behind the Al Curtain," *Harvard Business Review*, January 9, 2017, https://hbr. org/2017/01/the-humans-working-behind-the-aicurtain.

338 "Worker Power in the Tech Industry," Tech Workers Coalition, accessed May 15, 2021, https:// techworkerscoalition.org/.

339 "Gig Workers Collective," Gig Workers Collective home page, accessed May 15, 2021, https://www.gigworkerscollective.org/.

340 https://athenaforall.org/. Accessed May 15,2021.

Wolmet Barendregt et al., "Defund Big Tech,
Refund Community," *Tech Otherwise*, February
5, 2021, https://techotherwise.pubpub.org/pub/
dakccilr/release/3#iii-refunding-community.

342 Rediet Abebe and Maximilian Kasy, "The Means of Prediction," Boston Review, May 18, 2021, https://bostonreview.net/forum/redesigning-ai/ rediet-abebe-maximilian-kasy-means-prediction.